Polygenic risk predictions: health revolution or going round in circles?



Polygenic risk predictions: health revolution or going round in circles?

A report by GeneWatch UK

September 2023



GeneWatch UK 53, Milton Road, Cambridge, CB4 1XA, UK Phone: +44 (0)330 0010507 Email: mail@genewatch.org Website: www.genewatch.org Registered in England and Wales Company Number 03556885

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction1
2 .	Genetic disorders, common disorders, and the role of PRSs1
3. clai	Genetic 'prediction and prevention' of disease: a history of misleading ims4
4. hea	Can lifestyle advice tailored to genetic test results improve population htth?
5.	Should PRSs be used to decide who takes extra tests or medicines?6
5	.1 PRSs as stand-alone tests8
5	.2 Using PRSs to target individuals in the high-risk group
5	.3 Are the high-risk categories reliable for individuals?13
5	.4 What do PRSs mean for families?15
5	.5 Use of PRSs with other risk factors in Integrated Risk Scores (IRS)16
5	.6 PRSs combined with cancer screening21
6. dis	How important are genetic differences in determining the risk of common eases?
7.	Can we trust the algorithms?
7	.1 Problems with applying PRSs in different populations
7	.2 Conceptual issues: do PRS algorithms make the right assumptions?32
8.	Race, eugenics, societal impacts and global implications
9 .	Commercial interests, power and control43
10.	Lack of regulation
11.	Privacy, surveillance, commercial interests and the state
12.	Conclusions
Refe	erences

1. Introduction

Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) are a new way of calculating people's genetic risks of common diseases, such as heart disease, cancers and diabetes. PRSs are based on statistical calculations made by computer algorithms from millions of small differences in people's DNA, each of which is associated with only a tiny (sometimes negligible) difference in risk. The idea is that these calculations will identify people who are at 'high genetic risk' of common diseases, so that these people can be treated before they become ill: for example, by taking medicines to reduce the risk of disease.

There are significant commercial interests driving the idea that everyone should have their genetic information stored for life. Some companies (mainly in the USA) are already selling PRSs online, and there are plans to use them in health services. In the UK, there are plans to provide PRSs to people taking part in a major new project called 'Our Future Health'. Volunteers will be recruited via the National Health Service (NHS) but the storage and analysis of data will be undertaken by commercial companies. In the USA, the eMERGE (electronic MEdical Records and GEnomics) network also plans to return PRSs to participants. Studies in other countries are also investigating this approach, but most have yet to take final decisions on whether PRSs will be fed back to individuals.

This report asks whether PRSs will be good for health and considers their implications for society.

Currently, most people do not have genetic testing, unless it is directly useful to their health, and, even then, usually only small parts of a person's DNA are tested. In contrast, calculating PRSs requires large databases of people's personal information and their DNA, which raise significant concerns about privacy, surveillance and the potential for discrimination. Every individual and their relatives can be tracked through their DNA, which acts like a 'genetic fingerprint' and can reveal personal information, such as non-paternity in families. Plans to feedback PRSs to individuals will inevitably lead to access to such information by governments, police and private companies. This report asks, is this level of intrusion, and the associated costs, justified by the claimed benefits to health?

2. Genetic disorders, common disorders, and the role of PRSs

Genetic disorders, such as cystic fibrosis and sickle cell disease, which are caused by specific mutations (small changes) in a person's DNA, are relatively rare and often cause symptoms in childhood. Having a genetic test can help to diagnose such illnesses, usually in people (often babies) who are already sick. However, most diseases, including the 'big killers', such as cancers and heart disease, are much more complex and involve numerous environmental and biological factors, as well as chance.

Many of these complex conditions can be divided into rare 'familial' and common 'sporadic' forms. For example, rare mutations in the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes can cause largely inherited forms of breast or ovarian cancer. These mutations do not mean a person necessarily develops breast or ovarian cancer, but they do mean that they are at much higher risk, to the extent that some women choose to have surgery to remove their breasts and/or ovaries before cancer develops. However, familial breast cancer accounts for only about 1.8 to 2.6% of all breast cancer cases and these mutations are only detected in 25% of families with a strong history of breast cancer.^{1,2} Not everyone with mutations in these

genes will develop cancer (one study estimates that about 38% of women with these mutations do³), although the risk conferred by having these mutations is higher in women from families with multiple breast cancer cases (up to an 87% of developing breast cancer by the age of 70).^{4,5} There are difficulties in interpreting the risk conferred by having (or not having) genetic mutations in the general population, because a given mutation generally carries a lower risk in the general population than in high-risk families with known cases of disease, and the significance of some mutations is unknown.⁶ Thus, this type of genetic test is normally only offered to high-risk families (based on family history) in health services, rather than being used as screening tests for whole populations. There are many other examples of 'familial' diseases, such as familial hypercholesterolaemia (an inherited form of high cholesterol levels), where relatively rare mutations in particular genes confer a high risk. but do not explain high cholesterol levels in most people. For Alzheimer's Disease, there is an early onset form in which about 5% of cases carry a rare mutation in one of three known genes.⁷ Whilst some researchers advocate screening the whole population for some of these mutations in the future, in order to identify the 1% to 2% of the population expected to be identified as at risk, there are many barriers to doing so in practice.⁸ These 'familial' conditions (also known as 'monogenic', since they often involve a mutation in a single gene) are not discussed further in this report, as identifying them requires different technology and methods from those used in polygenic risk scores (PRSs). In particular, the DNA chips used to measure the genetic differences called SNPs which are used in PRSs, do not identify these rare mutations well.⁹ Nevertheless, some research projects (such as the eMERGE network in the USA, discussed in Section 9) may combine PRSs with additional tests for some of these rare mutations.

Much research that takes place today has moved beyond these 'familial' conditions and involves studying to role of genes in the more common so-called 'sporadic' (non-familial) forms of cancer or other common diseases, known as 'complex' diseases. For these diseases there are some common genetic variants which can increase a person's risk. One of the strongest effects is the effect of the APOE gene on Alzheimer's Disease (first discovered in 1993). There are three different common versions of this genetic variant (as well as some rare ones), and the variants which lead to a lower level of the associated protein apolipoprotein E (apoE) in a person's blood increase their risk of Alzheimer's.¹⁰ Each person has two copies (known as alleles) at a given location in their genome, so people with two copies of the highest risk genetic variant (known as the e4/e4 genotype) are at the highest risk (estimated as a 30% to 55% lifetime risk of developing Alzheimer's).¹¹ Testing the APOE gene is not recommended because it does not provide sufficient sensitivity or specificity to allow genotyping to be used as a diagnostic test - meaning that many people with the high-risk variants do not develop Alzheimer's and many without the high risk variants still develop the disease.¹² Other common variants exist which alter the risk of other common diseases, however, the effect of the APOE gene on the risk of Alzheimer's Disease is much greater than generally observed for common genetic variants in common diseases, and most common variants have tiny effects.^{13,14} Alongside evidence that many common diseases have an inherited component (see Sections 6 and 7), this led many researchers to believe that most of the effect of genes on the risk of common diseases is hidden in the combined effect of many rarer genetic variants.

Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) are developed using the results of research known as Genome Wide Association Studies (GWAS). These studies seek to identify variations in people's genomes that are statistically associated with a risk for a disease or a particular trait (such as a person's height or eye colour). They use large databases, such as UK Biobank, which contains data from half a million people, including their DNA and information about the diseases they develop (taken from medical records). The genetic differences (called 'polymorphisms') that are studied are called Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs, pronounced 'snips'). To be classified as a SNP, a genetic variant must be found in at least 1% of the population. Some more recent studies instead refer to single nucleotide variants (SNVs), which can include genetic variants that are rarer than SNPs. SNPs and SNVs are places in a person's DNA (their 'genome') which differ from other people's DNA by a single chemical letter (known as a 'nucleotide'). Polymorphisms are more common than rare genetic mutations which sometimes cause genetic disorders. They are genetic variations which are thought to usually increase or decrease a person's risk of disease very slightly, perhaps by changing the expression of a gene (how much of a particular protein is produced) rather than stopping the gene from functioning. The SNPs that are identified using GWAS as being statistically associated with an increased risk of disease don't generally play a causal role in a disease: they are thought to tag genetic variations that do play a causal role and which have been inherited together with the identified 'tag SNP' (see Section 7). To create a PRS, small effects on risk in multiple rare genetic variants are combined using computer algorithms. The tiny effects on risk associated with millions of SNPs may now be included in a single PRS. It is important to be aware that different companies and different research groups may use different algorithms and get different results (see also Section 5).¹⁵

In general, PRSs seek to calculate the genetic risks of 'big killer' diseases in Western countries. Examples of such common, chronic diseases include heart disease, diabetes, Alzheimer's, psychiatric diseases, cancers and autoimmune disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis. The risk of developing these diseases depends on multiple factors, such as a person's environment, lifestyle and biology, including their DNA, plus an element of chance.

PRSs that are on the market today, or that are being considered for use in health services, measure parts of a person's genome using DNA chips (also called SNP chips or microarrays). These use probes to identify particular chemical letters (C, G, A or T) that make up the so called 'genetic code' at particular places in the genome. Newer technology, called Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS) measures all the chemical letters (all of a person's DNA, or their whole genome), but is still too expensive for widespread use. DNA chips typically include millions of SNPs and data from these SNPs are combined into risk scores using computer algorithms. Many of the algorithms used to calculate PRS also use what is known about the human genome from existing WGS studies to estimate some of the chemical letters that are not measured directly (this is known as 'imputation'). Earlier versions of the algorithms used tens or hundreds of SNPs and were often known as Genetic Risk Scores (GRSs), rather than Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs), although the terms PRS and GRS are used in different ways by different people. The term Polygenic Score (PGS) is also sometimes used. Although there is no clear distinction between the definition of a GRS and a PRS, the former usually require fairly strong evidence that a SNP plays a role in a disease, whereas the latter typically include millions of SNPs which have close to zero effect on the risk of the disease, and which do not meet the traditional idea of what is a statistically significant effect (the usual way of trying distinguish between an effect that is real or is just due to chance).¹⁶ Questions about the reliability of PRSs are an important part of this report.

The individuals and companies promoting PRSs believe that one day everybody should take these tests, meaning that everybody's DNA would be stored in vast connected databases. This is a big step beyond the kinds of genetic testing that are used today, as many more people would be tested (the aim is to test whole populations, most of whom are healthy, to predict disease, rather than to diagnose relatively rare diseases in much smaller numbers of people) and much more data would be stored (sufficient to identify every individual and their relatives via their 'genetic fingerprint').

3. Genetic 'prediction and prevention' of disease: a history of misleading claims

"...we can now see a future where the doctor will swab a few cells from inside your cheek, put them into a DNA-sequencing machine and a computer will spit out a complete reading of your unique genetic makeup - all 30,000 or so genes that make you who you are. From that, doctors could pinpoint flawed genes and gene products and predict what diseases you are likely to develop years in advance of any symptoms - and how to help you avoid them."¹⁷ UK Prime Minister Tony Blair, 2002.

The idea that calculating genetic risks for everyone could be good for health dates back to the Human Genome Project (HGP), which ran from 1990 to 2003. Linked with the need to obtain funding for this and subsequent projects, leading scientists made many unsubstantiated promises to politicians about the 'prediction and prevention' of common diseases.¹⁸ False claims by tobacco industry-funded scientists that genetic screening would identify the one in ten smokers likely to develop lung cancer, supposedly allowing the remainder of the population to smoke with impunity, were endorsed by leading scientists in the run up to the HGP, as they battled to convince the Thatcher and Reagan governments that the research would have industrial applicability.¹⁹ In the US, a leading advocate of this approach was Dr Francis Collins (then the Director of the Human Genome Project in the USA, subsequently the Director of the National Institutes of Health, and Science Advisor to the US President).²⁰ In the UK. Oxford University's Professor Sir John Bell, who now holds an influential position as the UK Government's 'Life Sciences Champion', has been an enthusiast for identifying genetic susceptibility to common diseases since the 1990s.²¹ The idea of genetic 'prediction and prevention' of common diseases led to several controversial failed attempts by the UK Government to allow medical data collected from individuals to be shared without their knowledge or consent, and, in 2003, the Blair Government proposed sequencing the DNA of every baby at birth, arguing that the babies' genetic information "could then be used throughout their lifetime to tailor prevention and treatment regimes to their needs as further knowledge becomes available about how our genes affect our risk of disease and our response to medicines".^{22,23}

Many scientists argued at the time that the claims made about the medical value of tests for 'genetic susceptibility' to common diseases had been over-sold by the enthusiasts for this approach.^{24,25,26,27,28,29,30,31,32,33,34,35} A major concern was that the idea of 'personalised prediction' undermines the idea of public health, where efforts to improve environments, lifestyles and socio-economic circumstances should not depend on people's genes.³⁶ Despite much misleading hype, by 2008, none of the 'genetic susceptibility' tests that had been developed were of sufficient predictive value to be used, although many misleading tests were sold by private companies.³⁷

These older tests tried to combine the risk of a relatively small number (at most tens) of genetic variants. New technologies (DNA chips and whole genome sequencing) and faster computers mean that it is now possible to attempt to calculate a person's genetic risk of common diseases using complicated computer algorithms which combine the effect of hundreds, thousands, or even millions of genetic differences, known as SNPs, to create a Polygenic Risk Score (PRS). However, many scientists and medical professionals remain sceptical about the value and reliability of these risk predictions and their usefulness for health.³⁸ The reasons for this scepticism are explored further below.

In the discussion below, we first assume that the new calculations of genetic risk included in Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) are correct, and ask whether these predictions would be good for health. Then we consider potential problems with the computer algorithms used to calculate the scores, and ask whether they can be trusted by the individuals taking them.

4. Can lifestyle advice tailored to genetic test results improve population health?

"The development and use of polygenic scores is attracting money and attention, but, for most common diseases, unglamorous but well established risk factors like smoking, obesity, and socioeconomic deprivation matter more than a person's genetic background. Childhood postcode, for example, is probably as good a predictor of risk for most common diseases as most polygenic scores". Medical researchers writing in the British Medical Journal, 2023.³⁹

Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) aim to identify a small proportion of the population (for example, the top 5%, or 10%) who are at highest genetic risk of a disease. In a highly individualised approach, instead of taking steps to improve the health of the whole population, only people at 'high genetic risk' are encouraged to take steps to improve their lifestyles. For example, the CEO of the US gene testing company 23andMe, Anne Wojcicki, has stated, "When customers learn about their genetic likelihood of developing Type 2 diabetes, we believe there is an opportunity to motivate them to change their lifestyle and ultimately to help them prevent the disease."⁴⁰

This is a poor approach to improving the health of populations, because it is not the case that common diseases only occur in people at high genetic risk. For a given common disease, most cases will <u>not</u> occur in the high-risk group, however it is defined, but in the majority of people at close to average risk. Thus, it is impossible to make a major impact on prevention without using public health measures that help the whole population, not just those in the high-risk group.⁴¹ This is particularly the case for diet-related diseases and conditions, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes and high blood pressure, which have major impacts on health in the general population in the US and the UK, and many other countries. Targeting lifestyle advice at a small group of people does not make sense because most people (not just 5% or 10%) need to improve their diets in these countries. For example, a heart-healthy Chinese diet could make a major difference to the more than one-fifth of the world's population that consumes Chinese cuisines regularly.⁴²

Thus, the idea of genetic 'prediction and prevention' acts as a major distraction from population policies that might make a difference, such as helping people to quit smoking, reducing sugar and salt in processed foods, or tackling poverty, air pollution, or access to green spaces. This helps to explain why, historically, the genetic approach to prevention of common diseases, such as lung cancer, heart disease, hypertension and type 2 diabetes, has been supported by companies selling cigarettes and unhealthy, processed foods.^{43,44} These companies and the scientists that worked for them exaggerated the predictive power of genetic tests to imply that <u>only</u> people who were genetically susceptible would develop lung cancer or diet-related diseases if they smoked or ate foods high in salt or sugar, so the rest of the population could continue smoking or eating unhealthy processed foods. This isn't true, so this approach to disease prevention does not make any sense.

A specific example shows that in the case of type 2 diabetes, knowledge about genetic susceptibility has no implications for decisions about who should be targeted for intensive lifestyle interventions.⁴⁵ The risk due to obesity is much more important and therefore universal approaches to reduce excess weight are needed, regardless of the genes a person has.

Even if PRSs identified high risk groups correctly, and targeting behavioural changes at such groups was a good idea, there is little evidence that genetic test results help to sustain positive behavioural change.^{46,47} Causal beliefs about genetics can influence people's responses to genetic information, and many studies suggest that people perceive conditions as less controllable when portrayed as caused by genetics as opposed to lifestyle or

environment.⁴⁸ This could potentially lead to someone becoming more fatalistic and less motivated to make lifestyle changes. A more recent study, discussing the hypothetical return of PRSs to a group of patients in primary care, found that many had a lack of trust in the results, unless corroborated by additional information, and that PRSs by themselves would be regarded by these patients as insufficient to trigger preventive interventions.⁴⁹

More broadly, individualised approaches to disease prevention fail to take account of the escalating rates of avoidable ill health, planetary damage, and social and health inequity now referred to as the commercial determinants of health. One recent analysis notes that just four industry sectors (i.e., tobacco, ultra-processed food, fossil fuel, and alcohol) already account for at least a third of global deaths, and that the power of some commercial interests makes it harder to pass policies that would protect human and planetary health.⁵⁰

In addition, poorer people are generally at higher risk of most common diseases, and measures to tackle health inequalities and poverty in childhood are therefore key to achieving better public health.^{51,52,53,54} Social determinants of health affect mental as well as physical health.⁵⁵ Major factors that contribute to the risk of common diseases include environmental factors, as well as socio-economic factors. For example, almost the entire global population (99%) reportedly breathes air containing pollutants that exceed World Health Organisation (WHO) air quality limits.^{56,57,58,59} Climate change also threatens health, in some countries more than others.⁶⁰ The importance of identifying social and environmental risk factors is that (unlike a person's genome) they can be modified, thus reducing cases of disease.⁶¹

In summary, the idea of using PRSs to target lifestyle advice is a distraction from tackling environmental and socio-economic causes of disease. There is a risk that they do not empower people (as claimed by the companies involved), but disempower them, by making them believe the most important risk is in their genes.

5. Should PRSs be used to decide who takes extra tests or medicines?

"Contrary to what many people might expect given usual deterministic discourses around genomics, a high polygenic score will generally have a rather underwhelming impact on absolute risk and both clinicians and the public need to know this." Medical researchers writing in the British Medical Journal, 2023.⁶²

Although it makes no sense to target lifestyle advice to small high-risk groups, it could be argued that it does make sense to target medication or further testing at such groups. This is because there are downsides to taking medicines and unnecessary tests, so they cannot be rolled out to the whole population without causing harm. However, it can also be argued that PRSs are, in themselves, also unnecessary tests, which can cause harm to people taking them. Part of this debate relates to the predictive value of PRSs and whether they can improve health outcomes, as discussed below.

There are still major disagreements about how good PRSs are at identifying high risk groups, and whether they are really useful. A key question is whether the idea of targeting medication at a small group of people at the highest genetic risk (e.g., the top 3% or 5%) is really good for health. Doubts about this strategy relate to the poor predictive value of PRSs, and the large uncertainty in the predictions made for individuals. Box A describes some of the ways in which the predictive value of a PRS can be measured. Clearly, if a test has poor predictive value, it is unlikely to be useful. However, it should be noted that a high predictive value is not necessarily sufficient to justify the use of a PRS, or any other medical test, in

healthcare: its clinical utility (i.e., whether using the test to make decisions actually improves health outcomes) and cost-effectiveness also need to be assessed.

In general, causal risk factors are poor predictors of disease, because while many people are exposed to them only a few people develop the disease.⁶³ This is the case even for important causal factors such as smoking. For example, the lifetime risk of lung cancer in smokers is only about 1 in 10 (meaning most smokers do not develop it), but if everyone stopped smoking, more than 85% of cases of lung cancer could potentially be avoided.⁶⁴ In contrast to smoking, and other social and environmental factors, a person's genetic make-up can't be changed. Thus, measuring genetic factors is inherently less useful to an individual, unless a medical purpose can be demonstrated.

Box A: Measuring the predictive value of PRSs

There are a number of ways of assessing how well a medical test works. How good a test needs to be will depend on the context in which it is used. For example, it might be important to identify everyone with a given disease, but inadvertently include some people who don't have it; or, it might be better to be highly certain that the people identified have the disease, at the risk of missing some cases.

The performance of predictive tests, such as a PRS for a particular disease, can be measured in several ways, which each have their pros and cons.^{65,66}

A predictive test's sensitivity is its ability to correctly identify those who will get the disease and its specificity is its ability to correctly identify those who won't get the disease. There is usually a trade-off between a test's specificity and its sensitivity: a test which is highly specific (so it only identifies people who will develop the disease) is often not very sensitive (it misses many potential cases of disease, giving these people 'false negative' results), and vice versa, a test which is highly sensitive (so it picks up all potential cases of disease) is not very specific (identifying many people who would never develop the disease, so-called 'false positives').

The most common measure of test performance is known as the Area Under the Curve (the AUC). This is worked out by drawing a graph of the sensitivity against 1 minus the specificity (i.e. the false-positive rate) of the test: this graph is known as a receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curve. How well the test works (which depends on both its sensitivity and its specificity) can then be measured by calculating the area under the curve (AUC) of the ROC curve. The AUC is the probability that a randomly selected affected individual will have a higher screening test value than a randomly selected unaffected individual. If a predictive test was perfect in predicting who would get a disease and who would not, the AUC would be 1; if it was no better than guessing who would get the disease, it would have an AUC of 0.5 (in this case, the test is useless). In reality, the AUC is somewhere between these values, with a higher value meaning a better predictive value. For example, in one study a simple risk prediction model for cardiovascular disease (based on information such as age, blood pressure, body mass index, whether a person is being treated for diabetes or hypertension, and their smoking history), with no genetic information or laboratory measurements, has an AUC of 0.749 for men and 0.785 for women, and this can be improved to 0.763 for men and 0.793 for women by adding information about cholesterol levels.⁶⁷ There are limitations to the use of the AUC because only the ROC curve itself shows the full relationship between the sensitivity (or detection rate) of the test and its falsepositive rate (or 1 minus the specificity). The same AUC can therefore reflect different screening performances and a better alternative would be to report the detection rate of the test for given false-positive rates, or false-positive rates for given detection rates.⁶⁸

The C-statistic (or C-index) is another measure of performance, which is the same as the AUC for a binary outcome (getting a disease or not, for example). However, if instead the time to getting a disease (or survival time) is important, different AUC's must be plotted for different times, and the C-statistic is not the same as the AUC. As for the AUC, the higher the C-statistic, the better the model can discriminate between subjects who experience the outcome of interest and subjects who do not.

The Net Reclassification Index (NRI, also known as the 'Net reclassification Improvement') is a different measure, which is commonly used to look at the slightly different question of whether adding new information changes whether a given individual is thought to be at high risk of a disease. For example, if people are already classified as high and low risk of cardiovascular disease based on a prediction of risk (using information such as age, body mass index, smoking status, cholesterol levels and blood pressure), the NRI is a measure of the proportion of people whose risk is reclassified when new information (such as a PRS) is added (to create what is known as an Integrated Risk Score, IRS, or Integrated Risk Tool, IRT). NRI values above 0.6 are considered strong, around 0.4 are intermediate, and below 0.2 are considered weak.⁶⁹ The NRI is intended to measure whether people are correctly reclassified by the new model. However, some researchers argue that the NRI can be artificially inflated and hence misleading when multiple markers that are not predictive are included in a risk prediction model.⁷⁰ These researchers suggest that the NRI statistic calculated on a large test dataset using risk models derived from a training set is likely to be positive even when the new marker has no predictive information, and that an incorrect risk function that includes an uninformative marker can erroneously yield a positive NRI. A recent review has concluded that NRI statistics are unhelpful (at best) and misleading (at worst), with problems that include unacceptable statistical behaviour, incorrect statistical inferences, and that they lack any clear interpretation.⁷¹

The NRI is intended to measure the marginal strength of the new predictor but the ROC (usually summarised in a limited way, by the AUC, as described above) is intended to measure the overall predictive value of the model including all risk predictors. Although it is often thought that combining risk factors can substantially improve screening performance, this is not usually the case.⁷² The increase in screening performance when new risk factors are added is usually more modest than expected, especially if the detection rate of each risk factor, for a given false-positive rate, is low. An online tool is available to aid in assessing whether a risk factor might be a worthwhile screening test.⁷³

The positive predictive value (PPV) is the ratio of patients truly diagnosed as positive to all those who had positive test results. For a predictive test, it is the proportion of people predicted to get the disease who actually go on to develop it.

Many recent studies claim that PRSs now have sufficient predictive value to be considered for use in health services. However, these claims have often been exaggerated. An assessment of the use of performance measures, such as the AUC and NRI, used to evaluate PRSs, criticises researchers' understanding of these measures, and finds that even small insignificant changes in the AUC are often interpreted as indicating improvement when the NRI is statistically significant.⁷⁴ This study assessed 32 studies, most of which evaluated cardiovascular and cancer prediction. The researchers conclude that small improvements in the predictive ability of PRSs are being overinterpreted, and this is not likely to improve health outcomes. The claims made for PRSs are discussed in more detail below.

5.1 PRSs as stand-alone tests

A 2019 review of 3,700 GWAS concluded that most SNP-derived genetic risk predictions are not as good as existing clinically based disease risk predictors.⁷⁵ It found that the average

GWAS produces a multi-SNP risk predictor with an AUC of 0.55, which is not much better than random guessing. In a more recent example, a polygenic risk score for type 2 diabetes was estimated to have an AUC of 0.659 in people categorised as being of European ancestry, with lower values in other populations (down to 0.568 in populations categorised as African).⁷⁶ A subsequent PRS has a similar AUC of 0.66 in a population classed as European and 0.58 in the population classed as African.⁷⁷ In contrast, clinical risk predictors in use in medicine tend to have AUCs of more than 0.7 or 0.8. Higher AUCs have been reported for some PRSs, but only when the score has been adjusted for age and sex, a practice which means the AUC is actually being reported for a combined risk score (including the PRS plus age and sex). Because age and sex often predict the risk of a disease quite well, this means that the reported AUC does not measure the predictive value of the PRS. For example, an AUC as high as 0.81 was reported for Coronary Artery Disease in one study, when the most plausible estimate was that the true AUC based on SNPs alone was only 0.65.78,79 In a study by the Australian company Genetic Technologies, AUCs were much lower for PRSs alone than for PRSs plus sex and age: for coronary artery disease the AUC for the PRS alone was 0.587 (compared to 0.706 when age and sex were added), for hypertension 0.566 (compared to 0.677), atrial fibrillation 0.613 (compared to 0.738), stroke 0.512 (compared to 0.668), and type 2 diabetes 0.595 (compared to 0.638).⁸⁰ In this study, increasing the number of SNPs did not significantly improve performance (for example, for atrial fibrillation, the PRS using 265 SNPs had an AUC of 0.599, whereas the PRS using 216,837 SNPs had an AUC of 0.613). A database of PRSs is now available, where the AUCs from some studies are available (although the website warns that these have not been checked independently).⁸¹

In another example, a study published in 2020 found that a PRS for coronary heart disease (CHD) did not significantly improve the discriminative accuracy (measured by the AUC, or C-statistic), or Net Reclassification Index (NRI, see Box A), compared to existing risk predictors.⁸² This study used the best-performing PRS available (based on more than 6.6 million SNPs).⁸³ It concludes that this PRS "*offered little to no improvement in CHD risk stratification*" in the population studied, as the score minimally changed risk discrimination and reclassified fewer than 10% of individuals to a higher or lower CHD risk category. Studies which combine PRSs with other risk factors are considered in more detail in the discussion on Integrated Risk Scores (IRSs), below.

For cancers, not only are the AUCs for current PRSs are too low to be useful in disease prediction (ranging from 0.53 to 0.67), the theoretical best scores if all the relevant SNPs were to be discovered is predicted to continue to be low (0.64 to 0.73).⁸⁴ For schizophrenia, a PRS developed and tested in a Danish sample had an AUC of only 0.62, which does not support its use as a predictive test.⁸⁵ This PRS also failed to identify the subset of patients with treatment-resistant schizophrenia.⁸⁶ A more recent study reports an AUC of 0.74, but the authors conclude that this is insufficient for predicting schizophrenia in the general population.⁸⁷ In another example, a recent study of dementia found that the predictive value of a Genetic Risk Score (GRS), developed from genetic variants with genome-wide significance, depended largely on the population in which the GRS was tested, with the Cindex for developing Alzheimer's Disease over the next 5 years varying widely between 0.587 and 0.952, adjusting for age, sex, principal components and APOE alleles.⁸⁸ This suggests that the predictive performance (which is in any case inflated by the inclusion of age, sex and other information in the score) is not reliable. Further, the increase in C-index due to adding the GRS to the other risk factors is very small (0.002 on average for the 5vear predictions). For comparison, a dementia risk score developed in UK Biobank without using any genetic information reportedly achieved a C index (AUC) of 0.86 for men and 0.85 for women to predict the individual 5-, 9-, and 13-year dementia risk.⁸⁹ Socioeconomic adversity (unemployment and low educational level) and comorbidities (respiratory, cerebrovascular and cardiovascular disease, diabetes and hypertension) were the most

important modifiable risk factors in this study. However, subsequent studies suggest that such risk scores are of limited value in targeting people for dementia prevention.⁹⁰

Genetic tests to predict drug response (efficacy, dose or adverse drug reactions), known as 'pharmacogenetic' or 'pharmacogenomic' tests, are not the main topic of this report. However, it is worth noting here that PRSs for drug response also perform poorly and are often inconsistent.⁹¹

5.2 Using PRSs to target individuals in the high-risk group

"...when polygenic risk scores were applied to five isolated diagnoses, 20% of the population was found to be at "high risk" for at least one of them. If such algorithms are applied to many diagnoses, everybody is likely to be labelled at high risk of something". Researchers in Norway and Denmark, 2023.⁹²

In response to the evidence that PRSs have poor predictive values as measured by AUCs, the advocates of using PRSs have tried to improve their predictive value by including more SNPs. In addition, they have also made a number of arguments that the AUC is not the right measure of how useful the PRSs really are. This generally means arguing: (i) that PRS should not be used as stand-alone tests, but combined with other risk factors into Integrated Risk Scores (IRS), and/or used to categorise people into groups prior to using other screening tests; and (ii) that they are mainly useful for identifying the small proportion of the population at highest risk, so that medicines and lifestyle changes can be targeted at them. Thus, they argue that the success of the predictions should be measured by the Net Reclassification Index (NRI), despite some serious criticisms of this method (see Box A).

In this subsection, we first consider the implications of using PRSs to identify a high-risk group (this is variously defined as the 1%, 5%, 10% or 20% of the population with the highest risk score, calculated using a stand-alone PRS or an IRS, which includes the PRS plus other known risk factors). First, it is important to note that in order to implement this strategy it is possible that the whole population will still need to have their genomes screened. Alternatively, only a subset of the population (those at borderline risk calculated using other risk factors) might be selected to have a PRS.

For example, in the UK, the company Genomics PLC states on its website that it will "*empower everyone*" to make "*genomically-powered decisions for longer, healthier lives*".⁹³ Genomics PLC is aiming to deliver its tests initially through healthcare services (the NHS in England, and private healthcare in the USA), although it has not ruled out also selling tests directly to consumers. The company's 'White Paper' on Polygenic Risk Scores states, "*Polygenic risk scores are not stand-alone diagnosis tools. They complement existing risk factors to improve screening programmes by better targeting at-risk individuals. They can also be used to better interpret screening tests", and "For many diseases improved prevention is possible for those individuals at high risk through either lifestyle changes or medical intervention*".⁹⁴

Although Genomics PLC sounds relatively cautious about the predictive value of individual PRSs, this company still argues that everybody in the whole population should take such tests to identify for which diseases they are in the 'high genetic risk' group.

In 2019, Genomics PLC had worked on 16 diseases, with plans for many more.⁹⁵ If we assume the genetic risk of each disease is independent, more than half the population (56%) would be in the top 5% for at least one of these diseases.⁹⁶ If the number of diseases for which PRSs were available increased to 50, say, more than 9 in 10 (92%) would be in the top 5%. This is consistent with evidence provided by Professor Peter Donnelly, now

CEO of Genomics PLC, to parliament in 2008, "For a particular disease, and a typical individual, their genetics is unlikely to have a major impact on their disease risk. Put another way, these genetic markers are not yet good predictors of disease outcome, as has been widely noted. But there is another perspective...

From an individual's point of view, for most diseases the genetic risk is about average, but over 50 or more diseases the chance of being in the top 5 per cent for one or more is 95 per cent. So, a potentially helpful perspective on "consumer genomics" is that for the individual it can identify the small subset of diseases for which their genetics puts them at much increased risk."⁹⁷ This idea was repeated in Genomics PLC's written evidence to the same committee in 2019, "For any particular disease, a clinically meaningful increase in disease risk predicted by PRS typically will only apply to a few percent of individuals (although as for coronary artery disease, in a large population, this information can direct treatment to hundreds of thousands of individuals). Critically, while most individuals will have average risk for any particular disease, it is very likely that they will be at the extreme of genetic risk for at least one disease".⁹⁸ In 2022, Genomics PLC announced that it had now developed PRSs for 28 diseases.⁹⁹

Thus, nearly the whole population could be identified as at 'high genetic risk' for at least one disease by using PRSs for multiple diseases, meaning they could be eligible for preventive treatment, perhaps from an early age. Enthusiasts argue that this could lead to early treatment of people identified as at risk but who are not yet ill. However, there is also a danger that this leads to over-treatment of people who would never have got the predicted disease.¹⁰⁰ Identifying everyone as potential patients before they become ill could lead to a massive expansion in the market for medicines and other products (such as supplements, foods and other 'wellness' products or services) to people who have no symptoms of disease. This might be good for pharmaceutical companies and others marketing such products, but would it really be good for health? This depends partly on what treatments are available (and their side effects) but also on how good PRSs are at predicting which people will develop a particular disease.

Genomics PLC provides three graphs in its 'Polygenic Risk Scores' white paper, all taken from published scientific papers.^{101,102,103,104,105,106} These papers are all based on data from subjects considered to be of 'European ancestry'. This is a very important limitation and is discussed in Sections 7 and 8. Considering only the results for this 'European ancestry' group for now, the graphs show how the PRSs for breast cancer (women only), coronary artery disease (men only) and prostate cancer (men only) work in the sense that the 3% of people in the group calculated to be at highest genetic risk are more likely to develop the predicted disease than other groups. However, the graphs also show that most people given a high risk PRS score will not develop the predicted disease by the age of 75, even if the predictions are reliable. According to these graphs, for breast cancer about 1 in 4 (25%) of women given a high risk PRS score get breast cancer by the age of 75; for coronary artery disease, nearly a third of men (about 30%) given a high risk PRS score get this disease by the age of 75; and for prostate cancer, just over a guarter (more than 25%) get this condition by the age of 75. According to these calculations, for breast cancer and prostate cancer the predicted risk is about 3 times higher in the 'high genetic risk' group than in the 'average genetic risk' group and for coronary artery disease it is about twice the risk. However, most people in the 'genetic high risk' group will still not get the predicted disease. This means there is a risk that people in this group could be treated with (or sold) medicines or other products to supposedly prevent diseases that they're never going to get. A recent UK study found that more than 66% of people over 70 have an underlying health condition.¹⁰⁷ Thus. these findings do not mean that most people over 75 are healthy, just that most would not develop the disease identified by the PRS, and hence they would likely receive preventive treatment for the wrong disease. The impacts of this on a person's health would vary depending on whether the intervention had any side effects or other adverse consequences.

There would also be major implications (including costs) for health services and society more broadly (see Sections 8 and 11).

Equally important is that fact that most cases of each disease do not occur in the 'high genetic risk' group but in the majority of people in the groups who are classified as at lower genetic risk. For each condition in this report, Genomics PLC makes much of the fact that people in the "high risk" group (defined as the 3% of people at highest risk) are around 2 to 3 times more likely to develop the disease than those in the "average risk" group. However, this is actually a sign of poor predictive value: much higher differences in risk (greater than 10-fold) are typically required to substantially improve predictions.¹⁰⁸ Thus papers that simply report odds ratios of 2 or more for people in the 'high risk' tail of the distribution of the PRS for various diseases (such as a recent study in US veterans¹⁰⁹, and a study advocating the use of a breast cancer PRS by the US company Myriad Genetics¹¹⁰), without reporting other measures such as the ROC and the AUC (as described above), are not providing the full picture, because such tests are likely to have poor predictive value. Odds ratios typically compare risks in the tails of a single risk distribution with the risks in the rest of the population, but these ratios ignore the proportions of individuals who will or will not develop the disease that fall in the region between the tails of the distribution. In general, most cases of common disease in a population will not occur in the high-risk group. This means that what appears to be a strong risk factor can still be a poor screening test, because it misses most cases, or, alternatively identifies too many people as at risk who would not develop the disease. An important paper by experts in public health notes, "...it is not well recognized that estimates of the relative risk between a disease marker and a disease have to be extremely high for the risk factor to merit consideration as a worthwhile screening test. To our knowledge, no genome-wide polygenic score meets this requirement, and none is likely to do so with polygenic scores that emerge in the future. It is important that the potential applications of genomic medicine are not compromised by raising unrealistic expectations in medical screening".¹¹¹

A similar vision to that of Genomics PLC is provided by the US company Allelica, which has published a paper (not yet peer reviewed) on the use of PRSs with the tile 'Software as a Service for the Genomic Prediction of Complex Diseases'.¹¹² This paper provides the results of PRSs for coronary artery disease (CAD), breast cancer, and prostate cancer and states that additional PRSs have been developed for other diseases such as atrial fibrillation, type 1 and type 2 diabetes, hypertension, inflammatory bowel disease and coeliac disease. Although the paper reports a relatively high AUC of 0.81 for its PRS for CAD, a closer examination reveals that this is calculated after adding age and gender to the risk predictor: the AUC for the PRS alone is only 0.65 (Figure 15 of the paper). The AUCs for breast and prostate cancer are also inflated by age (0.68 and 0.8), with the true values for the PRSs alone not reported in the paper. The positive predictive value (PPV) for people in the top 3% of genetic risk for each of the diseases is given for the most predictive PRS as 13.36% (0.136) (CAD), 20.20% (0.2020) (breast cancer) and 19.8% (0.198) (prostate cancer). Thus, only around 1 in 5 of the people in the high genetic risk group will develop the predicted disease. As discussed above, a low PPV could mean that many more people are given preventive treatment than would have developed the predicted disease. The consequences of this depend on the proposed intervention for those in the high-risk group.

If an intervention is very safe and effective it might not matter that many more people are treated than develop the disease: however, in such cases it may also not be worthwhile trying to limit the intervention to those at highest risk (usually at the cost of missing most cases of disease), or defining the high-risk group other than by age (which may predict the risk of developing many common diseases sufficiently well). If, on the other hand, an intervention may be harmful, it may not be appropriate or safe to offer it to many more people than are expected to develop the disease: in this case a test with a very high PPV is needed. In addition, for some conditions, preventive options may be limited, or (as with

lifestyle changes or the prevention of pollution), may important for everyone, not just those in the high-risk group.

It is also critical to be aware that 'high' and 'low' genetic risk is not the same as 'high' and 'low' overall risk for a particular condition. For conditions such as type 2 diabetes and coronary artery disease, non-genetic risk factors are much more important: "*As a result, it can occur that an individual feels protected due to a low genetic risk score, despite being at high risk due to being a heavily overweight smoker, when PGS are reported without consideration of other risk factors"*.¹¹³

The papers cited above only show that people in the 'high genetic risk' group for a particular disease are <u>on average</u> more likely to develop the disease than those in the 'low genetic risk' group. In other words, PRSs are used to categorise people into groups which differ in their risks (i.e., this is 'categorised medicine' not 'personalised medicine', despite the fact the latter term is often used). Predicting outcomes for individuals is much less precise than for populations because stochastic processes (i.e. random processes and unobservable events) will always play a large role in shaping individual outcomes (this issue is discussed further in Section 7).¹¹⁴ Thus, 'high' and 'low' categories of genetic risk can be largely meaningless to the individual. In addition, trust in the predictions could be undermined if confidence in the 'high' and 'low' risk categories is low. This is discussed in the next subsection.

5.3 Are the high-risk categories reliable for individuals?

"...for each disease, of those classified in the top 5% of risk by the first PRS, over 60% were not so classified by the second PRS. We found substantial discordance between different PRS for the same disease, indicating that individuals could receive different medical advice depending on which PRS is used to assess their genetic susceptibility".¹¹⁵ Scientists at Oxford and Harvard universities, September 2022.

The above discussion assumes that polygenic risk scores correctly assign the right people to the high-risk group. In reality, different PRSs will give very different answers to the question of whether a given person is at high genetic risk, as discussed below. This means individuals cannot know with any confidence that they have been allocated to the right category of genetic risk ('high', 'medium' or 'low'). Research suggests that many patients may be sceptical of genetic risk predictions and that, if they don't trust the predictions and recommendations they are given, they may not be willing to take extra tests and treatments based on their PRS results.¹¹⁶

A study assessing the value of a PRS for coronary heart disease (CHD) screening (discussed above, for its conclusion that the PRS offered little improvement to risk stratification) also found that, "*among individuals who subsequently developed CHD, the specific group that screening programs wish to identify, the majority of reclassifications (79%-80%) were incorrect*".¹¹⁷ Another study looked at three different PRSs for breast cancer (one developed in the UK, one in Estonia, and one combining both) and found poor levels of agreement between the different PRSs. Only 0.33% of women in the study were categorised in the top 5% of genetic risk with all three scores, compared to about 10% of the women who were categorised as at high genetic risk by at least one of the different PRSs.¹¹⁸

A more recent study looks at this problem in more detail.¹¹⁹ The authors compare two different published PRSs for three different conditions (breast cancer, hypertension and dementia), in the subset of people categorised as 'white British' in the UK Biobank (for a discussion of the implications for other groups, see Sections 7 and 8). All the PRSs had relatively low predictive value as measured by the AUC (as described above), although this did improve slightly in the second (later) PRS for each disease (from 0.63 to 0.64 for breast

cancer; from 0.57 to 0.59 for hypertension; and from 0.55 to 0.57 for dementia). (It should be noted that the dementia PRS excluded the role of genetic variations in the APOE gene, which are known to have a relatively large effect on risk). However, the authors were surprised to find that less than 80% of SNPs in the first PRS were represented in the second PRS, for all diseases. More importantly, there was a substantial reclassification of predicted risk. For example, of the women in the top 1% of breast cancer risk using the first PRS, only 23.1% were still classified as in the top 1% of risk by the second PRS. For participants categorised in the top 5% of genetic risk by the first PRS, only 35.7% (for breast cancer), 35.8% (for hypertension) and 40% (for dementia) were categorised as in the top 5% using the second PRS for each disease. This means that treatments or recommendations made by a doctor would be very different for the same individual depending which PRS was used. The authors of this study conclude that "such an arbitrary element in health care is obviously undesirable". They do not reach firm conclusions about why the misclassification happens, but note it is not only due to the inclusion of different SNPs, but also to the use of different methods in the calculations (problems with some of the assumptions made when writing these computer algorithms are discussed in Section 7).

The authors of this paper also note that the portability of the PRS depends on characteristics of the population studied, such as economic status, age or sex, and that variations they observed for the different PRSs are "far from the "fixed" or "one-time" value at birth that is often assumed for PRS". Thus, further doubts about what PRSs mean for individuals concern the fact that, although a person's genome doesn't change, their genetic risk can change with time and depends on the environmental context (see also Section 7). Even for relatively rare mutations, such as those in the BRCA2 gene which lead to a high risk of breast cancer, a study in Iceland found that the risk associated with the same mutation can change significantly over time (in this study, the cumulative incidence of breast cancer before age 70 years in mutation carriers increased from 18.6% in 1920 to 71.9% in 2002).¹²⁰ More recently, a large study in UK Biobank has found a tendency for genetic relative risk to change significantly (usually to decline) with increasing age.¹²¹ One study has attempted to separate the effects of date of birth (used as a proxy for changing environmental exposures in a population over time) from the effects of age on PRSs.¹²² This study found that the effect of year of birth was substantial, suggesting that differences in environmental exposures (related to a person's year of birth) could be a major source of poor replication of PRSs. This creates two problems: firstly, significant doubts about how PRSs are calculated (discussed further in Section 7); and secondly, problems with interpretation by doctors and their patients.

One study, which only includes the uncertainties due to imperfect data, calculates error bars (95% confidence intervals) around individual PRS estimates for people categorised as 'white British' in UK Biobank (the implications for other populations are discussed in Sections 7 and 8).¹²³ This study finds that the most of the categories are highly uncertain, by which they mean that it is not possible to be 95% certain that the individual is correctly categorised into a high, low or medium genetic risk group. For example, for Body Mass Index (BMI, a measure of whether someone is overweight or obese), only 6.2% of people in the top 10% of genetic risk could be attributed to that group with 95% certainty, whereas for cardiovascular disease (CVD), <u>none</u> of the attributions to the high genetic risk group could be described as certain.

A more recent study also reports a very poor level of agreement between different PRSs for cardiovascular disease.¹²⁴ These results again show that different individuals will be given statins, depending on which PRS is used. This study looks in more detail at the question of why different PRSs give different answers, and finds that both measurement error (stemming from using a finite number of samples) and different construction methods (i.e. how the data is combined in a computer algorithm) play an important role. This is discussed further in Section 7.

GeneWatch UK September 2023 Another major problem is that the predictive value of PRSs drops when they are applied to different populations. Even within Europe, the performance of PRSs drop significantly when applied to different European populations.¹²⁵ In this study, as well as a drop in the AUC for nearly all models (developed in Germany, Estonia and the UK) when applied to different data sets, in some cases the 'high genetic risk' category did not in reality reflect a higher occurrence of coronary artery disease. This has important implications for individuals, as the genetic risk category they are given becomes even less reliable. This issue, including the implications for minoritised ethnic populations, for whom predictive value may be poorer, is discussed further in Sections 7 and 8.

These severe problems with PRSs are exacerbated by poor understanding of what the scores mean and their limitations. In one study, of the users of Impute.me, a website which allows people to upload genomic data obtained from other companies (which has since been acquired by Nucleus Genomics), only 25.6% of participants correctly answered all questions assessing understanding/interpretation of PRSs, with many misinterpreting their risk.^{126,127} Another study found that many patients, and even some primary care physicians, interpreted being told that their genetic risk was at the 98th percentile for a condition (meaning they are predicted to be in the 2% of people at highest genetic risk) as meaning that they were at 98% risk of the condition (many times higher than their actual risk would be).¹²⁸ This study, which was conducted for the US eMERGE network, which plans to return PRSs to patients, also found that measures of relative risk, such as odds ratios, were often misinterpreted. A change in relative risk (in one group compared to another) may still mean a low absolute risk, which is insufficient to warrant any further testing.¹²⁹ Both patients and physicians had a strong preference for absolute risk information, and for information regarding how important the genetic component of the risk is compared to other factors.¹³⁰ This study also highlights the dangers of reporting results separately by population group (race/ethnicity or genetic ancestry), noting that many individuals do not fit neatly into any of the groups, whilst some will fit into more than one group (see Sections 7 and 8).

5.4 What do PRSs mean for families?

Rare genetic disorders are often caused by a mutation in one gene. Although new mutations can arise by chance, many are inherited. Such rare disorders follow a pattern in families according to whether the mutation in the gene is dominant (only one copy from one parent is needed to inherit the condition) or recessive (two copies must be inherited before the child shows symptoms of disease). Thus, having a genetic test for one of these disorders can also reveal that family members may be at risk, and sometimes reveal non-paternity (if the supposed biological father does not have the required mutation to cause a recessive genetic condition). Familial forms of common diseases, such as breast cancer caused by (dominant) mutations in the BRCA1 or BRCA2 genes, also run in families, although not everyone with these mutations will develop the disease. Thus, these types of genetic tests may have implications for other members of a person's family.

Although common, complex diseases, such as heart disease or most cancers, can also occur several times in the same family, this is not necessarily due to shared genetic factors. Common diseases can be expected to occur several times in the same family simply due to chance, or because families often share some of the same habits (smoking or unhealthy diets), environments (living in a polluted area) or socio-economic circumstances (such as poverty, poor housing, and limited educational opportunities), which may increase their risk of common diseases and related conditions, such as obesity.

Several studies have attempted to assess to what extent PRSs for complex diseases explain a family history of those diseases. In heavy smokers at risk of lung disease (chronic

obstructive pulmonary disease, COPD), one recent study found the PRS for COPD explained 16.5% of the effect of family history in participants classed as 'non-Hispanic white', and only 3.1% in participants classed as 'African American'.¹³¹ The authors conclude that a substantial component of the effect of family history on COPD could be due to shared environmental factors. This finding is similar to one for schizophrenia, which reported that 17.4% of the effect of family history on schizophrenia was mediated through the PRS.¹³² In two studies, PRSs for coronary heart disease were found to be independent of family history, suggesting they did not explain the clustering of this disease in families at all.^{133,134} High PRSs for coronary artery disease, atrial fibrillation, diabetes are more likely to be shared by siblings than would occur by chance: however, differences between siblings in polygenic scores play only a modest role in which sibling develops the disease.¹³⁵

If PRSs do not have significant implications for the health of family members this may ease some privacy concerns (although relatives and non-paternity can still be identified through this type of genetic test, see Section 11). However, if PRSs explain little of the clustering of diseases within families, this raises further questions about what they mean for individuals, and could conflict with the expectations of the people taking them.¹³⁶

5.5 Use of PRSs with other risk factors in Integrated Risk Scores (IRS)

"Overall, it is clear that there is some, but limited, added value of PGS on top of questionnaire-based risk factors for predicting T2D [Type 2 Diabetes] and CAD [Coronary Artery Disease] incidence compared to when only free to attain risk factors are used. However, PGS are costly, logistically complex and is time consuming compared to the questionnaire which is cheap, fast and easy."¹³⁷ Researchers based at Groningen, The Netherlands, 2023.

Due to the poor predictive value of PRSs alone, commercial companies have started to propose that they are combined with other clinical risk factors to create Integrated Risk Scores (IRSs). The idea is that the IRS will lead to some people being moved from a borderline risk group (calculated using clinical risk factors without genetic information) into a high-risk group, due to the additional information from the PRS, making them eligible to receive a treatment (such as statins to reduce heart disease risk), or screening tests (e.g. for a particular type of cancer) that they would n ot otherwise have had. Other people will move from the high-risk group (based on clinical risk factors) to a lower risk one once the PRS is added. However, advocates do not always argue that this group should no longer be eligible for treatment or screening.

The main area of research for IRSs has been cardiovascular disease, because risk scores based on clinical risk factors (such as cholesterol levels) are already used routinely for prescribing statins in many countries. For example, the UK National Health Service (NHS) is now piloting the use of a PRS for heart disease from the commercial company Genomics PLC, combined with a risk score based on traditional risk factors such as blood pressure, smoking history and cholesterol.^{138,139}

One reason the use of Integrated Risk Scores (IRS) has been questioned is because of the possible risk of 'double counting'. It is possible that some of the SNPs in a PRS for cardiovascular disease are associated with measured risk factors such as high blood pressure or cholesterol, and these effects are therefore counted twice, through the clinical risk factors included in the IRS, as well as in the PRS itself. Some argue that, in an IRS, the PRS should only include the genetic contribution that is <u>not</u> captured by the clinical risk factors.¹⁴⁰ However, if this were done, the PRS could have even less predictive value and be less cost-effective, raising further doubts about whether its use is actually worthwhile. Similarly, if environmental factors are included in an IRS (including lifestyle factors such as

diet or smoking), there is a risk of introducing bias due to unknown correlations between genetic and environmental factors.¹⁴¹ On the other hand, if genetic risk factors do not correlate with non-genetic ones, but non-genetic ones are more important, people might be misled about their risk if this is based on a PRS alone. A recent paper argues that non-genetic risk factors, such as body mass index (BMI), sex and smoking status should be combined with PGSs to improve risk predictions, but the results in this paper show that PGSs for type 2 diabetes and coronary artery disease add little to the predictive value (measured by the C-index) compared to risk assessments based on questionnaire-based risk factors alone.¹⁴² A more fundamental question (discussed further below) is why the UK National Health Service (NHS) is piloting an approach that is unlikely to improve screening performance or health outcomes, which depend on reducing (rather than quantifying) risk.¹⁴³

In contrast to the claims made by commercial companies, a recent review of incorporating PRSs for coronary heart disease into an integrated risk score (IRS) concludes, "the addition of PRS to traditional risk scores does not appear to provide meaningful improvements in clinical decision-making in primary prevention populations".¹⁴⁴ This review of 5 major published studies concludes that the incremental improvement of adding the PRS to a standard risk factor model for coronary heart disease ranged from "absent in some studies to small in others". As well as low C-statistics (ranging from 0.549 to 0.623 for the PRS alone), this study finds very small increases in the C-statistic when the PRS is added to a standard risk factor model, and low net reclassification index (NRI). This paper also considers the later publications by Genomics PLC and by a large-scale study in China, and finds that they have similar limitations. Another study has confirmed only a small change in C-statistic when a PRS for coronary artery disease is added to existing risk predictions based on clinical risk factors (the 'pooled cohort equations' model, or the QRISK3 score used in the UK).¹⁴⁵ This paper notes that earlier findings, advocating the use of PRS, either did not compare them to clinical non-genetic risk predictions (due to the lack of cholesterol measurements in those studies), or used a poor non-genetic model as a baseline (for example, with a low C-statistic of only 0.67, compared to the C-statistic of 0.76 obtained with the pooled cohort equations in this study). A further study comparing a PRS for long-term risk of coronary heart disease with risk predictions using traditional risk factors found that the change in the C-index when the PRS was added to the traditional risk factor score was only 0.03, 0.02, and 0.002 in young, early-midlife, and late-midlife participants, respectively.¹⁴⁶ The authors conclude that, "PRS, an immutable factor that cannot be directly intervened on, has minimal clinical utility for long-term CHD prediction when added to a traditional risk factor model". A 2023 study similarly found that the C-statistic for a PRS for CHD was only 0.69, and that the change in C-statistic when it was added to a score based on traditional risk factors (with a C-statistic of 0.76) was only 0.02.¹⁴⁷ In this study, the NRI was also not statistically significant, and adding an alternative risk predictor (coronary artery calcium score) made more difference to the risk predictions.

In contrast, in a press release in 2021, Genomics PLC claimed that their Integrated Risk Tool (IRT) for coronary artery disease, incorporating PRS alongside other risk factors, "*could help save more than 2,000 lives annually in the US alone*". This claim is based on their prediction that their IRT would 'upclassify' 7.02% of a pool of 105.2 million people (the total number of people aged 40 to 75 in the USA without cardiovascular disease), making 6.4 million more people eligible for statins. They calculate that 2,423 deaths would be preventable annually if 100% of these extra people took statins (or 1,551 deaths, if uptake and compliance with statin medication was 64%).^{148,149} Even if the claims regarding reclassification are correct, this assumption is completely unrealistic: in the USA, uptake of statins varies in different groups, but is always lower in 'primary prevention' (i.e. groups who are not yet ill).¹⁵⁰ Adherence to statin therapy increased from 57.9% in 2007 to 63.8% in 2014 among patients initiating treatment following a heart attack, and from 34.9% to 37.6% among those with diabetes but without CHD, but remained almost constant between 2007 (35.7%) and 2014 (36.8%) for those without CHD or diabetes. Thus, a claim of 872 deaths

GeneWatch UK September 2023 prevented annually in the USA would be more plausible (based on compliance of 36%), but this still assumes 100% uptake of the screening test, which is also highly unlikely (in the UK National Health Service, free cardiovascular screening has an uptake of about 50%¹⁵¹, this would cut the estimate of prevented deaths again, to 436). Further, the uncertainties in the classification (meaning we cannot be confident that the right people are in the high-risk category) and the lack of evidence of improved health outcomes also needs to be borne in mind. What does being classified as at high genetic risk really mean, if there is no confidence that individuals have been correctly classified, as described above? How would people react to being given different PRSs from different companies, with contradictory results? Is using a PRS really cost-effective and are there better, simpler alternatives? Would some people classified as at lower genetic risk perhaps believe that they can continue to smoke or eat unhealthily, worsening health outcomes in that group? In short, prediction of health benefits is not the same as demonstrating this, in the real world.

There are significant inequalities in diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular disease.¹⁵² Because cardiovascular diseases are so common, even small changes in some risk factors could save a lot of lives. For example, health behaviours (smoking, physical activity, diet, and weight) and health factors (cholesterol, blood pressure, and glucose control) all contribute to cardiovascular health.¹⁵³

The UK population is about 20% of the US population, so a prediction of 436 lives saved by adding a PRS into screening for cardiovascular disease in the USA would very roughly translate to 87 lives saved in the UK. Even if this prediction were reliable, it is a small number in comparison to what could be achieved through improvements public health measures or improvements to health services. For example, one study has estimated that 5.2 million cases of cardiovascular diseases could be prevented over 25 years in the UK if everyone was treated according to existing guidelines (although, of course, 100% detection and treatment is not possible in reality).¹⁵⁴ Another study of the UK National Health Service (NHS)'s existing cardiovascular disease screening programme (without added genetic risk scores) has argued, using computer modelling, that more lives would be saved by a combination of population-wide intervention (measures to reduce salt and sugar in processed foods and drinks, subsidised fruit and vegetables, and reducing smoking) and more targeted screening (including people only in the most deprived 40% of the population).¹⁵⁵ In this study 9,000 deaths are prevented, compared to 3,000 deaths from universal screening, whilst also reducing health inequalities. Although this study also relies on modelling, it suggests that alternative approaches which incorporate public health measures could easily prove more cost-effective than adding a PRS into an existing screening programme.

Guidelines regarding who should take statins vary significantly around the world. Whilst the evidence for secondary prevention (e.g. after a heart attack) is not disputed, there are disagreements about how many healthy people with risk factors but no symptoms should be given medication (known as 'primary prevention'): this reflects different individual and societal preferences (e.g. for altered diets rather than medicine), as well as uncertainties and variations in expected costs, side effects and benefits.^{156,157,158} Whilst some researchers are concerned about side effects and the low absolute risk reduction in individual patients, others argue that everybody over 55 should take statins and other risk-reducing medicines, on the basis that this could save millions of lives without the cost of screening tests. ^{159,160} Age is the dominant risk factor in determining risk of CVD: adding further risk factors does little to improve screening performance, and neither does more accurate CVD risk estimation.^{161,162} Even for secondary prevention (in people who already have CVD), adherence to medications such as statins and to lifestyle advice is low.^{163,164} In this context, it is not clear that making small changes to existing screening tests, by adding PRSs (which also add to costs), is the best way to improve health outcomes.

A 2018 study found that incorporating a genetic risk score based on 27 SNPs into a conventional risk score was not a cost-effective approach for targeting statins for low- to intermediate-risk patients (assuming the test costs \$100).¹⁶⁵ This is because testing carries additional costs without large gains in discrimination between patients.¹⁶⁶ A subsequent costeffectiveness analysis by companies involved in PRSs (Allelica, Pacific Biosciences and Illumina), using a different PRS from that developed by Genomics PLC, claims that about 29 coronary artery disease (CAD) events (such as heart attacks) and strokes would be averted in 10,000 people over a 5-year period, or 50 over ten years.¹⁶⁷ In this model, only individuals with 'borderline' 10-year risk of CAD (calculated without the PRS) are given the PRS (these are people with 5% to 20% calculated risk). In the population studied, 16 002 people were classified as the primary prevention population (PPP) with 5890 having borderline or intermediate 10-year risk of CVD (calculated without the PRS). In this group of people, nearly 17% (987 people) with borderline or intermediate 10-year risk were in the top 20% of the PRS, and 652 people (11.07%) were not taking statins and therefore classified as highrisk based on the PRS but not under the current risk assessment without the PRS. The study concludes that including the PRS with other risk factors (as part of an IRS) is costeffective when the genetic test is targeted at the subset of patients who fall into the studied group, i.e., 40-year-olds with borderline calculated risks, based on traditional risk factors. The first thing to note about this study is that it does not attempt to justify rolling out this PRS to the whole population (indeed, it shows that this would not be cost-effective). This is consistent with other studies, which have also found that targeted use of PRS would be much more efficient than blanket population-wide use and also with a public statement by the CEO of Allelica that "It's important to carefully identify and focus on narrow intended populations where greater benefits are observed through PRS testing".^{168,169,170} Secondly, the results depend on the correct people being reclassified and the validity of the Net Reclassification Index (NRI), both of which may be questionable (as described above). Thirdly, the results are based on computer modelling, which often over-estimates the benefits of testing compared to the real world where things are always much more complicated (for example, a recommendation to base the dose of the blood-thinning drug warfarin on genetic test results was not supported by later clinical trials, which found the test did not improve health outcomes^{171,172}). Fourthly, the model (which has been developed by companies trying to influence US health insurers to pay for their commercial product) contains some additional assumptions which might bias the results. For example, it assumes that 50% of the additional people identified by the PRS would take statins (higher than the 36% discussed above). Finally, the model does not consider alternatives to using the PRS (such as seeking to increase statin compliance in existing high-risk groups, providing alternatives for those who prefer not to take medication, addressing health inequalities, or introducing new public health measures).

The poor reproducibility of PRSs in populations not classed as of 'European ancestry' is a major issue discussed further in Sections 7 and 8. One study has attempted to assess the transferability of a PRS for coronary artery disease to British Pakistani and Bangladeshi individuals.¹⁷³ Although this paper advocates the use of PRS as part of an IRS, it in fact shows no significant increase in the C-index compared to calculating risk with the nongenetic risk factors alone. In addition, the relative accuracy of the PRS in the target population was only 42% (compared to its use in a population classed as European). The use of the Net Reclassification Index (NRI) as a measure of performance is guestionable when there is no confidence that individuals are correctly classified (as described above), and this measure may be biased. In this study, 97.4% of participants were in the lowest 40% of the Index of Multiple Deprivation in the UK, but no attempt was made to consider the effects of deprivation on their health. The same research group also produced an IRS for type 2 diabetes in this population. Again, only small changes to the C-index were observed.¹⁷⁴ A more recent study in a sample of almost 80,000 US veterans (23.4% classed as non-Hispanic Black, 8.6% as Hispanic and 68% as non-Hispanic White), investigated whether PRSs for coronary artery disease and acute ischemic stroke predicted incident

GeneWatch UK September 2023 atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) events, including heart attacks, strokes and deaths.¹⁷⁵ In this study, the addition of the PRS to the traditional risk factor model increased the C index for all ASCVD outcomes by roughly 0.01 among participants classified as Hispanic or White and by 0.004 for stroke and all non-death outcomes among participants classified as Black. The Net Reclassification Index was also modest in all groups, with slightly better performance in women and at younger ages (but with smaller sample sizes for these groups).

Blood pressure is another area of research, with a recent study in the UK Biobank suggesting that a blood pressure PRS should be combined with blood pressure measurements and other risk factors (sex, age, race, ethnicity, body mass index, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, diabetes, cigarette smoking, physical activity, Townsend deprivation Index, statin use, and number of hypertensive medication classes) to help identify individuals at high risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD).¹⁷⁶ However, the paper reports a tiny increase in the C-statistic (AUC) from 0.728 to of 0.729 when the PRS is added to the risk prediction model, in people with normal blood pressure. There were also very small improvements in predictive value in people with untreated hypertension (an increase from 0.683 to 0.684 when the PRS is added) and people with treated hypertension (from 0.640 to 0.641). In this study, 59.7% of the population were identified as having untreated hypertension, based on measuring their blood pressure, suggesting that tackling this problem, whether through medication or improving diets, should be more of a priority than trying to refine individual risk predictions.

In one study of type 2 diabetes, a clinical risk score (CRS), based on established nongenetic risk factors, had a C-statistic of 0.839, compared to 0.709 for a PRS, 0.762 for a model based on 12 nongenetic exposures (referred to as a polygenic exposure score, PXS), 0.844 if the PRS was added to the CRS, 0.85 if the PXS were added to the CRS, and 0.855 if both the PRS and PXS were added to the CRS.¹⁷⁷ Thus, adding the PRS only modestly improved the predictive power compared to clinical risk factors, and the PRS was less predictive than a model based on environmental exposures (such as diet, alcohol and tobacco use).

Some studies have also investigated the use of IRS for predicting cancers. For example, one recent study has included a PRS based on 313 SNPs in a computer model to try to predict breast cancer in the second breast of women who already had breast cancer on one breast (this is known as contralateral breast cancer).¹⁷⁸ The computer model is developed from an earlier one which already included the effects of rare mutations in the BRCA1/2 genes and other factors such as age and the characteristics of the cancer in the first breast. As well as adding information from the PRS, this updated computer model also adds rare mutations in another gene (CHEK2), body mass index (BMI) and parity (the number of times a woman has given birth). Since both breasts have usually had the same exposures to environmental factors, as well as the same genes, predicting contralateral breast cancer should be relatively easy, but the AUC at 10 years was only 0.65, a slight increase on the earlier computer model (without the PRS) which had an AUC of 0.63. A further breast cancer study adds a PRS based on 313 SNPs to other risk factors, including a panel of mutations in rare genes (such as BRCA1/2 and others), to predict risk of breast cancer in a group women aged 46 to 73 years.¹⁷⁹ The computer model containing the PRS and the gene panel has an AUC of 0.672 (compared to an AUC of 0.536 for the risk assessment without any genetic risk factors), and thus its predictive value in the general population is still poor. This study excludes women who do not identify as White European (including Ashkenazi Jewish women), on the grounds that the PRS will not work well for them (see Sections 7 and 8).

5.6 PRSs combined with cancer screening

Some advocates of PRSs argue that, where the predictive value is too low for use as standalone screening tests, they could nevertheless be used as part of targeted screening programmes, particularly for cancers. The idea is to offer the conventional screening programme (for example, mammography for breast cancer) preferentially to a group calculated to be at higher genetic risk.¹⁸⁰ The reasoning is that cancer screening programmes are known to cause harm through overdiagnosis and overtreatment.¹⁸¹ Selecting a smaller group of high-risk patients to screen would reduce the number of cancers identified by the screening programme, but could potentially also cut costs and reduce the harms caused by wrongly identifying cancers that don't exist or don't need to be treated. However, other scientists disagree and warn that the cost and complexity of adding PRSs into cancer screening programmes could also reduce the number of people that participate.¹⁸² This might happen, for example, due to concerns about privacy, corporate control, lack of regulation, or racism (see Sections 8, 9, 10 and 11). In addition, the PRS itself is a form of screening, which could lead to people seeking treatment for being categorised as at 'high genetic risk', and higher caseloads for medical professionals without clinical benefit.¹⁸³ PRSs could worsen health outcomes if people take 'low risk' scores as a reason to disengage from screening altogether.¹⁸⁴ In reality, if PRSs were to be used in this way, people would have to be informed of their individual risk scores, and considerable confusion could then occur about their limited predictive value, as discussed above. In addition, expensive additional new screening tests might need to be introduced, such as magnetic resonance imaging for prostate cancer, and the potential for overdiagnosis and overtreatment would remain (since many men die with, but not from, prostate cancer, and PRSs do not improve risk prediction for aggressive prostate cancers with the potential to be fatal).^{185,186} A 2022 review of whether PRSs would be a cost-effective addition to cancer screening (for prostate, breast or colorectal cancer) concludes that this is unclear, due to the absence of robust evidence on the costs of polygenic risk stratification, the effects of differential 'ancestry', potential downstream economic consequences, and unanswered questions about how large volumes of polygenic risk data would be collected and used.¹⁸⁷ A subsequent study reports that a PRS does not improve risk prediction of aggressive prostate cancer compared to a clinical risk predictor tool, and thus will not enhance clinical decisionmaking.^{188,189} A 2023 study of the potential benefits of introducing PRSs for common cancers (breast, colorectal and prostate) similarly finds that the potential benefits of combining PRSs with cancer screening programmes are limited, even under favourable assumptions.¹⁹⁰ The authors highlight that this is because many or most cancers will occur in low-risk groups and because PRSs do not address the many flaws of cancer-screening tools, including overdiagnosis and limited reductions in mortality. This study also notes that, for rare cancers, the absolute numbers of cancer in the PRS-defined high-risk quantiles remain too modest for screening to be plausible.

Another UK study of breast cancer found that adding a PRS and additional lifestyle/ reproductive risk factors into an existing model (called BOADICEA, based on family history and rare breast cancer mutations such as those in the BRCA1/2 genes), led to only a small improvement in the AUC from 0.691 to 0.697.¹⁹¹ This paper also reports an over-estimation of risk by a similar US model (known as the Tyrer-Cuzick, or IBIS, model), which the authors suggest may be due to not accounting for the correlation between the PRS and the contribution of family history that is already included in the model. Australian company Genetic Technologies reports an AUC of 0.636 for 5-year risk and 0.647 for lifetime risk for an alternative model called BRISK, which incorporates mammographic density and clinical risk factors with a PRS.¹⁹² According to this paper, a third to a fifth of all women aged 40 to 70 years would need increased surveillance, and potentially risk-reducing medication (with side effects), if this model were implemented in clinical practice. Similarly, Genetic Technologies reports that a PRS for colorectal cancer only marginally improves a simple family history model (increasing the AUC from 0.666 to 0.673), and a combined PRS and

GeneWatch UK September 2023 clinical risk model can only achieve an AUC of 0.663.¹⁹³ Modelling studies such as these are unable to demonstrate improved health outcomes, and the reported AUCs are well below those that would normally be considered acceptable for population screening. Further, they have generally been developed only for populations classed as of 'European ancestry' and are likely to have poorer predictive values in other population groups (see Section 7 and Section 8). US company Ambry Genetics has reportedly removed their polygenic score product from the market because polygenic scores 'have not been validated for use in patients of diverse backgrounds'.¹⁹⁴ In contrast, Myriad Genetics are marketing a multi-ancestry breast cancer PRS, based on categorising people as a percentage of three 'genetic ancestries' (issues regarding this methodology are discussed further in Sections 7 and 8).¹⁹⁵ Myriad's published paper reports an odds ratio of 2 for people in the top 10% genetic risk, which suggests a poor predictive value (low AUC) although the AUC is not reported.¹⁹⁶

6. How important are genetic differences in determining the risk of common diseases?

"It is tempting to imagine that there will be a transformative improvement in the predictive ability of polygenic scores through the discovery of more genetic risk variants. But modelling shows that, even in the theoretical scenario that all common genetic risk variants are identified and used in a polygenic score, they will still be limited in their ability to differentiate between those who will and will not develop disease". Medical researchers writing in the British Medical Journal, 2023.¹⁹⁷

"Larger GWASs than those already done will improve PRS predictions modestly; predictiveness is inherently constrained by the low heritability of most common late-onset cancers". Medical researchers in London and Oxford, UK ¹⁹⁸

Will more research improve the predictive value of PRSs and change the situation? This partly depends on how important genetic differences are (or are not) in a person's risk of developing one of these common, late-onset diseases, and partly on how complicated the relationship is between genes, biology, environment and chance, and the risk of developing a particular disease. These issues are considered further below.

Heritability is a measure of how well differences in people's genes account for differences in their characteristics, including their risk of developing a particular disease.

If a measured trait, such as height, in a population is plotted against the number of people who have a particular value of that trait), it usually shows the shape of a 'bell curve' (known as a 'normal' or 'Gaussian' distribution), with most people in the middle of the curve (e.g., at close to average height) and small numbers in the tails (very short or tall). The spread of the bell curve is measured by its 'standard deviation', or by its 'variance', which is the standard deviation squared. The heritability is the calculated proportion of the variance that can be explained by genetic factors (assumptions and criticisms of heritability are discussed in Section 7).

Traits such as height are known as 'continuous traits', because they are characteristics that change gradually over a range of values. But whether someone gets a disease or not is a 'discontinuous' or 'binary' trait (a person either has the disease or not) and the risk of getting that disease cannot be directly measured. For disease risks, the liability threshold model is used to explain how a large number of environmental and genetic factors may result in a disease. This model assumes that the observed disease status (i.e., whether or not a person develops the disease) can be described by a continuous unobserved liability, which captures all genetic and environmental risk factors that influence the disease risk. The disease is

assumed to occur when the subject's liability exceeds a certain threshold. For a disease, the heritability is the proportion of the variance in the liability to disease which can be accounted for by genetic factors. But the liability itself cannot be measured.

Heritability is not a fixed property of a disease or trait but depends on the population studied, including its environment. ^{199,200} Its scientific meaning is not the same as the common understanding that it measures whether or not something is inherited.²⁰¹ However, it is a potentially useful measure to help understand whether genetic tests could in theory help to identify a subset of the population who are at high genetic risk (the people in the 'high risk' tail of the bell curve). If the heritability of a given disease in a given population is zero, then a genetic test is no help at all – everybody is at the same genetic risk. In general, if heritability is high (in a given population), a PRS might be developed that has high predictive value, but if heritability is low, the predictive value of a PRS is always likely to be low – in other words, it will be a poor way to decide who is likely to develop the disease and who is not.²⁰²

Heritability is discussed further in Section 7, including concerns that it may be oversimplified and overestimated, but for now we assume existing calculations of heritability are correct and ask what these values mean for the likely predictive value of PRS. Traditionally, heritability was usually calculated using twins but today 'SNP heritability' is often calculated as part of the Genome Wide Association Studies (GWAS) used to develop PRSs.²⁰³ For a given disease, the 'SNP heritability' is usually much lower than the heritability calculated using twin studies. This could be because some genetic variance is not captured by the DNA chip, and/or because twin studies may over-estimate heritability (this is discussed further in Section 7). Nevertheless, the 'SNP heritability' is the heritability that could in theory be explained by all the SNPs captured by a particular DNA chip (or 'SNP chip'). This includes all the SNPs that are directly measured by the chip, plus any that are inherited alongside those that are directly measured (this is known as 'linkage disequilibrium' and is discussed further in Section 8). The SNP heritability provides an upper limit to the predictive value of a PRS because it includes the effect of any SNP that could theoretically be included in the PRS (even if the link between the SNP and the disease has not yet been discovered).

First, it is important to be aware that many conditions have low heritability and therefore PRSs for these conditions would always be expected to have poor predictive value, however much research is done. Two examples of diseases with low heritability are lung cancer and the risk of being infected with, hospitalised with, or becoming critically ill with, severe Covid-19, as described below.

A 1995 twin study failed to find a significant heritability for lung cancer, but was largely ignored due to the on-going promotion of the idea that a genetic test would identify which smokers would develop this disease, which became a key part of the justification for the Human Genome Project.^{204,205,206} A much larger calculation in 2000 (combining the results of multiple twin studies in Scandinavia) also failed to find any significant heritability. More recently, a study in UK Biobank has calculated a SNP heritability for lung cancer of 8.3% (reaching 10% in 'ever' smokers and 3% in 'never' smokers).²⁰⁷ This low heritability means that genetic tests aiming to predict who will get lung cancer in the general population will inevitably be low. These results are important because they highlight that, although only a minority of smokers get lung cancer, this does not automatically mean that a genetic test (or a PRS) can predict who would develop this disease. In reality even a perfect PRS for lung cancer would have very low predictive value (an AUC close to 0.5). In this case the risk is explained largely by environmental factors (exposure to cigarette smoke or other pollutants) and by chance (only about one in ten smokers develop the disease, perhaps because there are random processes involved in how much damage is caused to their lungs or how well the damage is repaired).

Similarly, for Covid-19, in a large study (called a meta-analysis) of results 60 studies in 25 countries, including more than 2.6 million people, the SNP heritability of being infected with, hospitalised with, or becoming critically ill with severe COVID-19 was calculated to be only 0.13%.²⁰⁸ This tiny heritability means using a PRS for COVID-19 infection, hospitalisation, or risk of severe disease is no better than random guessing. Yet, several tests which claim to calculate genetic susceptibility to COVID-19 are already on the market. A study of direct-toconsumer (DTC) tests claiming to identify genetic susceptibility to COVID-19 concluded that they provide inconsistent results and are not based on established scientific information.²⁰⁹ Although this conference presentation has not been peer reviewed, its conclusions are not surprising as a low heritability (close to zero in this case) inevitably implies a low AUC (close to 0.5), and hence very poor predictive value. Similarly, genetic factors do not provide an explanation for why some ethnic groups are at higher risk than others. An analysis of global data on COVID-19 clinical outcomes examining inequalities between people from minoritised ethnic groups, compared to the ethnic majority group, found that increased risks for some ethnic groups were largely due to inequalities which increase exposure risk and vulnerabilities to severe disease, including structural racism and racial discrimination.²¹⁰ These issues are discussed further in Section 8.

However, many other conditions appear to have higher heritability, so it's possible that PRSs for other diseases might be worth considering. For example, an overview (meta-analysis) of twin studies published in 2015 found an average (median) heritability for studied traits and diseases of nearly 50%.²¹¹ This finding suggests that fairly predictive PRSs might be achievable for some diseases (a heritability of 50% implies an AUC of more than 0.85, which is better than many existing medical tests²¹²). Twin studies are often cited in scientific papers as providing evidence that developing PRSs will be worthwhile (whether twin studies are reliable is discussed further in Section 7).

On the other hand, 'SNP heritability' calculations have tended to be much lower. As described above, the SNP heritability provides an upper limit to the predictive value of a PRS because it includes the effect of any SNP that could theoretically be included in the PRS (even if the link between the SNP and the disease has not yet been discovered). For example, SNP heritabilities for a wide range of diseases and traits have been calculated for UK Biobank by the Neale lab, and are available in a public database.²¹³ Apart from height (at 48.5%), the calculated SNP heritabilities are generally much lower than 50%. Even for height, a PRS published in 2021 performs no better than mid-parental height as a predictor of adult height in children.²¹⁴ For conditions with lower SNP heritabilities, prediction is expected to be poorer. For example, in these calculations, the reported SNP heritability of a major coronary heart disease event is 0.144 (i.e., 14.4%); diagnosis of chronic ischaemic heart disease is 0.164; diagnosis of cancer in the breast is 0.0218; diagnosis of prostate cancer (malignant neoplasm of prostate) is 0.105; and type 2 diabetes is 0.14. The highest of these examples (chronic heart disease at 0.164 or 16.4%) is equivalent to an AUC of 0.7. which is lower than most medical tests in use today.²¹⁵ Heritability depends on the population studied and, in studies to date, SNP heritabilities calculated elsewhere (e.g. Qatar, Korea and Uganda) have tended to be even lower than in Europe.^{216,217,218} Estimates of SNP heritability for some conditions (such as schizophrenia and Alzheimer's Disease) in the UK Biobank database are too uncertain to be reliable, due to the relatively small number of cases in this study (despite its large size). In other studies, the SNP heritability for Alzheimer's Disease has been calculated as between 13% and 33% (compared to 58% from twin studies), the SNP heritability of schizophrenia has been calculated to be 24% (compared to 60% to 80% from twin studies) and the SNP heritability of major depressive disorder has been calculated to be 16% (compared to 30% to 40% from twin studies).^{219,220,221} Estimates of SNP heritability for other psychiatric diseases are lower. For autism, a SNP heritability estimate of 0.13 compares to heritability estimated from family pedigrees of 0.8 (as with twin studies, assumptions are discussed in Section 7).²²² For

neurodevelopmental disorders a SNP-based heritability of 0.19 has been calculated (family-based heritability, 0.66).²²³

Now that GWAS have been conducted on large numbers of human diseases, it has become apparent that SNP heritabilities are generally low. For example, a combined statistical study (meta-analysis) using 23 biobanks, representing 2.2 million individuals, calculated SNP heritabilities (on the liability scale) for 14 conditions: the highest is only 10.73% (for gout).²²⁴ The conditions included in the study were asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart failure, stroke, gout, venous thromboembolism, primary open-angle glaucoma, abdominal aortic aneurysm, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, thyroid cancer, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, uterine cancer (in females only), acute appendicitis and appendectomy.

In 2008, the idea that calculating an individual's genetic risk of common diseases would be useful for their health was widely regarded as having failed. This is because the results from GWAS found only a small part of the heritability expected from twin studies.²²⁵ This meant that the genetic variants that had been found had poor predictive value and were not useful to decide who was likely to develop a particular disease. For common diseases, the genetic component of the risk that had been identified was found to be very small: the rest was called the 'missing heritability'. When this paper was published in 2008, scientists were divided about whether this meant that heritability had been overestimated (see Section 7), or whether the missing heritability was yet to be discovered (or a combination of these two explanations). For example, some of the 'missing heritability' could be explained by many SNPs of such small effects that they needed bigger databases to be discovered, or by genetic differences (so-called Copy Number Variations) that are not measured by the DNA chips that are used in GWAS studies.²²⁶

Nearly ten years later, a 2017 analysis found that on average the variance explained by weighted Genetic Risk Scores (GRS) using common SNPs accounted for only 10.7% of the SNP heritability for 32 traits.²²⁷ This has been increased subsequently by adding rarer SNPs found in larger studies: however, there is still a significant gap for most traits, and the SNP heritabilities are anyway much lower than the earlier calculations from twin studies, as described above. One 2019 study considered whether the 'missing heritability' is likely to ever be found, using data showing how more rarer SNPs associated with disease continue to be found as GWAS studies get larger.²²⁸ This study looks at 16 traits which have been studied at least 3 times and for which at least 30 associated SNPs had been identified. It finds evidence that for 6 of the 16 traits the 'missing heritability' gap may never be closed, whereas for the other 10 traits this might be possible (although it still may not happen). Reasons why heritability from twin studies may be exaggerated are discussed in Section 7. A subsequent study by the same researchers reports similar results, but highlights that different methods may vary in the conclusions reached about a particular trait or disease.²²⁹

Advocates of PRSs often highlight how larger and larger studies have identified more SNPs of small effect and gradually explained a bit more of the 'missing heritability' (particularly for height), but they do not highlight how SNP heritability estimates for the majority of disease-related traits remain much lower than estimated from twin studies. This has important implications for the predictive value of PRSs. For example, a 2018 study reports that the majority of the SNP heritability of height in UK Biobank (estimated at 0.53 in this paper) can now be explained, achieving a correlation between actual and predicted height of about 0.6.²³⁰ But this paper refers to "*numerous conditions with heritability on the 0.5 range, such as Alzheimer's, type I diabetes, obesity, ovarian cancer, schizophrenia, etc.*", for which effective predictors might be developed in the future, citing a link to heritabilities calculated from twin studies, rather than the much smaller SNP heritabilities now found. As noted above, the SNP heritabilities for these diseases are much lower (typically more like 0.1, i.e. 10%, than 0.5, or 50%).^{231,232,233} This makes a massive difference to the potential predictive value of the PRS, raising questions about whether they can ever have sufficient predictive

GeneWatch UK September 2023 power to be rolled out to the whole population. Whereas a SNP heritability of 50% suggests that an AUC of 0.85 could be achievable (if all genetic risk factors could be perfectly accounted for and included in the PRS), in reality a SNP heritability of 10% would imply a maximum achievable AUC of 0.66, which is too low to be useful.²³⁴

The SNP heritability provides an upper limit to the predictive value of a PRS because it includes the effect of any SNP that could theoretically be included in the PRS (even if the link between the SNP and the disease has not yet been discovered). In reality the predictive value of the PRS will fall short of this as long as the explained SNP-heritability (the part for which SNPs have been identified) is less than this. An example might have a SNP-heritability of 25%, only half of which has been explained: this would lead to only 57% correct placement on the top 20% of the risk distribution, and a prediction accuracy (the percentage of people correctly assigned to this risk category) estimated to be only 40%, leading to significant errors if the PRS were to be used in decision-making.²³⁵ Even if 80% of the SNP-heritability were to be explained in this example, this study calculates that only 72.7% of individuals would be correctly classified as in the top 20% of genetic risk, as calculated by the PRS.

If SNP heritability is low, there is another important consequence because the high uncertainties for the genetic risk categories given to individuals using PRSs, as described in Section 5, reduce with sample size, but increase with the number of causal SNPs involved in the condition, and are highest for conditions with low heritability.²³⁶ This means that risk predictions for complex diseases with low SNP heritability (and including a very large number of SNPs) are likely to remain highly uncertain and unreliable for individuals, as well as having low predictive value for the population.

In summary, "Polygenic scores will always be limited in their ability to predict disease, as much of a person's disease risk is determined by factors that polygenic scores cannot measure".²³⁷

It is important to remember that heritability can also vary from one population to another (see Section 7). Because 'heritability' varies with environment, this means the same disease can have different a heritability in a different country, and even in different populations within the same country.²³⁸ This is because the separation of the causes of variation into genetic and environmental parts is a statistical calculation based on a fixed population in a fixed environment at a fixed time. This also means that a person's calculated 'genetic risk' and even their categorisation as at 'high genetic risk' is not fixed but may change with time due to changes in their environment.²³⁹ Further consequences of the assumptions made when calculating the 'heritability' of a disease are discussed in Section 7.

7. Can we trust the algorithms?

The above discussion assumes that the computer algorithms used to calculate PRSs are basically correct in the common assumptions that are made. However, there are many uncertainties in these computer models and researchers make numerous simplifications and assumptions regarding issues that are not fully understood. For example, a recent paper lists sixteen "*major open problems*" in the understanding of the genetics of complex human traits.²⁴⁰ Different methods are used by different researchers to create different PRSs, and these can give very different risk predictions for the same individual (as discussed in Section 5).²⁴¹ However, in addition, common simplifications and assumptions could also mean that <u>all</u> the algorithms differ from reality in important ways that might bias the results. Below, we first consider uncertainties due to imperfect measurements and data, then sources of bias, and then more fundamental doubts about whether the methods used make the right assumptions.

GeneWatch UK September 2023 As noted above, PRSs are made using data from so-called 'genotyping chips' (also called DNA chips, microarrays or SNP chips, pronounced 'snip chips'). These chips measure the presence or absence of a particular chemical letter in a person's DNA (called a SNP) at a particular location in the genome. SNP chips are not always accurate: a recent study found that SNP chips are extremely poor for correctly genotyping very rare variants compared with sequencing data (which looks at the whole genome) and that, for an individual person, a positive result for a very rare pathogenic variant is more likely to be wrong than right. This has major implications for some genetic tests currently on sale direct-to-consumer (DTC).²⁴² For more common variants these so-called genotyping errors may be somewhat less important and other problems may be more important. In particular, SNP chips do not measure every chemical letter (a person's whole genome) because this is too expensive.

A typical SNP chip may measure millions of SNPs but a whole genome contains 3.2 billion chemical letters (or 6.4 billion if you count both pairs of chromosomes). In many cases, when a particular SNP is statistically associated with an increase in risk it is not because the measured SNP is having an effect, but because a SNP nearby on the genome is: the SNP that has an effect is known as a 'causal' SNP and is said to be 'tagged' by the SNP that is actually measured by the chip. Scientists use various methods to try to identify these missing causal SNPs, that are tagged but not directly measured. These methods always use the fact that the genome is inherited in chunks (called haplotypes) so that the same genes tend to remain near each other, and they often use Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS) from smaller studies to infer some of the missing SNPs (this is called imputation). Imputation is not exact and can only approximate whole genome sequencing (WGS).^{243,244} Additional uncertainty remains in the PRS calculations due to the uncertainty as to which SNPs are causal, which cannot be proven purely by statistical association.

A further problem with all data is that current studies, although very large, are not large enough to accurately quantify the very many small effects on risk that are now being found: in other words, there is statistical 'noise' in the data which can mean real effects are not identified or spurious effects are found. Data is messy and biased and is always subject to multiple 'corrections' to try to obtain the right answers from the statistical methods that are applied to it.

There are inherent limits to the predictive power of PRSs due to the difficulty in separating the role of true causal SNPs from those that are linked to the disease or trait simply by chance. If the number of causal SNPs involved in a disease or trait is very large compared to the sample size, the causal and non-causal SNP cannot easily be separated and the PRS will have low predictive accuracy, even if the heritability is high.²⁴⁵ Thus, if a very large number of SNPs are thought to influence a trait (known as the 'omnigenic' model), the idea of including millions of SNPs in a PRS requires ever-larger sample sizes, without necessarily achieving the required predictive value. If, on the other hand, a complex trait is influenced by multiple genes (known as the 'oligogenic' model), where the number of causal SNPs is small compared to the sample size, a PRS developed using only those SNPs which meet a threshold of statistical significance will perform better than one that includes more SNPs.²⁴⁶

Often, the statistical association between a particular SNP and a disease is confirmed in more than one study, but the size of the effect varies between different studies. The choice of how to weight the importance of the different SNPs can bias the results: for example, the same SNPs have a bigger effect on risk in a large European GWAS of type 2 diabetes than they do in a similar study by the US company 23andMe.²⁴⁷ Results from multiple studies can be combined (for example, by the Global Biobank Meta-analysis Initiative, GBMI²⁴⁸), but different size effects may also reflect real differences between populations, leading to incorrect risk predictions if a PRS developed in one population is applied in another (as discussed further below).

A more fundamental problem is that the statistical link between a gene and a disease can be spurious if there are 'confounders', i.e., other factors that could be part of the true cause of the disease but which happen to be more common in people with particular genetic variants.²⁴⁹ In this context, a major issue is the treatment of 'population stratification' in all GWAS studies. This issue, and other sources of confounding, are discussed further below.

The uncertainties considered above are not the only ones. PRSs also depend on a whole series of assumptions about how genes and environments contribute to human diseases and characteristics (known as traits).^{250,251} These issues are also discussed below.

7.1 Problems with applying PRSs in different populations

In this section, we discuss the implications of genetic, social and environmental differences between different populations for the results of PRSs. One aspect of this is the use of corrections for genetic structure within populations, to try to avoid spurious associations between genes and disease. A related problem is that PRSs usually have lower predictive value in different populations: for example, a score developed in a database of people defined as of 'European ancestry' will typically work considerably less well in populations categorised as being of 'African ancestry'.²⁵² This means a person in one group can be wrongly classified as at 'high' or 'low' genetic risk, based on a PRS developed in another group (typically, this is in persons classed as of 'European Ancestry'). This has major implications, discussed below, and provides a fundamental reason to object to the use of PRSs in health services. The implications of the methods used to correct for population structure are discussed below. However, it is important to be aware that the idea of 'genetic ancestry' is, in itself, a simplification that is controversial. Because the methods used to calculate 'multi-ancestry' PRSs inevitably involve corrections for 'genetic ancestry', and since these categories are chosen in arbitrary ways, this can lead to people being categorised in ways that they may disagree with, and which are associated with a long history of racism, including slavery and genocide. These issues are discussed further in Section 8.

In statistics, a confounder is something, other than the factor being studied, that could be causing the results seen in a study. Confounders cause problems in all types of study (not just genetic ones), but in genetic studies the existence of confounders can mean that an increase in risk of a disease, for example, is wrongly attributed to a genetic factor, when it is really caused by a social or environmental one. If such a genetic factor is included in a PRS it can bias the score (leading to someone being wrongly categorised as at 'high genetic risk', for example) and also bias the estimation of 'SNP heritability' (making genetic differences seem more important than they really are in determining the risk of a particular disease).

In GWAS, major sources of confounding arise because genes and environments can be correlated in important ways. Confounding can occur for different reasons (genetic or environmental). Environmental confounding occurs when environmental and genetic factors vary in a correlated way across different regions or subpopulations (e.g., because a group in which particular genetic variants are more common also share similar diets). Genetic confounding occurs when genetic differences that do not cause a trait are correlated with other genetic factors that do.²⁵³ Three major sources of confounding are discussed below: (i) population stratification (ii) familial confounding (due to the influences of family members on each other); and (iii) geographic confounding (due to regional differences in socio-economic factors).²⁵⁴

'Population stratification' is well-recognised problem with genetic studies, including the GWAS studies used to calculate PRSs. Population stratification occurs when a given

population is more likely to have a disease but also more likely to have certain genetic variants which are <u>not</u> linked to the disease. Statistical methods which compare one population to another will usually conclude that these genetic variants <u>are</u> linked to the disease, simply because they are more common in the population that gets the disease more often, even if they have nothing to do with the cause of the disease. This type of spurious association between genetic factors in disease (or other traits, such as height) has led to some major errors in the past.²⁵⁵

In short, PRSs, and estimates of variance explained by genotypes (i.e. of 'SNP heritability'), can be biased upward in the presence of confounding with population structure.²⁵⁶ Often, PRSs are reported only for people of 'European ancestry', with other groups (who are minorities in most studies) omitted from the calculations. This is a major problem because such PRSs may misclassify the genetic risks of people categorised as of different ancestries. In addition, even PRSs developed using only data from people classed as of 'European ancestry' may suffer from confounding due to hidden population structure within this group. Because this is a well-known problem, various corrections are now made for population stratification in the calculations of GWAS statistics and of PRSs, to try to eliminate this problem. However, these corrections also introduce uncertainties, have not eliminated the problem, and can create new problems due to the assumptions that are made, as discussed below.

The usual method used to correct for population structure is called 'principal-component analysis' (PCA).^{257,258} This is a method for reducing the complexity of data by allocating it into several categories (the principal components) that explain the largest fraction of variability in the data. Assigning genetically similar samples to different groups for analysis reduces stratification by limiting the degree of population structure remaining in the sample. As noted above, many PRSs are constructed by omitting data from people who are not classed as of 'European ancestry'. PCA is then used to correct for population structure within the 'European Ancestry' group. However, some GWAS may involve multiple different ancestries.²⁵⁹ In multi-ancestry studies, samples are either assigned to 'genetic ancestry groups' and each group studied separately, or the whole data set is analysed together, using methods to try to control for population structure. 'Genetic ancestry' really means 'genetic similarity' of particular continental groups (for example, groups defined as 'European', 'Asian', 'African' or 'Native American'). Consumer genetics companies calculate what they call a person's 'genetic ancestry' by defining particular 'source populations' from which all people alive today are assumed to have descended. These categories are inevitably somewhat arbitrary (based, for example, on naming ancestry categories which are similar to present-day populations) and involve choices and assumptions.²⁶⁰ In this method, 'source populations' are not necessarily explicitly defined but can be constructed implicitly by the algorithm.²⁶¹ Alternatively, broad categories can be chosen, such as the 'African', 'East Asian' and 'European' reference groups used by Myriad Genetics in a paper on its breast cancer PRS.²⁶² In theory, categorising people into different ancestry groups reduces the problem of 'population stratification' within each of these groups, but it does not eliminate it entirely, and it also often leads to individuals who don't fit well into the groups being dropped from the analysis.²⁶³ The 'genetic ancestry' assigned to each individual may also differ from their self-reported ancestry, particularly for those classed as non-European.²⁶⁴ Even if more diverse groups are studied in the future, individuals of mixed ancestry might need to be excluded if there are insufficient numbers for the statistical analysis. Although the 'genetic ancestry' groups are based on the clustering that the researchers see when they analyse the data, the choice of where to draw the boundaries between groups is essentially arbitrary. This is because human populations are not distinct.^{265,266}

Unfortunately, choices made when making corrections for population structure have major impacts on polygenic risk scores in all studies.²⁶⁷ This means that PRSs for complex diseases depend critically on the methods used to construct the scores. This is a major

source of unreliability. Even for the relatively simple example of height, PRSs vary significantly between studies and this can lead to seriously erroneous conclusions.^{268,269,270} This problem is considered so serious by some authors that they regard PCA as "*unsuitable for population genetic investigations*", due to findings that the method can generate "*erroneous, contradictory, and absurd results*" and recommend re-evaluating all PCA-based studies.²⁷¹

As noted in Section 5, even within Europe, the performance of PRSs drop significantly when applied to different European populations.²⁷² This may reflect different environmental or genetic backgrounds or more fundamental problems with the assumptions which mean that PRSs are poorly reproducible (discussed further below). This is in addition to the problem that most PRSs to date have been developed in populations categorised as of 'European ancestry', which are not representative of global populations.

A 2019 study of GWAS research found that, in total, 71.8% of participants are recruited from only three countries; the US, UK (with the most study participants), and Iceland (with the highest proportion of its population on a DNA database, run by the commercial company DeCode).²⁷³ There is much evidence that PRSs derived in a particular population give erroneous results if applied to people in different populations, particularly in groups described as of 'African ancestry'.^{274,275,276,277,278,279,280,281} Recently, there have been numerous calls to expand research studies to include greater diversity: this includes calls to recruit more study participants from minority ethnic groups in the UK and USA and plans to expand biobanks in other countries, particularly in Africa. However, to understand whether this is a good idea or not we need to understand why PRSs are not replicated well in different populations, and whether calculating PRSs for people of 'African ancestry' is really a good priority for health (this is discussed further in Section 8).

The advocates of PRSs tend to focus on genetic explanations for why PRSs do not work well when they are applied in different countries, because these could in theory be addressed by doing larger studies with more diverse populations and more detailed measurements, such as whole genome sequencing (WGS). One important issue is that GWAS rely on the fact that parts of the genome are inherited together in chunks (known as 'linkage disequilibrium'), so that the SNPs on the chip are inherited together with other causal SNPs. Because these chunks are different in populations with different ancestries, the relationship between the SNPs that are measured directly by the DNA chip and those that cause disease may be different in different populations.²⁸² Populations with different 'genetic ancestry' may also have different causal SNPs. Bias arises because most genetic variants causally linked with a disease are rare and population specific, and common variants linked with a particular disease are also often much more common in the study population than elsewhere.²⁸³ One study has found that PRSs inferred from European GWASs are biased by genetic drift in other populations even when choosing the same causal variants, and that biases in any direction are possible and unpredictable.²⁸⁴ Genetic drift is the change in frequency of an existing genetic variant in the population due to random chance: it can cause particular genetic variants to become rarer or more common in a given population, and even disappear.

Whilst these are major problems, and must be taken seriously, differences can also arise due to differences in environment.²⁸⁵ In particular, "*Non-genetic factors, such as environmental exposures may be correlated with ancestry due to a shared local environment (familial or community effects) or the relationship between ancestry and sociocultural factors such as race and ethnicity*".²⁸⁶ Recent simulations suggest that for common variants, differences in effect sizes have a bigger effect on limiting the predictability of diseases such as type 2 diabetes and rheumatoid arthritis in different populations, than the frequency of the variants.²⁸⁷ This could be partly due to the effects of unmeasured rare variants which are correlated with the measured SNPs, but it could also be due to gene-gene or gene-

GeneWatch UK September 2023

environment interactions (discussed further in the next subsection) or due to changes in effect sizes due to different exposures in different populations. For example, a genetic variant that is associated with skin cancer will have more effect where people are more exposed to radiation from the sun, and this can be influenced by social factors (such as whether people use sun cream and sun hats), as well as by geography. Thus, cultural variation is also part of environmental variation and may have larger effects on human adaption.^{288,289,290} Different populations, and different social and ethnic groups within a given country, will have different environmental exposures, diets and social and economic circumstances. For example, in the UK, type 2 diabetes risk is higher in people classed as South Asian or African Caribbean, compared with those classed as European, but reduces in second-generation compared to first-generation immigrants, and is strongly influenced by obesity and socio-economic status.²⁹¹ As a result of varying environments and socioeconomic circumstances, risks associated with small genetic differences will be enhanced, reduced, or even disappear under different environmental conditions, and new ones will appear.^{292, 293} In a recent example, environmental factors appear to modify which genetic variants effect lipid levels in Uganda, compared to other countries.²⁹⁴ Due to this complexity, simply doing more genetic studies will not resolve the problem of the lack of transferability of PRSs between different populations (see also Section 8).

Poor reproducibility of PRSs between different European populations has also been observed.²⁹⁵ As well as genetic differences, confounding of environmental and genetic effects is possible, including of social effects.^{296,297} Although genetic risk scores derived from people classed as of African ancestry tend to perform better in sub-Saharan Africa than scores derived from people classed as European, there is poor transferability between different populations within Africa.²⁹⁸ This is not surprising when considering the diversity of populations within Africa (cultural, linguistic, phenotypic and genetic).²⁹⁹ If the effect sizes of genetic variants depend not only on ancestry but also on environment, the transferability of genetic scores from one population to another will be limited.³⁰⁰

'Downward causation' is a term used to describe social forces acting on (selecting and sorting) individuals based on phenotypes (a person's observable characteristics, such as skin colour or height).³⁰¹ This creates artificial genetic associations. For example, if people with red hair were excluded from school, poor educational attainment would be associated with genetic variants contributing to red hair, although the cause of the lack of education would be the social policy. GWAS and PRSs can therefore capture artificial genetic signals, which may be particularly important in the context of racism (see Section 8).

Confounding is one type of bias, 'collider bias' is another. This occurs when there is a third (unknown) factor (the 'collider') influencing the outcome of the study.³⁰² This could be another factor leading to bias in GWAS and PRSs, particularly when genes and environment are correlated and when there is selection bias in the study (i.e., the people in the study are not representative of the general population).^{303,304}

Unlike population stratification, familial confounding and geographic confounding have only recently begun to be discussed in the context of GWAS.³⁰⁵

It is well known that both social and environmental effects can cluster in families.³⁰⁶ The effects of this clustering on health or education can be wrongly attributed to shared genetic factors, when social privilege or a family preference for healthy diets is really what is being passed on to the next generation. Nevertheless, familial confounding is a relatively new area of study for geneticists. Some researchers argue that the parents' genes (or genes of other family members) have indirect effects on a child via the rearing or social environment of the family.^{307,308} An example is the idea that parents with certain genes might feed their children more. These genes would then be statistically associated with the child being overweight, even if they had no direct effect on the child's weight. However, other

researchers object to the idea of 'indirect genetic effects', because there is no evidence of a causal effect of parents' genotypes on their children.³⁰⁹ Familial confounding could also be due, not to indirect genetic effects, but to shared rearing environments such as social status, culture, worldviews, values and habits. If these are amplified over generations they are known as 'dynastic effects'. Such gene-environment correlations can inflate estimates of genetic influences, especially for complex social traits where the transmission of social advantages such as status and wealth are significant.³¹⁰ Like population stratification, familial confounding will also bias genetic effect estimates in GWAS. Genetic studies, including GWAS, also generally assume 'random mating', whereas in reality 'assortive mating' occurs in human populations: for example, couples often have similar levels of educational attainment, height, or socio-economic class. Assortive mating is another source of bias which can exaggerate the estimated SNP heritability of a disease or trait.^{311,312} Evidence that many SNPs affect multiple different human characteristics or diseases (known as 'pleiotropy'³¹³) may also be influenced by indirect genetic effects, although the extent of this remains unclear.^{314,315} PRSs for many apparently unrelated diseases appear to be correlated, however a recent study suggests that these findings are biased, and that the apparent correlations may be caused by the effects of assortive mating.³¹⁶

Geographic confounding occurs due to regional differences in socio-economic or environmental factors.³¹⁷ It can involve active processes such as selective migration or 'brain drain' (particular types of people leaving an area), or passive processes such as government policies affecting particular socio-economic groups (that may share certain genes). As with familial confounding, this can mean that certain genetic variants are associated with poor health outcomes, even though those genetic variants are not causing the disease. Geographic confounding has been shown to exist, although its importance is unclear.³¹⁸ This type of confounding is likely most important for traits related to socio-economic status, such as educational attainment, but may also be important for overall health. Participation bias (the tendency of studies such as UK Biobank to include more people who are wealthier and in better health than the general population, for example), can also distort genetic associations (increasing or decreasing the effect size of a SNP, and changing SNP heritability estimates).³¹⁹

7.2 Conceptual issues: do PRS algorithms make the right assumptions?

Section 6 highlighted the low values of 'SNP heritability' estimated for common diseases and explained how the 'SNP heritability' places an upper limit on the proportion of the variance that can be explained by SNPs using a DNA chip, and hence on the predictive value of a PRS. Section 6 also highlighted the gap between the estimated 'SNP heritability' of a trait or disease and its heritability calculated using studies of twins. Although 'SNP heritability' and heritability from twin studies can be compared directly for continuous traits (such as height and BMI), care should be taken because they do not measure exactly the same thing.³²⁰ For diseases, the situation is even more complicated because of the assumptions that are made about the underlying liability to disease.³²¹ Nevertheless, as described in Section 6, high heritabilities from twin studies are often used to justify the development of PRSs. In this subsection we discuss whether the apparent gap is due missing variants that have yet to be discovered, or whether there are fundamental problems and biases in the way that heritability is calculated using data from twin studies. These potential problems relate to the complexity of complex traits and hence the assumptions made when PRSs are calculated. Thus, in some cases they raise doubts about the reliability of the algorithms and whether undertaking larger or more detailed studies, or more studies in different populations, can ever improve the predictive value of genetic risk predictions. In reality, both explanations could play a role and the gap referred to as the 'missing heritability' could be partly closed in future without necessarily improving PRS predictions or their transferability from one population to another.³²²

Classical methods of estimating heritability from twins or relatives (known as 'top down' approaches) are based on the idea that traits that are more highly correlated among relatives are more heritable.³²³ On average siblings share half their genome by descent from their parents. Thus, there is a direct relationship between the correlation of a trait like height between siblings and its heritability, provided some assumptions are made. These assumptions relate to the relationship between the extent to which the genotype is shared and the extent to which the trait is shared (using a model developed by the eugenicist Ronald Fisher in 2018, discussed further below³²⁴). Because siblings may also share environments (to an unknown extent), it is not possible to be sure that shared traits are due to shared genes, rather than shared environments. Therefore, twin studies are often used, based on the 'equal environments' assumption that identical twins (monozygotic twins, born from a single egg) and non-identical twins (dizygotic twins) share their environment to the same extent. Twin studies rely on many assumptions that can lead to over-estimates of heritability. Only one of these is the 'equal environments' assumption.³²⁵ Others include assumptions about a lack of statistical interactions between genes (epistasis), or between genes and environment, and a lack of assortive mating (the tendency of people to marry people of a similar height and level of educational attainment, for example). It is now widely recognised that early estimates from twin studies were biased and gave results that were too high, although there is little agreement on the extent of the bias, or its main causes.^{326, 327} Possible explanations are discussed in more detail below.

Methods of calculating SNP heritability from GWAS are based on the same underlying idea but use observed genotype data to estimate heritability from the relatedness of individuals and the correlation of their measured traits, in a given study population.³²⁸ There are many different methods of calculating SNP heritability that may give rise to different estimates.³²⁹ A study of common measured traits (such as height, BMI and educational attainment) in 86 billion pairs of individuals has concluded that the SNP heritability tends to underestimate the pedigree-estimated heritability, due to incomplete linkage disequilibrium in distant relatives (meaning that rare SNPs are imperfectly tagged by the DNA chip). ³³⁰ However, this study also finds "*further evidence for the systematic inflation of heritability estimates from classic twin studies*", which it attributes largely to the effects of assortive mating. Nevertheless, this study has not completely resolved the debate regarding the extent and causes of the bias in twin study results.

For many traits and diseases there is still a large gap between the 'top down' heritability estimated using twin and family studies and the 'bottom up' SNP heritability. Some scientists argue that there is no reason to question the validity of the methods used to calculate PRSs (using the weighted sums of risk alleles), as: the risk distributions are what Fisher predicted for a large number of variants with weak effects, there seems to be no evidence for strong gene–gene interaction (discussed further below), and the PRSs that have been developed generally work (to the extent described above) in external validation samples.³³¹ In this view, the gap between the 'top down' heritability and the SNP heritability is likely to be explained by other types of variants that are not captured by GWAS, including rare non-coding variants and tandem repeat variants (a sequence of two or more DNA bases that is repeated numerous times).³³² This idea is discussed further below.

However, other scientists believe that there is something fundamentally wrong with the methods used to calculate heritability and the associated genetic risks, including polygenic risk scores (PRSs). One major underlying issue is that calculations of heritability assume that the distribution of a characteristic such as height in a given population can be split into genetic and environmental components, when in reality each depends on the other and interact in many complex ways.^{333,334} Additional uncertainty is introduced by the idea that there is a hidden liability to a disease, which manifests itself only when a threshold is exceeded, because the calculated heritability depends on the assumptions made about
something that does not exist and hence is not observable.³³⁵ Heritability calculations also make unsubstantiated assumptions about how the risk of each genetic variant combines to create the total risk of disease: this is based on the so-called 'additive' genetic model, invented by the eugenicist Ronald Fisher in 1918.³³⁶ The additive model is used when calculating 'SNP heritability' but it is also relevant to how heritability is calculated using twins. In these calculations, the additive contribution is assumed to dominate, with smaller interactive terms allowed to explain only the residual part of the variance. For traits (such as height) the additive model is used directly, but for diseases, it is important to be aware that the additive model is used on the liability scale (due to the assumption made regarding a hidden liability to disease) and this means it is multiplicative on the risk scale (although it is sometimes still referred to as the 'additive' model).³³⁷

Estimates of heritability from twin and family studies are highly variable between studies and some of this is due to poor study design, including questionable assumptions that bias twin study results upwards (such as assuming there is no shared environment).³³⁸ Other assumptions are embedded in all twin and family studies. All current methods of calculating heritability continue to assume the genetic risks of each SNP combine in a way described by Fisher's 'additive' model, which implies that there are limited gene-gene or geneenvironment interactions or correlations between genetic and environmental factors (these are only introduced as secondary effects to explain data that does not fit the additive model). The way that the genetic components of the variance are split into additive and other more complex components, inevitably leads to the conclusion that there is a large additive component (and hence that interactions are unimportant).³³⁹ However, in reality, a given genetic variant does not appear to carry a fixed risk but has effects dependent on the context (other genes, the rest of biology, and the environment). Unsurprisingly, Fisher's model (devised by a eugenicist in 1918, before the famous 'double-helix structure of DNA was even discovered), is difficult to reconcile with much that is now known about evolutionary biology. One opinion piece notes that, "The current models are stretched to their limits and require substantial adjustments to explain and deal with the observations", but also observes "strong resistance to change in this field".³⁴⁰

In essence, estimating heritability from twin data involves fitting the data to Fisher's model, but the assumptions made in doing so lead to a calculation of the <u>maximum</u> possible role of genetic differences in any given disease or trait, and provide, not a true value of the heritability, but an <u>upper limit</u> to it.^{341,342} In other words, data from twins alone does not provide enough information to calculate heritability without making additional assumptions, which tend to bias the results upwards.³⁴³ If any of the assumptions made are wrong, genetic differences will be less important than expected and the potential predictive value of measuring them will be reduced. In addition, the results could be more difficult, and perhaps impossible, to calculate.

Recent research suggests that the non-additive component of the variance is small (meaning it adds little to the SNP heritability).³⁴⁴ However, this does not mean that it is unimportant. Non-additivity may be widespread throughout the genome, but much larger studies may be needed to detect it (this paper estimates such studies would need to include 7.5 million samples). The authors consider only dominance variance (nonlinear interaction effects between alleles at the same place, or locus, on the genome), but epistasis (interactions between alleles at different loci) may also be important. Importantly, non-additive effects can create 'phantom heritability', i.e., lead to the over-estimation of heritability in twin and family studies.³⁴⁵ Some researchers argue that epistasis has major implications for personal genetics.³⁴⁶ One view is that epistasis may in fact dominate the variance in many situations, leading to inflated estimates of heritability: this is expected due to the effects of natural selection which removes the additive genetic component of the variance over time.^{347,348} Underlying this is the idea that evolution has developed robust systems by evolving redundant gene networks that are resistant to fluctuations, both genetic

and environmental.³⁴⁹ However, different definitions of epistasis have been used by different scientists, and in general the importance of epistasis in limiting the predictability of common diseases, is unknown.³⁵⁰ Gene-environment interplay (consisting of both interactions and correlations between genes and environment) may also play a role.^{351,352} Some evidence of genome-environment interactions has been published in some studies: a recent study of depression is an example.³⁵³ Interpretating these findings and their implications is not straightforward and account must also be taken of the assumptions regarding a hidden liability to disease, which in practice means the standard model is multiplicative on the disease risk scale.³⁵⁴ However, in general, if interactions are more important than has been assumed, the 'top down' estimates of heritabilities that are made today (e.g. from twin studies) will be overestimates.^{355,356,357,358,359} And, importantly, obtaining more sequencing data may not improve the accuracy of PRS predictions.³⁶⁰

Another view, which attempts to reconcile those who support the 'additive' model with those who argue that reality is more complex, is that "core" genes (for which the gene product has a direct effect on the trait or disease) explain a small proportion of the heritability in a relatively simple way, whereas "peripheral" genes (which affect the disease or trait indirectly through a network of interactions) explain a larger part, and gene-environment interactions provide another layer of complexity.³⁶¹ This 'omnigenic' model can potentially be extended by considering both 'core' and 'peripheral' environmental effects. In this model, the effects of 'core' genetic variants would be largely consistent across populations, but the effects of 'peripheral' genes would not be (due to differences in the structure and complexity of the peripheral gene network, the nature and extent of environmental interactions, and the genetic architecture of the trait). In this model, genetic variance would appear additive within a population, but the effect sizes of many variants would change in different populations. Since such variants make up most of the heritability, the majority of variants would have different effect sizes in different populations (as has been observed) and PRSs developed in one population would not generally transfer well to another, and would differ across time.³⁶²

Random ('stochastic') variation is also minimised when Fisher's model is fitted to twin data, or treated as a part of the environmental variance, yet it likely plays a major part in the diseases people get and their characteristics and behaviours.³⁶³ For example, as described above, the risk of contralateral breast cancer is poorly predicted by PRSs and other known risk factors, even though a woman's breasts will in general have the same environmental exposures throughout life, as well as the same genes.³⁶⁴ Similarly, a recent study found the frequency of cancer arising in the contralateral kidney after cancer in the first kidney was only 1.2%.³⁶⁵ This is not surprising, as many environmental exposures that cause cancer involve random processes.³⁶⁶ In addition, even identical twins reared in the same environment inevitably vary in their characteristics, and a study in mice that had been inbred (so they were nearly genetically identical), in controlled environments, found that most of the variance (70 to 80%) in body weight could not directly explained by either genes or environment.³⁶⁷ An alternative explanation for this finding is the existence of non-linear (chaotic) developmental processes.^{368,369}

Above, we have discussed concerns that heritabilities from twin studies may be overestimated. Alternatively, could SNP heritabilities be significantly underestimated, suggesting that PRS predictions could be significantly improved, perhaps by including more detailed genetic variantion from whole genome sequencing (WGS), rather than from SNPs?

The 'heritability gap' (or part of it) might occur because SNPs do not capture all the genetic variation between individuals. For example, for schizophrenia, the 'top down' heritability is estimated at 60–80% and the SNP heritability in studies to date is around 24%.³⁷⁰ Copy number variants (CNVs) occur where a particular section of DNA is repeated a different number of times in different people. Finding CNVs involved in the risk of some diseases might explain some 'missing heritability', however CNVs are rare and therefore likely to

account for only a small proportion of heritability.^{371,372,373} Whereas a SNP changes a single chemical letter (nucleotide) in the DNA sequence, an indel incorporates or removes one or more nucleotides, and some SNVs which disrupt gene function may occur too rarely to be picked up in a GWAS. However, in schizophrenia, rare gene-disruptive rare SNVs, indels, and Copy Number Variants (CNVs) appear to account for less than 10% of the variance.

Estimates of 'SNP heritability' do not rely on the 'equal environments' assumption. However, other problems can still affect these estimates. Different assumptions made when SNP heritabilities are calculated lead to different answers.³⁷⁴ Other issues include the existence of confounders such as hidden 'population stratification', familial confounding and geographic confounding, all of which can lead to heritability being over-estimated.^{375,376,377,378,379,380}

For example, one recent study estimates SNP heritabilities using a large group of 178,086 siblings.³⁸¹ This can provide less biased estimates because the 'within-sibship' SNP heritability calculations are unlikely to be affected by 'familial confounding'. In this study, the within-sibship SNP heritability for educational attainment was only 4% (compared to 13% from the general population), and for height was 34% (compared to 41% in the general population). This is consistent with other findings that the predictive values of PRSs are reduced in siblings compared to non-sibling pairs, with particularly large reductions for educational attainment.³⁸² It suggests that at least some estimates of SNP heritability have been biased upwards, particularly for social traits. In the higher estimates, some of the SNPs could be tagging shared geography, class, affluence and culture, rather than SNPs that directly affect a person's supposed inherent capacity to study.

On the other hand, SNP heritability estimates can be underestimates due to imperfect tagging of SNPs by the DNA chip.³⁸³ Thus, it is possible that the calculated SNP heritability might be increased if whole genome sequences are used instead of SNP chips, as all the possible genetic differences between individuals can then be included. However, the evidence for this (discussed below) is, so far, not particularly encouraging.

One study published to date (which is not yet peer reviewed) uses Whole Genome Sequences (WGS) to estimate the heritability of height and Body Mass Index (BMI). This should find any missing heritability due to genetic variants that are not captured by DNA chips. This study states in the discussion that "Our estimates largely but not fully recover the heritability estimated from pedigree data". However, this is not really the case for BMI: after correction for population stratification (discussed in Section 7), the study estimates a heritability of 0.6 (60%) for height and 0.23 (23%) for BMI.³⁸⁴ In UK Biobank, the SNP heritability calculated for height is 0.485 and for BMI is 0.249.385,386 Thus, using whole genome sequences has slightly increased the calculated heritability for height (compared to that calculated using SNPs) but not increased it at all for BMI. Elsewhere in the paper, these authors note that the pedigree estimate (based on relatives or twins) for the heritability of height is 0.7 to 0.8 (which they describe as close, although it remains higher than their calculation), but for BMI is 0.4 to 0.6, which is much larger than the study could find in the measured genome sequences. A large study has reported a heritability estimate of 0.66 for height from siblings, after accounting for assortive mating (which biases results from close relatives upwards to 0.82 in this paper).³⁸⁷ This paper finds that heritability estimates for BMI are not biased by assertive mating and reports a SNP heritability of 0.239, an estimate from close relative pairs of 0.497, and an estimate from full-sibling pairs of 0.807. Thus. the WGS results have not closed the 'heritability gap' for BMI, but returned a result rather similar to the SNP heritability.

A study using WGS in animals (three different breeds of bulls) found that WGS did not explain any more of the variance in stature than SNP panels containing 50,000 SNPs.³⁸⁸ In addition, the use of a more limited set of 133 SNPs with potential causal effect gave better predictions across breeds than using larger numbers. In humans, a more recent study has

attempted to quantify whether rare whole-genome sequencing variants might explain the 'missing heritability' by looking at their contribution to the variance in the levels of 414 difference proteins in human blood (plasma proteins).³⁸⁹ It finds that these rare variants identified using WGS may be important in calculating an individual's risk, but they add little to the existing SNP heritabilities (accounting for 8.5% of the heritability at most, depending on the method and population studied). This is because the variants that have the most effect are extremely rare.

A more recent study of 22 common traits and diseases in UK Biobank includes only coding variants (the part of the genome known as the 'exome').³⁹⁰ It finds that rare coding variants explain only 1.3% of the variance on average (much less than common variants) and that rare coding variants will contribute only modestly to 'missing heritability'. These findings are supported by a subsequent paper led by scientists from the US company Illumina (see Section 9).³⁹¹ Looking at 78 phenotypes, including both medical diagnoses and laboratory tests (such as cholesterol levels) in exomes from 454,712 UK Biobank participants, this study reports that the average phenotypic variance explained was 10.1% for a commonvariant PRS, 0.4% for a rare variant PRS and 10.4% when using a combination of the two methods. Although this industry-led study claims that combining rare variants (which have relatively large effects) into a unified genetic risk model results in "greatly improving the clinical utility of genetic-based risk prediction", this claim is based solely on the increased power to detect individuals in the very 'high risk' tails of the distribution (above the 99% percentile). It does not address the issue that low heritability will limit the predictive value of the combined PRS, as measured by the AUC, even if rare variants are included (see Section 5 and Section 6). Thus, the addition of rare coding variants will not significantly improve the utility of the PRS as a screening test, or render it any more meaningful for the vast majority of individuals in a population. Although this study argues for increasing sample sizes in biobanks, because the number of rare variants identified increases linearly with sample size, the effect sizes of rare variants discovered in larger samples will be smaller, limiting the additional contribution to the explained variance. These two studies do not quantify the effects of rare non-coding variants (i.e., the parts of the genome outside the 'exome'), which could explain more of the 'missing heritability'.³⁹² However, other research suggests that coding variants explain a much larger fraction of the heritability for low-frequency variants than for common variants (due to negative selection) and this suggests that rare and ultrarare non-coding variants would also explain little of the heritability and would also not explain the 'missing heritability'.³⁹³

Thus, the evidence suggests that the performance of PRSs as screening tools in the general population will not be much improved by the inclusion of rarer genetic variants, if these could be identified using exome or whole genome sequencing.

Some of the issues discussed in this subsection are related to disagreements about the 'conceptual model' (in this case Fisher's model) which is used to analyse the data. In science, conceptual models change as evidence accumulates that the old model cannot explain. An example is the Ptolemaic model in which the planets move around the sun on circular orbits, compared to more recent models in which the planets (including the earth) all move round the sun. It is important to understand that even the Ptolemaic model has some predictive value, especially if additional circles (called epicycles) are added to the orbits to obtain a better fit to observations of how the planets move across the sky. In many fields of science, it is recognised that uncertainty caused by the wrong conceptual model is much greater than uncertainty due to noisy data, i.e., changing the conceptual model can make a much bigger difference to predictions. However, in the development of PRSs, alternative models are commonly dismissed, leading to the risk of 'confirmation bias' (the tendency to interpret information in a way which confirms one's own views).³⁹⁴ The problem for researchers is that, if Fisher's model is wrong (overly simplistic) and/or GWAS and PRSs are inevitably confounded by environmental influences, it becomes impossible to split to

GeneWatch UK September 2023 variance of a trait into separate genetic and environmental components, and the whole idea of calculating PRSs could then fall apart.

Correcting this problem likely requires properly accounting for complexity.^{395,396} This is because decisions to use models that do not incorporate complex interactions are based primarily on hypotheses of convenience and not on plausible biological phenomena that are inherently complex.³⁹⁷ Although it is statistically convenient to treat the genome as a kind of 'genetic code' in which each SNP has a fixed effect on the risk of a disease, this is not how biological systems actually work. Developments in this area will likely depend on developing a better understanding of metabolic pathways and how the biology underlying such pathways results in complex interactions, within and between cells and the environment.^{398,399,400,401,402} However, although such work might improve understanding, it is important to note that it is not expected to improve the predictive value of PRSs.

The above issues are important for several reasons. Firstly, low SNP heritability puts an upper limit on the predictive value of PRSs, as described in Section 6, but the 'bottom down' calculations of higher heritabilities (e.g., from twin studies) have led some to believe that this might be improved by using larger studies and perhaps whole genome sequencing (WGS). However, if these heritabilities have been exaggerated there is little scope for developing future methods that have much higher predictive value. This is because any calculation of genetic risk will inevitably have poor predictive value if (measurable) genetic differences are not particularly important in determining which people will develop a disease. Secondly, lower heritability means higher uncertainty in an individual's polygenic risk score, even if the 'additive' model is correct, so that a given individual cannot be confident that they have been correctly informed whether they are at high genetic risk or not.⁴⁰³ Already, the predictive value of PRSs are low (Section 5) and the complexity of issues such as accounting for hidden population structure and bias in datasets cast major doubts about the reliability of PRSs (Section 7). Thirdly, the transferability of PRSs from one population to another may not be solvable by further studies if the effect sizes of most SNPs vary from one population to another (particularly if they depend not only on the genetics of the population but also the environment).⁴⁰⁴ If the 'additive' model is (even partly) wrong and the real relationship between genes and disease is much more complex, involving many interactions, individual risk predictions could become completely meaningless and impossible to calculate. In fact, some scientists have long-argued that the predictive value of small genetic differences will be extremely limited.405,406

Hence, despite the claimed progress in identifying many rarer, smaller SNPs of small effect, using larger studies, the development of PRSs remains highly controversial. Many scientists remain to be convinced that PRSs are useful tools for health or that future research can improve their predictive value. Evidence suggests that, as old conceptual models are abandoned, 'top down' estimates of 'heritability' are likely to become smaller and more realistic, and the role of random variation, complexity and inevitable uncertainty will have to be acknowledged. Tests of low predictive value should not be rolled out as screening tests in whole populations, although they may have more limited applications in specific situations.⁴⁰⁷

8. Race, eugenics, societal impacts and global implications

"In humans, race is a socially constructed designation, a misleading and harmful surrogate for population genetic differences, and has a long history of being incorrectly identified as the major genetic reason for phenotypic differences between groups. Rather, human genetic variation is the result of many forces— historical, social, biological—and no single variable fully represents this complexity...The structure of genetic variation results from repeated human population mixing and movements across time, yet the misconception that human beings can be naturally divided into biologically distinguishable races has been extremely *resilient and has become embedded in scientific research, medical practice and technologies, and formal education.*" Committee on the Use of Race, Ethnicity, and Ancestry as Population Descriptors in Genomics Research, US National Academy of Sciences, 2023.⁴⁰⁸

"Encouragement of the biomedical community to transition from race-based to raceconscious research is critical. Although hundreds of studies have demonstrated worse health outcomes for Black patients than other races, race is a social construct and not a causal variable or a surrogate for innate biology. Thus, while Black race may be associated with worse health outcomes on a population level, Black patients also are affected by structural racism and disparities in SDOH [Social Determinates of Health], regardless of their income class or educational level." Medical researchers in the USA, 2022.⁴⁰⁹

In Section 7 above, we discussed why PRSs are usually not replicated well in different populations. But we glossed over what is meant by a population, and by people's 'genetic ancestry' and ethnicity. The discredited idea of 'race' and racism is based on the idea that some people are genetically superior or inferior to others.⁴¹⁰ The methods used to calculate PRSs involve corrections for 'genetic ancestry', and/or the removal of certain groups from the analysis, as described in Section 7 above. The use of 'genetic ancestry' has been criticised because it risks perpetuating old ideas of racial types in the creation of supposedly distinct categories that name people as Africans. Europeans, Asians and Native Americans. for example.^{411,412} These categories are inevitably arbitrary and, furthermore, as discussed in Section 7 above, data belonging to people who don't fit neatly into these categories is often discarded in the process of developing PRSs. At the moment, most PRSs are based on data from people classed as of 'European ancestry'. When data from multiple populations or different ethnic groups is used, the use of such categories is largely hidden in the calculations, but this may not remain the case if PRSs are fed back to individuals. There is a danger that these categories reinforce racist beliefs (such as the idea that there are different 'breeds' of human, or that some groups of people are superior to others), even though this is not supported by the evidence.413,414,415

Who should use a 'White British' PRS or an 'African' or 'Asian' PRS? Will PRS calculations incorporate calculations of 'genetic ancestry', or use self-reported ethnicity in ways that people are not told about? For people who migrate from one country to another, should they use a PRS developed in their country of origin, or the country they have moved to (where their environmental exposures, socio-economic circumstances and habits may have changed, and where complex social effects may lead to changes in the younger generation⁴¹⁶)? What about people who do not fit easily into these simplistic categories?

Race and racism have biological consequences for racially defined groups.⁴¹⁷ Systematic racism is a more plausible explanation than any genetic explanation for the finding that African Americans suffer worse health outcomes than European Americans. There is no evidence that Africans have more unfavourable genetic variants than non-Africans.^{418,419} In addition, race and ethnicity are often correlated with socio-economic status and other environmental risk factors for disease.⁴²⁰ For example, one recent US study found lower state-average educational quality was more common among Black individuals and associated with higher dementia risk.⁴²¹ As described in Section 7, genetic studies tend to attribute effects that may be caused by social or environmental factors to genetic ones, thus distracting from social and environmental causes (including racism), as well as emphasising risk factors that cannot be modified, rather than ones that can. This leads to criticism that indigenous peoples, for example, are implicitly expected to give their DNA to further genomics projects as conceived by Europeans. Critics argue that such projects define indigenous peoples in a particular way, as genetically distinct peoples that white scientists have the right to control and study.⁴²²

A recent study reports multiple issues with the handling and interpretation of DNA data from Roma people (the largest minority group in Europe).⁴²³ In many cases, samples have been collected from people and/or shared without adequate consent or any record of consent and deposited in public databases, including for law enforcement purposes. In others, participants seem to have given some kind of consent, but it is unclear whether they understood exactly how their DNA would be used. Genetic researchers use disrespectful, stigmatizing and pejorative terms such as 'Gypsies' or 'inbred', or refer to Roma people as a 'genetic high-risk group' in publications, and use guestionable methodologies to draw conclusions about the Roma people as a whole. This problem is not limited to this minority. Similar issues led the Diné (Navajo people) in the USA to establish a moratorium on human genetic research studies.⁴²⁴ In 2010, Havasupai tribal members in Arizona were awarded damages and repatriation of blood samples used for genetic research purposes outside the original consent.⁴²⁵ Numerous indigenous peoples have had their DNA sampled in the past based on broad verbal consent and two journals have recently retracted six papers that use DNA from Chinese minority ethnic groups. Some researchers have highlighted the possibility that genetic research could risk the stigmatization or discrimination against ancestral groups in Africa (if these are defined based in their genetic similarity, as discussed in Section 7).⁴²⁶ Mistrust has also been created in Africa by what is known as the 'Sanger incident', in which samples and data collected by academics in South Africa were allegedly used for the development of commercial gene chips (although this has been denied).⁴²⁷

The evidence of poor health outcomes in ethnic minority populations is often used to reinforce the idea of race, i.e., to interpret the differences as due to biology (specifically genetics), rather than environmental and socio-economic factors (including the effect of racism). In turn, this influences the questions researchers ask and the way they interpret their data, to reinforce a racialized view of human biology.⁴²⁸ Examples of detrimental impacts include more than a decade of research which attempted to characterise the high incidence of type 2 diabetes in indigenous populations (particularly the Native American Pima people) as due to genetic differences (compared to white Americans), whilst ignoring the impact of a major shift from rural, healthy diets to dependency on unhealthy food aid.^{429,430,431} A recent meta-analysis of prostate cancer studies found that Black men in the USA have similar or better prostate cancer outcomes when access to care is equal and social determinants of health are properly considered: yet, much research has focused on attempting to find biological (usually genetic) explanations for why prostate cancer outcomes are worse in Black patients in the general population.⁴³² From genetic researchers' point of view, attempts to expand sample collection to more diverse populations may be driven by a desire to improve statistical studies by capturing as wide a range of genetic variation as possible.⁴³³ However, this is not the same as including historically disenfranchised groups in research that could improve their health, and, according to this study, "it remains unclear whether and how procuring more samples of underrepresented genetic variation will mitigate health disparities for underrepresented groups". If this type of research is a poor priority for improving the health of such populations, seeking to enrol them in genetic studies - as opposed to addressing inequalities or relevant socio-economic and environmental factors (see Section 5) - is the wrong approach.

Other problems are exemplified by a recent study of PRSs for psychiatric disorders (schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression) amongst US military veterans.⁴³⁴ In this study, participants were classified as being of African or European ancestry using a method which combines information on genetic ancestry with self-identified race/ethnicity (SIRE), but which prioritises SIRE unless this information is missing, and recognises that SIRE acts as a surrogate to an array of social, cultural, behavioural, and environmental variables, many of which are correlated with trait variation or disease risk.⁴³⁵ Nevertheless, in this study of psychiatric illness PRSs, the groups are referred to as of 'broadly European ancestry' and 'broadly African ancestry' throughout, implying that the differences between the groups are

essentially genetic. The study reports that the PRSs can identify high risk groups for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder amongst those it describes as of 'European ancestry', with smaller effects sizes in the group categorised as of 'African ancestry', but does not calculate any measures of predictive value (which is likely to be poor, see Section 5). Not highlighted in the abstract or the summary, but noted in the text, is the much higher absolute risk of schizophrenia and major depression amongst those described as being of 'African ancestry', and the fact that the study did not look at aspects of the veterans' military service which might explain the much higher rates of psychiatric disorders in veterans than the general population. The stark differences between the risk of schizophrenia and depression in veterans defined as of 'African ancestry' compared to those in the 'European ancestry' category is illustrated in another paper by the same group (which also continues to focus on the role of PRSs).⁴³⁶ By focusing only on genetic explanations for risk, and using the term 'ancestry' to describe what are largely social categories, these studies, like many others, risk diverting attention away from potentially modifiable causes of poor mental health. This problem may be exacerbated when genetic studies are expanded into other countries, where historic, economic, and social contexts may be very different.437

This problem is reinforced by the ongoing use of the model developed by the eugenicist Ronald Fisher in 1918, as discussed in Section 7, to which the data from GWAS is usually fitted, and which always maximises the calculated role of genetic differences in explaining individual differences.

In Section 7 we discussed why many genetic researchers are calling for greater diversity in genetic studies. But would undertaking large GWAS studies in Africa, and calculating PRSs for people categorised as of 'African ancestry' really be good for people's health?

Firstly, this report has questioned whether PRSs are a good priority for health, even in rich countries (see Sections 5, 6 and 7 above). The 'individualised' approach, with its potential to undermine public health, is likely an even poorer priority in low- and middle-income countries, with more limited infrastructure and more pressing social and environmental problems. Secondly, there are reasons to believe that PRSs will have even poorer predictive value in countries with greater genetic diversity. Thirdly, issues of privacy (Section 11), stigma and discrimination may be exacerbated in some countries: for example, identifying non-paternity has more serious implications for women in countries where sex outside marriage is illegal, and in countries with poor human rights records there may be greater concerns about how political opponents (and their relatives) could be tracked using their DNA. Finally, who decides that PRSs should be a priority in Africa, for example? Currently, this is not a bottom-up decision but a top-down one, easily influenced by vested interests (see Section 9), and global power dynamics, rather than by the best priorities for health.⁴³⁸ Even within wealthy countries, the general public, and particularly minoritized communities, may feel they don't have a lot of say over research priorities. For example, in the UK, the Nuffield Foundation on Bioethics asked a focus group at the West Bromwich African Caribbean Resource Centre about the future of ageing.⁴³⁹ The group valued independence, strong social relationships and fundamental living requirements, such as warm housing, as important attributes to ageing well and some felt a lack of trust in technology, public bodies and commercial companies, especially when considering how their personal data might be used and stored. Throughout their discussion, there was reportedly a greater emphasis on community and fundamental needs being met than on new technology.

There are many potential broader social impacts of implementing PRS. For example, PRSs could be used to seek to predict educational attainment. This is despite the fact such scores suffer from the same limitations as those for complex diseases, including poor predictive value for individual pupils, low heritability, high risk of misclassification, and the likely existence of confounding factors.^{440,441,442} A detailed analysis of research in the area of genetics, intelligence and behaviours (such as criminality) is beyond the scope of this report,

but many conclusions drawn from developing PRSs for complex social traits are likely to be misleading.⁴⁴³ If PRSs are used widely in medicine, it is highly likely that PRSs will also be developed for such traits, potentially leading to controversial applications outside of medicine. There is a long history of attempts to use claims about genetic differences to advance unjust social policies.⁴⁴⁴ In all such cases, there is a risk that policies and resources could ultimately be decided based on genetic categories, rather than on a person's own achievements or behaviour. This problem is exacerbated because GWAS and PRSs can wrongly attribute social causes to genetic differences (discussed as 'Downward causation' in Section 7).⁴⁴⁵ For example, if people with darker skin have poorer access to good education, due to a legacy of racism, genetic variants associated with dark skin may appear to be associated with lower educational attainment, even though this association is not causal. This could exacerbate racism if it leads some to claim that people with darker skin are inherently incapable of high educational attainment. The same could apply to people from a lower social class.

This blurring of the boundaries between health and behavioural research is already happening. For example, some researchers have questioned the use of 'broad consent' for UK Biobank, because studies of the genetics of same-sex sexual behaviour have been conducted using the genetic information in this data set, although the consent given by participants refers only to "health-related research purposes". 446,447 Almost any behaviour can be interpreted as 'health related', rendering this kind of broad consent effectively meaningless. Similarly, a recent study of the genetics of educational attainment used data from the UK Biobank and 23andMe, amongst others, although it is at least debatable whether UK Biobank participants would regard this as a 'health-related research purpose' (23andMe uses an even broader consent to 'scientific research' for customers who opt-in to research). Data from the US 1000 Genomes Project were also used: participants who consented to this project were told it would help "find genes and genetic variants related to health and disease".⁴⁴⁸ These examples highlight how little control people taking part in genetic research may have over the kind of studies that are done. Because UK Biobank does not feed back research results, no direct harm to participants occurred. However, in future projects, PRSs may be provided directly to participants and stored in medical records or even on people's mobile phones. Calculating PRSs for sexual behaviour could be particularly dangerous in countries where homosexuality is illegal (even though the predictive value of such PRSs would likely be very low).449

In the case of autism, a large-scale GWAS (Spectrum 10K, funded by the Wellcome Trust) has been paused due to ethical concerns raised by members of the group targeted by the research.⁴⁵⁰ Such a step is unprecedented. One issue raised by some is the difference between the perspective of neuro-minorities, such as autistic people, that they are a normal part of human diversity (the 'neurodiversity paradigm'), and the view of biomedical and genetics researchers that autism is a disease or disorder that should be cured or eradicated. This is complicated by the spectrum of severity of the condition and the reality that some parents of children with severe autism may view the issues differently.⁴⁵¹ Some critics of the proposed research argue that as long as some traits and differences are stigmatized. developing PRSs for those traits paves the way for genetic selection and eugenics.⁴⁵² Other critics argue that it is not clear how the study will improve participants' well-being, and that its aim seems to be more about collecting DNA samples and data sharing than about the people who are expected to take part.⁴⁵³ In 2018, 63 percent of autism research funding (\$247 million) in the USA went to risk factors and biology, with just 9 percent (\$36 million) of funding to services and lifespan issues, which are of more importance to autistic people and their families.⁴⁵⁴ The Spectrum 10K study is currently undergoing a review, including a consultation process with autistic people and their families, before planning to re-start. 455,456

A particularly controversial application of PRSs is in embryo selection. Although widely criticised on ethical and scientific grounds, PRSs are already being marketed in the USA to

parents using in vitro fertilisation (IVF).^{457,458,459,460,461} If PRSs are provided to whole populations, it is likely that some people will wish to use the scores for embryo selection, even if they are not in reality useful for this purpose. This exacerbates concerns about stigma and discrimination being associated with being categorised as at 'high genetic risk'. Concerns also include the potential revival of eugenic policies of the past, under which 'undesirable' traits were supposed to be eliminated from the gene pool.⁴⁶²

Stigma and discrimination may take different forms. For example, there is potential for genetic discrimination in insurance and employment. A wide variety of (partial) safeguards have been adopted to limit or prevent genetic discrimination in different countries.⁴⁶³ However, these are far from comprehensive, raising concerns that genetic risk predictions could lead to the refusal of insurance, higher premiums, or reduced employment prospects.

9. Commercial interests, power and control

"An overwhelming sense of hype and a rush to translate dominates the field of genetic research of disease prediction using genetic risk scores (GRSs)" (A group of nine medical researchers, 2020).⁴⁶⁴

The enthusiasm for PRSs can partly be explained by the role of vested interests.

In the early days of the Human Genome Project, the tobacco industry and the food industry were major players who invested in genetic research and promoted the idea of identifying individuals who are 'genetically susceptible' to common diseases such as cancer, hypertension and type 2 diabetes. Such companies wished to emphasise genetic causes for diseases such as cancer, rather than their own products, and to promote 'personalised' prevention strategies, rather than population-wide restrictions on the products that they sell.^{465,466} In addition, the pharmaceutical industry became interested in the idea of treating the 'pre-symptomatic patient', which could lead to a significant expansion in the market for medicines.^{467,468,469} This would expand the drug market for healthy, wealthy people, rather than poor people who are more likely to be sick. Today, pharmaceutical companies have several different motivations for investing in genetic research, including potential drug discovery, as discussed below. Most major public research funders no longer collaborate with the tobacco industry, and thus its role is now very limited. However, major players promoting the future use of PRSs today are companies supplying DNA testing services and equipment, and computing companies who will store and/or analyse the data. The scientists working in this field also have a major interest in obtaining funding for their work.

A major player in most genetic studies is the US company Illumina, which is a major supplier of DNA chips and of genetic sequencing technologies and is seeking to increase its revenue.^{470,471} A rival US company, Thermo Fisher Scientific, is also a significant player in this market.⁴⁷²

For example, the contract for the DNA chip design and manufacture for the UK's 'Our Future Health' project (which aims to return PRSs to 5 million participants) has been awarded to Illumina Cambridge Ltd, whereas genotyping participants in UK Biobank originally used a DNA chip from Affymetrix (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific).^{473,474} Illumina is also one of the founding industry members of 'Our Future Health', as is Thermo Fisher.⁴⁷⁵ As well as profiting from genetic research studies, these companies hope to convince investors that the future market for their products could include whole populations. The US company Allelica (see also Section 5) has offices in New York, London and Rome and is seeking to commercialise PRSs for multiple diseases.⁴⁷⁶ Allelica and Illumina have a licensing arrangement that allows Illumina to offer Allelica's PRS software to its customers.⁴⁷⁷ Illumina researchers recently proposed the idea of adding a 'rare variant' PRS (based on data from

exomes, rather than DNA chips) to a 'common variant' PRS (based on data from DNA chips), in order to seek to address some of the problems with PRSs discussed in this report.⁴⁷⁸ This paper claims to have greatly improved the clinical utility of genetic risk prediction, yet, as discussed in Section 7, the combined PRS reported in it only very marginally improves the potential predictive value in the general population. The 'competing interests' section of this paper shows that the methods have been patented, providing an extra commercial incentive to promote them. Illumina is a partner of Genomics England to deliver whole genome sequencing in the NHS, and thus might expect to profit from a method that combines both DNA chip and sequencing technologies.⁴⁷⁹

Illumina has been particularly active in lobbying to seek to expand its market in the UK. In 2009, the then CEO of Illumina told the Times that by 2019 it would have become routine to map infants' genes when they are born, and that conditions such as diabetes and heart disease could be predicted and prevented.⁴⁸⁰ These claims were made despite the fact that, at that time, attempts to predict such diseases from genetic information had been a total failure.⁴⁸¹ The claims were linked to plans by the then UK Government, led by Tony Blair, to share heath records and genetic data without consent, which were subsequently dropped.482 A decade later, former Prime Minister David Cameron reportedly lobbied the then health secretary Matt Hancock to attend the September 2019 International Summit on Population Genomics alongside Illumina's then executive chair Jay Flatley, months before Illumina won a £123m contract with Genomics England (a company owned by the Department of Health and Social Care).⁴⁸³ Cameron did not lobby on the Illumina contracts and was subsequently cleared of accusations of unregistered lobbying for Illumina.⁴⁸⁴ However, he did promote the idea of expanding genomic sequencing. His spokesman stated, "David Cameron's work for Illumina has never involved any discussion of commercial contracts. It has predominantly involved promoting the benefits of genomic sequencing and the world-leading example of Genomics England to other countries around the world. He has done this in Australia, the US, the Gulf, India and more recently in online calls with interested parties in Japan and Holland". 485 Hancock was also directly involved in claiming that genetic predictions of common diseases would be good for health. The former Health Secretary was highly criticised by experts for claiming that a supposedly predictive genetic test for 18 diseases, developed by Genomics England, meant he was at high risk of prostate cancer and that it had led him to book a blood test on the NHS.^{486,487} The Secretary of State was accused of showing an "astonishing level of ignorance" about the use of such tests.⁴⁸⁸ Writing in the British Medical Journal, researchers note, "the then UK health secretary Matt Hancock told the Roval Society that having a polygenic score for prostate cancer "may have saved my life" and he would ensure that he did not "miss any screening appointments in the future" after being told that he had a 15% risk of developing prostate cancer by age 75. neglecting to mention that the background population risk is 13% and that there is currently no screening programme for prostate cancer in the UK".⁴⁸⁹ This example illustrates how politicians may receive and promote a biased view of the potential benefits of PRSs, influenced by commercial interests. The lobby group Public Policy Projects is also funded by Illumina and other companies with an interest in genomics.⁴⁹⁰ Its reports include 'Genomics' Revolution', which states that "Polygenic risk scores could be routinely used in primary care to identify those patients at highest risk from cardiovascular conditions and other disease". 491

In addition to the role of DNA testing companies, such as Illumina and ThermoFisher, other companies seek to profit from selling the interpretations of genetic data, either by selling PRSs Direct to Consumer (DTC) or to health services (or both), and/or by selling access to genetic data to other companies to do research.

In the USA, some PRSs are already being sold direct-to-consumer (DTC), largely via the internet. For example, the company 23andMe has one of the largest customer bases for DTC genetic tests, reportedly containing more than 2.5 million customers.⁴⁹² 23andMe began marketing a new (unregulated) polygenic risk score for type 2 diabetes in 2019,

although the numbers of 23 and Me's customers that have been given the PRS are currently unclear. 23andMe uses a custom Illumina DNA chip.⁴⁹³ Much larger numbers of customers have taken 23andMe's genetic ancestry tests, so their total test kit sales had reached 11 million in 2021 and 13 million in 2023.^{494,495} 23andMe was acquired by Richard Branson's Virgin Group in a \$3.5 billion deal in 2021, despite being a loss-making company (its net loss for 2023 is predicted to be from \$325 million to \$335 million).⁴⁹⁶ Virgin Group's interest was reportedly due to the potential use of its customer data in drug discovery (via deals with large pharmaceutical companies).^{497,498} Other companies developing or selling commercial PRSs (via clinicians, rather than directly to consumers) include Myriad Genetics (based in the USA) and Genetic Technologies (in Australia).^{499,500} Genetic Technologies describes its PRS as a 'consumer-initiated' test, meaning that consumers order it but results are analysed a delivered by a physician.⁵⁰¹ US company Ambry Genetics has reportedly removed their polygenic score product from the market because polygenic scores 'have not been validated for use in patients of diverse backgrounds'. ⁵⁰² Some small companies are attempting to market PRSs online: for example, Estonian company Antegenes is marketing PRSs for cancer in the UK, via a company called 'Everything Genetic Ltd'. 503,504 Antegenes is a spinout company from the University of Tartu, which maintains the Estonian Biobank (containing the DNA of 200,000 individuals genotyped with an Illumina DNA chip).⁵⁰⁵ Other companies that currently sell tests of single genes for clinical use are conducting research on PRSs and considering marketing such tests in future.

The pharmaceutical industry has a variety of different interests in GWAS, including but not limited to developing PRSs. Identifying new causal genetic variants involved in a disease can help understand the mechanisms of disease and potentially lead to identifying new drug targets, even if the predictive value of these variants is poor. However, this requires considerable additional research and the Human Genome Project has not led to the bonanza of new drug targets that was originally claimed.⁵⁰⁶ As described in this report, developing PRSs is of significant commercial interest because they can potentially be used to expand the drug market to 'pre-symptomatic' patients (people categorised as at 'high genetic risk' of a disease). In addition, some researchers believe that PRSs could be used to speed up clinical trials, because results might be obtained faster by testing drugs only in those classified as at 'high genetic risk', although there are significant potential problems with this idea (including the need for participants to take a genetic test of little relevance to them, as discussed in this report).⁵⁰⁷

In 2021, there were 41 active national genomics projects around the world, studying human genomic variation, with a variety of aims (as well as developing PRSs, these can include identifying disease mechanisms and drug targets).⁵⁰⁸ Many of these involve public-private partnerships, with public funding used to set up the biobanks (samples linked to genetic and medical data) and commercial companies (largely pharmaceutical companies) paying to gain access to the data for research. In addition, DNA testing companies, such as Illumina and Thermo Fisher, are involved, as well as companies providing services to store and analyse the data. The majority of GWAS publications have been funded by the United States' National Institutes of Health (NIH), with UK funders second (14% of grants acknowledged in GWAS publications, funded mainly by the Medical Research Council, the Wellcome Trust and Cancer Research UK).⁵⁰⁹ The numbers of participants in GWAS (from 2007 to 2017) were led by the US, with nearly 11 million (41.01% of the total) and UK with 2.25 million (10.45% of the total), followed by China (7.96%), Japan (7.66%), South Korea (4.08%), Finland (3.47%), the Netherlands and Germany (2.79% each), Australia (1.75%) and Iceland (1.13%). GWAS can be used for purposes other than calculating PRSs (for example, as a step towards identifying the biological function of genes involved in a disease). However, the papers cited in this report highlight that developing PRSs is a major driver for this kind of study, particularly in the US and Europe, and there are significant commercial interests involved in this approach. Large studies calculating PRSs are also taking place in China⁵¹⁰ (with the same limitations as US and European studies⁵¹¹).

GeneWatch UK September 2023 The Global Biobank Meta-analysis Initiative (GBMI) is a relatively new collaborative network of 24 biobanks including samples and data from more than 2.2 M individuals. The Uganda Genome Resource has recently been added to the network of 23 other biobanks (one from Australia, one from West Asia, four from East Asian countries, eight from European countries, and nine from North America).⁵¹²

Numerous other genomic medicine initiatives exist worldwide, although many are at an early stage of development, and not all will lead to the development of PRSs.⁵¹³ Concern about the poor reproducibility of PRSs in non-European populations has led to a number of initiatives to expand data collection in other countries, for example, the Human Hereditary and Health in Africa consortium (H3Africa) is funded by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the UK's Wellcome Trust.⁵¹⁴ However, as noted in Section 8, it is unclear whether the priorities of US and UK funders really align with the healthcare needs of the targeted populations. Other studies are looking into the possibility of sequencing the genome of every baby at birth, again with a focus on the US and UK: this is controversial but is not discussed further here, since the primary aim is diagnosis of genetic disorders, not the calculation of PRSs.⁵¹⁵ However, many of these projects propose storing genomes for life, so the feedback of PRSs could happen in the future.

The research projects discussed above are generally not currently feeding PRSs back to individuals, due to the uncertainties in their interpretation, and (in some cases) lack of consent to this from study participants. However, there are already some exceptions and some proposals to change this in the future. In Finland, 3,177 Finnish individuals in the P5 Study have been given estimates of genetic and absolute risk of future type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease, based on PRSs and clinical risk factors, via an online portal.⁵¹⁶ In the USA, the eMERGE (electronic MEdical Records and GEnomics) network is a national network funded by the National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI).⁵¹⁷ The eMERGE network has selected 10 PRS for initial clinical implementation by returning results to 25,000 people, recruited to include a high proportion from ethnic minority groups.^{518,519} In the UK, there are plans to provide PRSs to over 5 million people in the National Health Service (NHS), as part of a new partnership between the NHS and private companies, called "Our Future Health" (OFH) (formerly known as "Accelerating Detection of Disease").⁵²⁰

Participants in 'Our Future Health' (OFH) in the UK will be recruited via the NHS (including via its blood donation programme) but the storage and analysis of data will be undertaken by commercial companies: hence, this is essentially a commercial enterprise, fronted by the NHS and provided with some public subsidy. At its own mobile recruitment clinic, OFH offers free health checks as an incentive to sign up, as well as promising future feedback: "At their clinic appointment, as well as having a blood sample and some physical measurements taken, volunteers will be offered information about their own health, including their blood pressure and cholesterol levels. In the future, volunteers will also be given the option to receive feedback about their risk of some diseases and have the opportunity to take part in cutting-edge research studies".⁵²¹ In January 2022, OFH announced £100 million in investment from life sciences companies, which are leading its design and delivery.⁵²² OFH also received initial funding of £79 million from UK Research and Innovation (i.e., funding from the UK Government). Unlike many other genetic research projects, OFH plans to feed PRSs back to participants, using scores that would be based on SNP data from DNA chips. The project's protocol states (p.51) "Our Future Health is committed to providing individuallevel genomic results, in particular genomic risk scores, to participants who consent and wish to receive this type of information".⁵²³ This is despite most experts in a recent study stating that PRSs are not ready for clinical application.⁵²⁴ On its website, OFH makes claims, such as, "In the context of heart disease, Our Future Health's extensive database will allow researchers to drastically improve the tools doctors use to predict a patient's risk of heart disease - and even allow interventions to begin before the disease has started in a person's

body" and "The programme will be producing integrated risk scores which include information on genetic susceptibility which will show more accurately who is at higher risk of common diseases".⁵²⁵ Such claims are highly misleading in the context of the poor performance of PRSs, and the limited scope for significant improvement (as discussed in Sections 5 and 6). There are links between the OFH project and the UK company Genomics PLC (see Section 5), which is preparing to market PRSs commercially.⁵²⁶ In October 2022, Our Future Health announced a partnership with Genomics PLC to generate polygenic risk scores (PRSs) for volunteers who join the study.⁵²⁷ In March 2019, Genomics PLC put out a press release in which Professor Sir John Bell, Regius Professor of Medicine, University of Oxford, and leader of the UK Government's life sciences industrial strategy said: "In December 2018 the government announced the Accelerating Detection of Disease programme as part of its life sciences sector deal to harness the use of artificial intelligence (AI) to support research, early diagnosis, prevention and treatment across the major diseases. The data released today by Genomics plc clearly demonstrates the potential of approaches such as the use of polygenic risk scores to help catch diseases early or even prevent them altogether."528 Professor John Bell (now Professor Sir John Bell) has argued for genetic risk predictions to be rolled out across the UK National Health Service (NHS) since 1998.⁵²⁹ As well as being the Government advisor who first proposed the project, he is a director of the companies 'Our Future Health'530, 'Our Future Health Trading Ltd'531, Genomics England Ltd.⁵³², and of Oxford Science Enterprises PLC⁵³³ (formerly Oxford Sciences Innovation, OSI), one of Genomics PLC's investors. Genomics PLC announced it had successfully completed a \$30 million funding round in March 2021, with investors including Foresite Capital and F-Prime Capital, as well as existing backers Oxford Sciences Innovation and Lansdowne Partners.⁵³⁴ As noted above, Illumina is also one of the founding industry members of 'Our Future Health', as is Thermo Fisher.⁵³⁵ Eurofins Genomics will undertake the genotyping using a customised Illumina DNA chip.⁵³⁶ Other founding industry members include pharmaceutical companies such as AstraZeneca, GlaxoSmithKline and Roche.⁵³⁷ The medical testing firm Randox is also on this list.⁵³⁸ By describing itself as a research project, OFH is likely to side-step any processes set up to assess or regulate PRSs, including their predictive value or cost-effectiveness (see Section 10). This could have major implications for NHS resources, and potentially shift control over treatment decisions away from doctors, to algorithms controlled by private companies.

In the USA, the Broad Institute (of MIT and Harvard) is one of the main research centres with a vested interest in the commercialisation of PRSs. An article describing the work of some of its researchers includes a footnote that they are "co-inventors on a patent application for the use of genetic risk scores to determine risk and guide therapy". ⁵³⁹ It is now common for academics working in this area to declare 'competing interests'. For example, one US study of how to report PRS results to patients in the US eMERGE network, lists interests of seven of the authors in 18 different companies, although these researchers are based mainly at the Broad Institute and other academic institutes as well as hospitals in Boston.⁵⁴⁰ Whilst this paper cites a number of serious concerns (discussed in Section 5), its recommendations mainly focus on report design, without guestioning whether PRSs should be fed back to individuals in the first place. A second paper on the proposed feedback of genomic risks by the eMERGE network bases its selection of ten PRSs to return to participants on the existence of odds ratios greater than 2 in the 'high risk' category (defined as 2 to 10% of the population, depending on the condition), despite such odds ratios being associated with very poor predictive value (see Section 5). The PRSs are developed through a partnership with the Broad Institute and multiple authors declare conflicts of interest which include links with commercial companies including 23andMe, Allelica and Illumina.

Big computing companies also have an interest in genomics. For example, Microsoft and Amazon are expected to provide the cloud computing services for the pilot of the UK's 'Our Future Health'.⁵⁴¹ Google has interests in artificial intelligence (AI) and the analysis of genomes.⁵⁴² In the UK, the proposed handover of NHS patient medical records to US spy-

tech company Palantir has already raised significant privacy concerns (see also Section 11). ^{543,544} The vested interests of computing companies in storing ever increasing amounts of health and genomic data also raises important questions about the environmental impacts of biobanks and data centres. ^{545,546}

In addition to the role of specific companies, it is important to be aware of the broader context of healthcare. In particular, commercial interests could use PRSs to introduce new forms of bias in healthcare. Overuse of healthcare increases costs and can result in harm to patients because of overtreatment. A recent study found that higher amounts of overuse among US health systems were associated with investor ownership and fewer primary care physicians.⁵⁴⁷ This is relevant because PRS algorithms used in healthcare systems, such as the UK's NHS, would inevitably undermine the role of doctors acting as gatekeepers to decisions on healthcare and put recommendations into the hands of commercial companies. Because the PRS computer algorithms used to calculate people's genetic risks are a 'black box', it is easy for them to biased in ways that benefit commercial interests and lead to overtreatment. Further, the algorithms are so complex, doctors and their patients will be unable to make any meaningful check of the basis for the recommendations that they make. And since they are aimed at healthy people, decisions will not be made on the basis of the symptoms that a patient has. For example, the PRS algorithms might make recommendations for unnecessary tests or treatments, which could be extremely profitable. Treating rich, healthy people for diseases that they're never going to get is likely to be a much better market for healthcare companies than treating poorer people, who are more likely to be sick.

10. Lack of regulation

The benefits and risks of taking genetic tests are critically dependent on whether the risk information is reliable and has adequate predictive value (the 'clinical validity' of the test) and whether it is useful to decide who should take the proffered advice and hence improves health outcomes (the test's 'clinical utility'). There is widespread agreement on the standards that genetic and genomic tests should meet: however, there is currently limited monitoring or enforcement of such standards. This lack of regulation has been widely regarded as inadequate to protect consumers purchasing genetic tests sold direct-to-consumers (DTC) and users of genetic tests within health services.^{548,549,550}

Recognition of this problem eventually led to the development of the In Vitro Diagnostics Regulation (IVDR) in the EU, and to action by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the USA, which stopped some genetic tests from being marketed.^{551,552} However, 23andMe's PRS for type 2 diabetes, which is sold directly to consumers (DTC), is not regulated by the FDA. This is because 23andMe chose to sell it as a 'wellness' product, which is supposedly not intended to make diagnoses and provide medical advice.^{553,554} This loophole, which leads to some devices not being regulated, is problematic for both medical professionals and members of the public.^{555,556} Another loophole exists for Laboratory Developed Tests (tests developed by a single laboratory) in the USA, which may also be exempt from FDA oversight.⁵⁵⁷ The IVDR, which would require companies to provide evidence to support their claims, has not yet been implemented in the EU and future regulation in the UK is uncertain due to Brexit.

This means that there is currently no independent check of the claims companies are making about whether an individual is at high or low genetic risk of a particular disease. In the past (when fewer genes were included in the risk predictions), most commercial claims were demonstrably false.^{558,559} More recently, the UK House of Commons Science and Technology Committee⁵⁶⁰ and professional organisations such as the Royal College of Physicians and the British Society for Genetic Medicine have warned that the analytical

validity, sensitivity and clinical utility of direct to consumer (DTC) genomic or genetic testing may be much lower than is popularly perceived, and that for certain types of DTC results, there is a very high chance of false positive or false negative results.⁵⁶¹ This past experience, plus the lack of agreement between results from different algorithms (see Section 5), and poor reproducibility in different populations (see Section 7), should serve as red flags to warn that 'black box' algorithms used to calculate PRSs cannot simply be assumed to be correct, let alone to improve health outcomes. Although the developers of PRSs often claim they have solved earlier problems, there are still no safeguards to prevent false and misleading claims being made for PRSs. Because so many small effects on risk are combined into a single score, the algorithms are a 'black box' that is not straightforward to check. Unless these problems are addressed, members of the public will have no way of knowing whether results from PRSs are in any way reliable or useful for their health.

Some PRSs use machine learning approaches (sometimes referred to as Artificial Intelligence, or AI) in an attempt to improve predictions, but this also increases their complexity.⁵⁶² A recent review of medical applications of machine learning highlighted concerns that new machine learning models are being released after preliminary validation studies, without showing that they actually improve health outcomes in a 'gold standard' randomised clinical trial.⁵⁶³ This adds to concerns that PRSs could be rolled out despite poor clinical performance.

Other than regulation, there are some other checks on what kind of information can be fed back to patients taking tests within health services. For example, in the USA, the American Medical Association makes recommendations on what tests can be used for screening, and insurers decide whether or not to pay for certain tests. The American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG) has issued a statement warning that "there is currently limited evidence to support the use of PRS to guide medical management", but adherence to this statement is completely voluntary.⁵⁶⁴ Companies such as Allelica and Genetic Technologies (based in Australia) are in the process of trying to convince US health insurers that they should pay for PRSs, in the context of assessing risk for cardiovascular disease.^{565,566} In the UK, the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) makes recommendations on new technologies introduced into the NHS, and the National Screening Committee (NSC) advises ministers and the NHS on population screening. However, plans to feedback PRSs from research projects such as the UK's planned 'Our Future Health' could effectively side-step these processes, allowing genetic risk predictions to be fed back to participants with no independent assessment of whether they are good for health, or costeffective. In the USA, policies on the return of research results from genomic studies are still the subject of debate, and have tended to focus on rare genetic variants, rather than PRSs.⁵⁶⁷ However, the eMERGE network (described above) also plans to return PRSs to participants. Internationally, a wide variety of policies apply to feedback of research results, and there is significant debate about how to handle the questionable validity of findings.⁵⁶⁸

Errors in much simpler algorithms (such as those used to recommend patients for liver transplants, or suggest calorie intakes for people who are overweight) have already been identified in the UK NHS.^{569,570} However, to date, little attention has been paid to the likely consequences of errors and bias in PRS algorithms marketed by commercial companies. In particular, it remains unclear who might be liable for any harm to health.

11. Privacy, surveillance, commercial interests and the state

"Someday we'll have a complete pedigree of the entire human population, and everybody will be connected to everybody on a huge family tree that looks like Google Maps". Professor George Church, co-founder of the Human Genome Project, 2009.⁵⁷¹

There will be no secrets about paternity anymore". Professor Sir John Sulston, 2008.⁵⁷²

"People have to recognise that this horse is out of the barn, and that your genome probably can't be protected, because everywhere you go you leave your genome behind." Dr Jay Flatley, CEO, Illumina, 2009.⁵⁷³

"In the wrong hands, US genomic data poses serious risks not only to the privacy of Americans, but also to US economic and national security". Michael J. Orlando, Director, National Counterintelligence and Security Center, 2023.⁵⁷⁴

Rolling out Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) to whole populations requires the creation of vast DNA databases, linking individuals' biological samples (of their blood or saliva), to their genetic information (extracted from their DNA) and their medical records. Like fingerprints and iris scans, DNA is a 'biometric', i.e., it provides a biological measurement that can be used to identify individuals. In addition, it can also be used to find a person's biological relatives, since families share some of the same DNA.

A person's genome is their whole genetic make-up, but individuals can also be identified from smaller amounts of genetic information, including the information used to calculate their PRSs. If this genetic information is stored in a vast database, this can be used to track every individual and identify their relatives, including finding non-paternity.

A 2022 investigation of Direct to Consumer (DTC) genetic testing companies by Consumer Reports in the USA found that they employ policies and practices that their experts regarded as unnecessarily compromising privacy, with particular concern about the risks of opting in to data being shared for research.⁵⁷⁵

A 2022 study by the British Medical Journal (BMJ) found that hundreds of organisations (pharmaceutical companies, private healthcare providers and universities) had breached NHS patient data sharing agreements but not had their access to patient data withdrawn. "High risk" breaches involved handling information outside the remit agreed in data contracts which could lead to breaching confidentiality.⁵⁷⁶ Currently, genetic data is not stored in electronic medical records in the UK NHS or other health services, but this is expected to change if PRSs are rolled out to the whole patient population. Because genetic information is a biometric, it can be used as an identifier, and unlike non-biometric information (such as an NHS number) it can't be changed if it is compromised. In addition, genetic information can identify a person's children and grandchildren, hence security is important over the very long term. This may be difficult to maintain in the context of new technologies (such as quantum computing, which some believe may compromise encryption). ^{577,578}

Even if such DNA databases can be kept secure (which is extremely doubtful in the longer term), the return of PRSs to individuals means that security is much more likely to be compromised. Once shared with individuals (for example, via apps on mobile phones), genomic data will be at risk of being shared more widely or of being hacked. This information will also be available for commercial exploitation by commercial companies who have access to the data (for example, by selling products to people supposedly at 'high genetic risk', or identifying and marketing products to the relatives of people who are sick).

A person's genome (or a panel of SNPs from a DNA chip) is sufficient to identify an individual (like a 'genetic fingerprint'), so this data cannot truly be anonymised. The disclosure of limited other information, such as health diagnosis codes, alongside a persons' genome, may be sufficient to identify them by comparing DNA sequences from a research project with electronic medical records.⁵⁷⁹ Based on genetic information alone, in the

absence of any identifying information, an individual can be identified if their relative is in a genetic database, even if they themselves are not, because people share parts of their DNA with their families.⁵⁸⁰ In the USA, there is already sufficient information in public genetic genealogy databases to deduce the identity of many individuals by triangulating other information such as surname, age and state.⁵⁸¹ Alternatively, an individual's surname can sometimes be deduced from information about DNA on the Y-chromosome that is passed down the male line (although such deductions will not always be correct).^{582, 583}

Governments, security services and police will also be able to access genetic information, although in many countries they will need an order from a court.^{584, 585} Laws that currently limit police access to such databases can easily be changed by future governments. Access to genetic information is unlikely to be restricted to a single country: for example, a recent example showed that using a genetic test provided by a Chinese company is likely to mean genetic information is sent to China.⁵⁸⁶ In the USA, concerns have been raised about potential Chinese state access to the genomes of American citizens.⁵⁸⁷ However, risks of 'genomic surveillance' are relevant not only under foreign or authoritarian regimes but also under democracies.⁵⁸⁸ Since genomic data is expected to be shared internationally, individuals (including political dissidents, for example) could be tracked down wherever they are, and their relatives could also be identified and targeted. In many countries, women could be in danger if non-paternity is exposed, families could be broken up, vulnerable people (such as people on witness protection schemes or fleeing domestic violence) could have their identities exposed, or powerful people could be blackmailed if children born outside marriage can be identified.^{589,590} In addition, categories derived from statistical analysis of genetic data (such as 'genetic ancestry', predicted health risks, or claimed genetic propensities to certain behaviours) can lead to stigma and discrimination (see Section 8).

The privacy risks associated with genetic studies increase as they grow in size and attempts to protect privacy are undermined by plans to give polygenic risk scores (PRSs) to individuals, perhaps linking them to their electronic medical records, or allowing them to be stored on people's mobile phones. For example, as discussed in Section 9, in the UK there are plans to provide PRSs to over 5 million people in the National Health Service (NHS), as part of a new partnership between the NHS and private companies, called "Our Future Health".⁵⁹¹ The project protocol states that data will be held securely in a Trusted Research Environment (TRE), based in the Cloud (likely using a Microsoft datacentre, with backups by Amazon, according to p.68 of the project's protocol), rather than on the project's own servers (as has been the case with the existing genetic research projects UK Biobank and the 100,000 Genomes Project). There are plans to provide copies of the TRE to (unspecified) commercial partners, who can then access the data directly and share it further with others (p. 64 of the protocol).⁵⁹² In effect, the project will use the NHS to recruit participants to provide genomic and health data to private companies. Although the project will resist access by the police, the protocol (p.61) accepts that this cannot be guaranteed.

As noted above, other studies are looking into the possibility of sequencing the genome of every baby at birth: these proposals are not discussed in detail in this report (because their main focus is on genetic disorders, not PRSs), but they would raise similar privacy concerns, exacerbated by the fact that babies cannot consent to the storage and use of their own DNA.^{593,594} Many of these projects propose storing genomes for life, so the feedback of PRSs could happen in the future.

In the UK, the sharing of NHS medical records (without genetic information) is already controversial, with US spy-ware company Palantir believed likely to win a new contract to create a new database.^{595,596} Intelligence agencies are increasingly buying private datasets and using software such as Palantir's to analyse the data.⁵⁹⁷ The NHS is also working on a plan to outline how NHS genomic data can be made interoperable with other NHS systems

data.⁵⁹⁸ Concerns raised in the UK about the potential handover of NHS patient medical records to Palantir would be exacerbated further in the future if these records included genomic data which could potentially identify every individual and their relatives.

Genetic information is generally not valuable unless it is linked in a database with people's names and addresses and other personal information. So, just leaving your DNA on a coffee cup, for example, is not sufficient to identify or track you and your relatives, if a database linking your DNA to your personal information and/or that of your family has not been set up. However, if your relatives are on a DNA database, you might still be identified even if you are not on the database yourself, because you share some of your DNA with them.

Currently, most people do not have genetic testing, unless it is directly useful to their health, and, even then, usually only small parts of a person's DNA are tested. Hence, calculating PRSs for everyone, or for a large part of a given population, would create a new system of surveillance on an unprecedented scale.

12. Conclusions

Using Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) in a population requires that everyone will have their genetic information and medical records stored in a vast database, potentially allowing every individual and their relatives to be identified and tracked. Advocates of this approach have sought to justify this level of surveillance by misleading claims about the future benefits to health.

However, Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) are highly controversial amongst scientists and the medical profession.

The idea that calculating every individual's genetic risk of developing common, complex diseases will be good for health is highly questionable because:

- (i) Polygenic Risk Scores (PRSs) are poor predictors of common diseases and many people will be wrongly categorised;
- (ii) Identifying large numbers of people as 'at high genetic risk' could lead to overtreatment and the marketing of medicines and other products to these people and their families and divert healthcare resources;
- (iii) Computer algorithms calculating risk are extremely complicated and difficult to check. The companies which write the algorithms will have unprecedented power to decide who is at 'high genetic risk', and thus to decide the size of the market for medicines and other health-related products;
- (iv) Major improvements in public health require social and environmental improvements for everyone, not just a minority with particular genes: for example, making sure that everyone can eat a healthy diet and breathe clean air. Targeting lifestyle advice at people identified as at 'high genetic risk' for particular diseases will not improve the health of the population as a whole, or tackle inequalities;
- Predictions of a person's risk of common diseases will always be limited by the complexity of these diseases, the limited importance of genetic differences, and the role of chance and other factors, including social and environmental ones;
- Different PRSs give widely differing results, with very high uncertainties, raising questions about whether people can really trust the algorithms, and how they will be regulated;
- (vii) Calculating PRSs is leading to racial categories being used in medicine in ways that could be dangerous and misleading, and that distract from the impacts of health inequalities and racism on health;
- (viii) PRS risk predictions will be even poorer for people outside the 'European ancestry' populations that are the subject of most studies, but this does not mean

that more genetic studies to develop PRSs in different populations are a good priority for health;

(ix) A focus on genetic factors in late-onset common diseases undermines better public health priorities, such as tackling the socio-economic and environmental factors that underlie most cases of disease, and leads to the imposition of the wrong research priorities on poorer communities and in lower-income countries.

Computer algorithms based on adding many small effects can give widely different answers, depending on who is included in computer databases and what assumptions have been made. Most people who are told they are at high genetic risk will never develop the predicted disease, so PRSs could lead to unnecessary treatment of those identified as at high genetic risk. In addition, most people who develop one of these diseases will not be categorised as at high genetic risk for that particular disease, so the majority of cases of disease will not be prevented using this approach. Many diseases could be prevented or delayed by a focus on healthy lifestyles for all, and tackling inequalities and pollution, regardless of the genes that people have. There is a risk that creating costly genetic databases diverts resources, and acts as a major distraction from creating a healthy environment for all. In essence, more and more advanced technology is used to study more and more trivial issues, while the major population causes of disease are ignored.⁵⁹⁹ This problem would likely be exacerbated in poorer countries, where PRSs are an even worse priority for health.

In addition, PRSs are largely unregulated, so individuals can be misled about their risk and make medical decisions based on erroneous results. PRSs are generally much worse predictors of disease than risk predictors based on other types of (non-genetic) information, and there are very large uncertainties in the predictions made for each individual. Different computer algorithms make wildly different predictions of risk for the same person. Further research is unlikely to improve the predictive value of such tests, which is limited by the low heritability of most of the relevant diseases and the complexity of the interactions between people's biology and their environment. In reality, increasing recognition of complexity is likely to reduce (not increase) the predictive value of future PRSs as more research is done.

Enthusiasm for PRSs is driven largely by commercial companies, who have vested interests in expanding the market for genetic testing, and gaining control of the genetic information of whole populations. There is potential for a massive expansion of exploitative marketing of drugs and other products to healthy people and their relatives, based on their claimed genetic risks. In addition, vast genetic databases could allow every individual and their relatives to be identified and tracked, and non-paternity to be identified, and will waste resources that could be better spent elsewhere. This contrasts with a more targeted approach in which genetic tests are used only when they are clinically relevant.

References

¹ Larsen, M. J., Thomassen, M., Gerdes, A.-M., & Kruse, T. A. (2014). Hereditary Breast Cancer: Clinical, Pathological and Molecular Characteristics. *Breast Cancer : Basic and Clinical Research*, 8, 145. <u>https://doi.org/10.4137/BCBCR.S18715</u>

² Evans, D. G. R., Veen, E. M. van, Harkness, E. F., Brentnall, A. R., Astley, S. M., Byers, H., Woodward, E. R., Sampson, S., Southworth, J., Howell, S. J., Maxwell, A. J., Newman, W. G., Cuzick, J., & Howell, A. (2022). Breast cancer risk stratification in women of screening age: Incremental effects of adding mammographic density, polygenic risk, and a gene panel. *Genetics in Medicine*, *0*(0). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gim.2022.03.009</u>

³ Forrest, I. S., Chaudhary, K., Vy, H. M. T., Petrazzini, B. O., Bafna, S., Jordan, D. M., Rocheleau, G., Loos, R. J. F., Nadkarni, G. N., Cho, J. H., & Do, R. (2022). Population-Based Penetrance of Deleterious Clinical Variants. *JAMA*, 327(4), 350–359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.23686</u>

⁴ Larsen, M. J., Thomassen, M., Gerdes, A.-M., & Kruse, T. A. (2014). Hereditary Breast Cancer: Clinical, Pathological and Molecular Characteristics. *Breast Cancer : Basic and Clinical Research*, 8, 145. <u>https://doi.org/10.4137/BCBCR.S18715</u>

⁵ Fan, X., Wynn, J., Shang, N., Liu, C., Fedotov, A., Hallquist, M. L. G., Buchanan, A. H., Williams, M. S., Smith, M. E., Hoell, C., Rasmussen-Torvik, L. J., Peterson, J. F., Wiesner, G. L., Murad, A. M., Jarvik, G. P., Gordon, A. S., Rosenthal, E. A., Stanaway, I. B., Crosslin, D. R., ... Chung, W. K. (2021). Penetrance of Breast Cancer Susceptibility Genes From the eMERGE III Network. *JNCI Cancer Spectrum*, *5*(4), pkab044. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jncics/pkab044</u>

⁶ Kingdom, R., & Wright, C. F. (2022). Incomplete Penetrance and Variable Expressivity: From Clinical Studies to Population Cohorts. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *13*.

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fgene.2022.920390

⁷ Cacace, R., Sleegers, K., & Van Broeckhoven, C. (2016). Molecular genetics of early-onset Alzheimer's disease revisited. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, *12*(6), 733–748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.01.012

⁸ Milko, L. V., & Khoury, M. J. (2022). Editorial: DNA-based population screening for precision public health. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *13*. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fgene.2022.1061329</u>
 ⁹ Weedon, M., Jackson, L., Harrison, J., Ruth, K. S., Tyrrell, J., Hattersley, A., & Wright, C. (2021). Use of SNP chips to detect rare pathogenic variants: Retrospective, population based diagnostic evaluation. *BMJ*, *372*, n214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n214</u>

¹⁰ Rasmussen, K. L., Tybjærg-Hansen, A., Nordestgaard, B. G., & Frikke-Schmidt, R. (2020). APOE and dementia – resequencing and genotyping in 105,597 individuals. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, *16*(12), 1624–1637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12165</u>

¹¹ Stites, S. D., Vogt, N. M., Blacker, D., Rambaugh, M., & Parker, M. (2022). Patients asking about APOE gene test results? Here's what to tell them. *J Fam Pract.*, *71*(4). https://doi.org/10.12788/ifp.0397

¹² Farrer, L. A., Brin, M. F., Elsas, L., Goate, A., Kennedy, J., Mayeux, R., Myers, R. H., Reilly, P., & Risch, N. J. (1995). Statement on Use of Apolipoprotein E Testing for Alzheimer Disease. *JAMA*, 274(20), 1627–1629. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1995.03530200063039

¹³ Rasmussen, K. L., Tybjærg-Hansen, A., Nordestgaard, B. G., & Frikke-Schmidt, R. (2020). APOE and dementia – resequencing and genotyping in 105,597 individuals. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, *16*(12), 1624–1637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12165</u>

¹⁴ Maher B (2008) The case of the missing heritability. *Nature*, 456 (6), 18-21.

¹⁵ Villiers, C. B. de, Kroese, M., & Moorthie, S. (2020). Understanding polygenic models, their development and the potential application of polygenic scores in healthcare. *Journal of Medical Genetics*, 57(11), 725–732. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2019-106763</u>

¹⁶ Janssens, A. C. J. W., & Joyner, M. J. (2019). Polygenic Risk Scores That Predict Common Diseases Using Millions of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms: Is More, Better? *Clinical Chemistry*, 65(5), 609–611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2018.296103</u>

¹⁷ Tony Blair's speech on scientific research to the Royal Society. 23rd May 2002. https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2002/may/23/speeches.tonyblair

¹⁸ Wallace, H. M. (2009). Genetic Screening for Susceptibility to Disease. In *ELS*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0021790

¹⁹ Wallace, H. M. (2009). Big Tobacco and the human genome: Driving the scientific bandwagon? *Genomics, Society, and Policy, 5*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-5354-5-1-1</u>

²⁰ Collins, F. S. (1999). Medical and Societal Consequences of the Human Genome Project. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *341*(1), 28–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199907013410106</u>
 ²¹ Bell, J. (1998). The new genetics in clinical practice. *BMJ*, *316*(7131), 618–620.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.316.7131.618

²² History of the proposal for data-sharing without consent. GeneWatch UK. 26th January 2009. http://www.genewatch.org/sub-568491

²³ Department of Health. (2003). *Our inheritance, our future: Realising the potential of genetics in the NHS: Department of Health—Publications.*

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Public ations/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4006538

²⁴ Strohman RC (1997) The coming Kuhnian revolution in biology. *Nature Biotechnology*, **15**:194-200
 ²⁵ Holtzman NA, Marteau TM (2000) Will genetics revolutionize medicine? *New Engl J Med*, **343**, 141-144.

²⁶ Vineis P, Schulte P, McMichael AJ (2001) Misconceptions about the use of genetic tests in populations. *Lancet*, **357**: 709-712.

²⁷ Baird P (2001) The Human Genome Project, genetics and health. *Community Genet*ics, **4**, 77-80. GeneWatch UK

²⁸ Cooper RS, Psaty BM (2003) Genetics and medicine: distraction, incremental progress, or the dawn of a new age? *Ann Intern Med*, **138**, 576-580.

http://mrw.interscience.wiley.com/emrw/9780470015902/els/article/a0005638/current/abstract?hd=All, 9780470015902.a0005638

³¹ Jakobsdottir J, Gorin MB, Conley YP, Ferrell RE, Weeks, DE (2009) Interpretation of genetic association studies: markers with replicated highly significant odds ratios may be poor classifiers. PLoS Genetics, 5(2), e1000337.

³² Goldstein DB (2009) Common genetic variation and human traits. New England Journal of Medicine, 360, 17.

³³ Janssens ACJW, van Duijn CM (2008) Genome-based prediction of common diseases: advances and prospects. Human Molecular Genetics, 17(R2), R166-R173

³⁴ Gartner CE, Barendregt JJ, Hall WD (2009) Multiple genetic tests for susceptibility to smoking do not outperform simple family history. *Addiction*, 104, 118-126.

³⁵ Munafò MR (2009) The clinical utility of genetic tests. Addiction, 104, 127-128.

³⁶ Pearce, N. (1996). Traditional epidemiology, modern epidemiology, and public health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *86*(5), 678–683.

³⁷ Janssens, A. C. J. W., Gwinn, M., Bradley, L. A., Oostra, B. A., van Duijn, C. M., & Khoury, M. J. (2008). A critical appraisal of the scientific basis of commercial genomic profiles used to assess health risks and personalize health interventions. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *82*(3), 593–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2007.12.020

³⁸ Sud, A., Horton, R. H., Hingorani, A. D., Tzoulaki, I., Turnbull, C., Houlston, R. S., & Lucassen, A. (2023). Realistic expectations are key to realising the benefits of polygenic scores. *BMJ*, *380*, e073149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-073149</u>

³⁹ Sud, A., Horton, R. H., Hingorani, A. D., Tzoulaki, I., Turnbull, C., Houlston, R. S., & Lucassen, A. (2023). Realistic expectations are key to realising the benefits of polygenic scores. *BMJ*, *380*, e073149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-073149</u>

⁴⁰ Truong K (2019) 23andMe launches new diabetes risk test, but experts are wary of its benefit. 11th March 2019. <u>https://medcitynews.com/2019/03/23andme-launches-new-diabetes-risk-test-but-</u>experts-are-wary-of-its-benefit/

⁴¹ Rose, G. (2001). Sick individuals and sick populations. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 30(3), 427–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/30.3.427</u>

⁴² Wang, Y., Feng, L., Zeng, G., Zhu, H., Sun, J., Gao, P., Yuan, J., Lan, X., Li, S., Zhao, Y., Chen, X., Dong, H., Chen, S., Li, Z., Zhu, Y., Li, M., Li, X., Yang, Z., Li, H., ... Qiu, S. (2022). Effects of Cuisine-Based Chinese Heart-Healthy Diet in Lowering Blood Pressure Among Adults in China: Multicenter, Single-Blind, Randomized, Parallel Controlled Feeding Trial. *Circulation*, *146*(4), 303–315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.122.059045</u>

⁴³ Wallace, H. M. (2009). Big Tobacco and the human genome: Driving the scientific bandwagon? *Genomics, Society, and Policy*, *5*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-5354-5-1-1</u>

⁴⁴ Your Diet Tailored to your Genes: Preventing Diseases or Misleading Marketing? GeneWatch UK. 15th May 2006.

http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/Nutrigenomics.pdf ⁴⁵ Langenberg, C., Sharp, S. J., Franks, P. W., Scott, R. A., Deloukas, P., Forouhi, N. G., Froguel, P., Groop, L. C., Hansen, T., Palla, L., Pedersen, O., Schulze, M. B., Tormo, M.-J., Wheeler, E., Agnoli, C., Arriola, L., Barricarte, A., Boeing, H., Clarke, G. M., ... Wareham, N. J. (2014). Gene-Lifestyle Interaction and Type 2 Diabetes: The EPIC InterAct Case-Cohort Study. *PLOS Medicine*, *11*(5), e1001647. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001647

⁴⁶ Stewart, K. F. J., Wesselius, A., Schreurs, M. A. C., Schols, A. M. W. J., & Zeegers, M. P. (2018). Behavioural changes, sharing behaviour and psychological responses after receiving direct-toconsumer genetic test results: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Community Genetics*, 9(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12687-017-0310-z</u>

⁴⁷ Horne, J., Madill, J., O'Connor, C., Shelley, J., & Gilliland, J. (2018). A Systematic Review of Genetic Testing and Lifestyle Behaviour Change: Are We Using High-Quality Genetic Interventions and Considering Behaviour Change Theory? *Lifestyle Genomics*, *11*(1), 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1159/000488086

²⁹ Vineis P, Ahsan H, Parker M (2004) Genetic screening and occupational and environmental exposures. *Occup Environ Med*, **62**, 657-662.

³⁰ Wilkie A (2006) Polygenic inheritance and genetic susceptibility screening. Encyclopedia of Life Sciences. DOI: 10.1002/9780470015902.a0005638.

⁴⁸ Turnwald, B. P., Goyer, J. P., Boles, D. Z., Silder, A., Delp, S. L., & Crum, A. J. (2019). Learning one's genetic risk changes physiology independent of actual genetic risk. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *3*(1), 48–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-018-0483-4</u>

⁴⁹ Pacyna, J. E., Ennis, J. S., Kullo, I. J., & Sharp, R. R. (2023). Examining the Impact of Polygenic Risk Information in Primary Care. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, *14*, 21501319231151770. https://doi.org/10.1177/21501319231151766

⁵⁰ Gilmore, A. B., Fabbri, A., Baum, F., Bertscher, A., Bondy, K., Chang, H.-J., Demaio, S., Erzse, A., Freudenberg, N., Friel, S., Hofman, K. J., Johns, P., Karim, S. A., Lacy-Nichols, J., Carvalho, C. M. P. de, Marten, R., McKee, M., Petticrew, M., Robertson, L., ... Thow, A. M. (2023). Defining and conceptualising the commercial determinants of health. *The Lancet*, *0*(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00013-2

⁵¹ Rashid, T., Bennett, J. E., Paciorek, C. J., Doyle, Y., Pearson-Stuttard, J., Flaxman, S., Fecht, D., Toledano, M. B., Li, G., Daby, H. I., Johnson, E., Davies, B., & Ezzati, M. (2021). Life expectancy and risk of death in 6791 communities in England from 2002 to 2019: High-resolution spatiotemporal analysis of civil registration data. *The Lancet Public Health*, *0*(0). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(21)00205-X</u>

2667(21)00205-X
 ⁵² Marmot, M., Allen, J., Goldblatt, P., Herd, E., & Morrison, J. (2020). *Build Back Fairer: The COVID-* 19 Marmot Review - The Health Foundation. <u>https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-</u>
 the-covid-19-marmot-review

⁵³ Puka, K., Buckley, C., Mulia, N., Lasserre, A. M., Rehm, J., & Probst, C. (2022). Educational Attainment and Lifestyle Risk Factors Associated With All-Cause Mortality in the US. *JAMA Health Forum*, *3*(4), e220401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamahealthforum.2022.0401</u>

⁵⁴ Yu, J., Patel, R. A., Haynie, D. L., Vidal-Ribas, P., Govender, T., Sundaram, R., & Gilman, S. E. (2022). Adverse childhood experiences and premature mortality through mid-adulthood: A five-decade prospective study. *The Lancet Regional Health – Americas*, *0*(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/i.lana.2022.100349

⁵⁵ Jeste, D. V., & Pender, V. B. (2022). Social Determinants of Mental Health: Recommendations for Research, Training, Practice, and Policy. *JAMA Psychiatry*.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.4385

⁵⁶ WHO. (n.d.). *Billions of people still breathe unhealthy air: New WHO data*. Retrieved 6 April 2022, from <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/04-04-2022-billions-of-people-still-breathe-unhealthy-air-new-who-data</u>

⁵⁷ Southerland, V. A., Brauer, M., Mohegh, A., Hammer, M. S., Donkelaar, A. van, Martin, R. V., Apte, J. S., & Anenberg, S. C. (2022). Global urban temporal trends in fine particulate matter (PM2·5) and attributable health burdens: Estimates from global datasets. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 6(2), e139–e146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00350-8</u>

⁵⁸ Khomenko, S., Cirach, M., Pereira-Barboza, E., Mueller, N., Barrera-Gómez, J., Rojas-Rueda, D., Hoogh, K. de, Hoek, G., & Nieuwenhuijsen, M. (2021). Premature mortality due to air pollution in European cities: A health impact assessment. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, *5*(3), e121–e134. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30272-2

⁵⁹ Ånenberg, S. C., Mohegh, A., Goldberg, D. L., Kerr, G. H., Brauer, M., Burkart, K., Hystad, P., Larkin, A., Wozniak, S., & Lamsal, L. (2022). Long-term trends in urban NO2 concentrations and associated paediatric asthma incidence: Estimates from global datasets. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 6(1), e49–e58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00255-2</u>

⁶⁰ Atwoli, L., Erhabor, G. E., Gbakima, A. A., Haileamlak, A., Ntumba, J.-M. K., Kigera, J., Laybourn-Langton, L., Mash, B., Muhia, J., Mulaudzi, F. M., Ofori-Adjei, D., Okonofua, F., Rashidian, A., El-Adawy, M., Sidibé, S., Snouber, A., Tumwine, J., Yassien, M. S., Yonga, P., ... Zielinski, C. (2022). COP27 Climate Change Conference—Urgent Action Needed for Africa and the World. *JAMA Health Forum*, *3*(11), e224566. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamahealthforum.2022.4566

⁶¹ Pearce, N. (1996). Traditional epidemiology, modern epidemiology, and public health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *86*(5), 678–683.

⁶² Sud, A., Horton, R. H., Hingorani, A. D., Tzoulaki, I., Turnbull, C., Houlston, R. S., & Lucassen, A. (2023). Realistic expectations are key to realising the benefits of polygenic scores. *BMJ*, *380*, e073149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-073149</u>

⁶³ Wald, N. J., Morris, J. K., & Rish, S. (2005). The efficacy of combining several risk factors as a screening test. *Journal of Medical Screening*, *12*(4), 197–201.

https://doi.org/10.1258/096914105775220642

⁶⁴ Hansen, M. S., Licaj, I., Braaten, T., Lund, E., & Gram, I. T. (2021). The fraction of lung cancer attributable to smoking in the Norwegian Women and Cancer (NOWAC) Study. *British Journal of Cancer*, *124*(3), 658–662. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-020-01131-w</u>

⁶⁵ Pencina, M. J., D'Agostino, R. B., Pencina, K. M., Janssens, A. C. J. W., & Greenland, P. (2012). Interpreting Incremental Value of Markers Added to Risk Prediction Models. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *176*(6), 473–481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kws207</u>

⁶⁶ Cook, N. R. (2018). Quantifying the added value of new biomarkers: How and how not. *Diagnostic and Prognostic Research*, 2(1), 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41512-018-0037-2</u>

⁶⁷ D'Agostino, R. B., Vasan, R. S., Pencina, M. J., Wolf, P. A., Cobain, M., Massaro, J. M., & Kannel, W. B. (2008). General Cardiovascular Risk Profile for Use in Primary Care. *Circulation*, *117*(6), 743–753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.699579</u>

⁶⁸ Wald, N., & Bestwick, J. (2014). Is the area under an ROC curve a valid measure of the performance of a screening or diagnostic test? *Journal of Medical Screening*, *21*(1), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969141313517497

⁶⁹ Pencina, M. J., D'Agostino, R. B., Pencina, K. M., Janssens, A. C. J. W., & Greenland, P. (2012). Interpreting Incremental Value of Markers Added to Risk Prediction Models. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *176*(6), 473–481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kws207</u>

⁷⁰ Pepe, M. S., Fan, J., Feng, Z., Gerds, T., & Hilden, J. (2015). The Net Reclassification Index (NRI): A Misleading Measure of Prediction Improvement Even with Independent Test Data Sets. *Statistics in Biosciences*, 7(2), 282–295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12561-014-9118-0</u>

⁷¹ Kerr, K. F. (2022). Net Reclassification Index Statistics Do Not Help Assess New Risk Models. *Radiology*, 222343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.222343</u>

⁷² Wald, N. J., Morris, J. K., & Rish, S. (2005). The efficacy of combining several risk factors as a screening test. *Journal of Medical Screening*, *12*(4), 197–201. https://doi.org/10.1258/096914105775220642

⁷³ An aid in assessing whether a risk factor might be a worthwhile screening test. Medical Screening Society. <u>https://www.medicalscreeningsociety.com/rsc.asp</u>

⁷⁴ Martens, F. K., Tonk, E. C. M., & Janssens, A. C. J. W. (2019). Evaluation of polygenic risk models using multiple performance measures: A critical assessment of discordant results. *Genetics in Medicine*, *21*(2), 391–397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-018-0058-9</u>

⁷⁵ Patron, J., Serra-Cayuela, A., Han, B., Li, C., & Wishart, D. S. (2019). Assessing the performance of genome-wide association studies for predicting disease risk. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(12), e0220215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220215</u>

⁷⁶ Polfus, L. M., Darst, B. F., Highland, H., Sheng, X., Ng, M. C. Y., Below, J. E., Petty, L., Bien, S., Sim, X., Wang, W., Fontanillas, P., Patel, Y., Preuss, M., Schurmann, C., Du, Z., Lu, Y., Rhie, S. K., Mercader, J. M., Tusie-Luna, T., ... Haiman, C. A. (2021). Genetic discovery and risk characterization in type 2 diabetes across diverse populations. *HGG Advances*, *2*(2), 100029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xhgg.2021.100029

⁷⁷ Ge, T., Irvin, M. R., Patki, A., Srinivasasainagendra, V., Lin, Y.-F., Tiwari, H. K., Armstrong, N. D., Benoit, B., Chen, C.-Y., Choi, K. W., Cimino, J. J., Davis, B. H., Dikilitas, O., Etheridge, B., Feng, Y.-C. A., Gainer, V., Huang, H., Jarvik, G. P., Kachulis, C., ... Karlson, E. W. (2022). Development and validation of a trans-ancestry polygenic risk score for type 2 diabetes in diverse populations. *Genome Medicine*, *14*(1), 70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-022-01074-2</u>

⁷⁸ Janssens, A. C. J., & Joyner, M. J. (2019). Polygenic Risk Scores That Predict Common Diseases Using Millions of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms: Is More, Better? *Clinical Chemistry*, 65(5), 609–611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2018.296103</u>

⁷⁹ Curtis, D. (2019). Clinical relevance of genome-wide polygenic score may be less than claimed. *Annals of Human Genetics*, *83*(4), 274–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ahg.12302</u>

⁸⁰ Wong, C. K., Makalic, E., Dite, G. S., Whiting, L., Murphy, N. M., Hopper, J. L., & Allman, R. (2022). Polygenic risk scores for cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(12), e0278764. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0278764

⁸¹ The Polygenic Score (PGS) Catalog. https://www.pgscatalog.org/

⁸² Mosley, J. D., Gupta, D. K., Tan, J., Yao, J., Wells, Q. S., Shaffer, C. M., Kundu, S., Robinson-Cohen, C., Psaty, B. M., Rich, S. S., Post, W. S., Guo, X., Rotter, J. I., Roden, D. M., Gerszten, R. E., & Wang, T. J. (2020). Predictive Accuracy of a Polygenic Risk Score Compared With a Clinical Risk Score for Incident Coronary Heart Disease. *JAMA*, *323*(7), 627.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.21782

⁸³ Khera, A. V., Chaffin, M., Aragam, K. G., Haas, M. E., Roselli, C., Choi, S. H., Natarajan, P., Lander, E. S., Lubitz, S. A., Ellinor, P. T., & Kathiresan, S. (2018). Genome-wide polygenic scores for common diseases identify individuals with risk equivalent to monogenic mutations. *Nature Genetics*, 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0183-z</u>

⁸⁴ Sud, A., Turnbull, C., & Houlston, R. (2021). Will polygenic risk scores for cancer ever be clinically useful? *Npj Precision Oncology*, *5*(1), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41698-021-00176-1</u>

GeneWatch UK

September 2023

⁸⁵ Ripke, S., Neale, B. M., Corvin, A., Walters, J. T., Farh, K.-H., Holmans, P. A., Lee, P., Bulik-Sullivan, B., Collier, D. A., Huang, H., Pers, T. H., Agartz, I., Agerbo, E., Albus, M., Alexander, M., Amin, F., Bacanu, S. A., Begemann, M., Belliveau, R. A., ... O'Donovan, M. C. (2014). Biological Insights From 108 Schizophrenia-Associated Genetic Loci. *Nature*, *511*(7510), 421–427. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13595

⁸⁶ Wimberley, T., Gasse, C., Meier, S. M., Agerbo, E., MacCabe, J. H., & Horsdal, H. T. (2017). Polygenic Risk Score for Schizophrenia and Treatment-Resistant Schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *43*(5), 1064–1069. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbx007</u>

⁸⁷ Trubetskoy, V., Pardiñas, A. F., Qi, T., Panagiotaropoulou, G., Awasthi, S., Bigdeli, T. B., Bryois, J., Chen, C.-Y., Dennison, C. A., Hall, L. S., Lam, M., Watanabe, K., Frei, O., Ge, T., Harwood, J. C., Koopmans, F., Magnusson, S., Richards, A. L., Sidorenko, J., ... Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. (2022). Mapping genomic loci implicates genes and synaptic biology in schizophrenia. *Nature*, *604*(7906), 502–508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04434-5</u>
 ⁸⁸ Bellenguez, C., Küçükali, F., Jansen, I. E., Kleineidam, L., Moreno-Grau, S., Amin, N., Naj, A. C., Campos-Martin, R., Grenier-Boley, B., Andrade, V., Holmans, P. A., Boland, A., Damotte, V., van der Lee, S. J., Costa, M. R., Kuulasmaa, T., Yang, Q., de Rojas, I., Bis, J. C., ... Lambert, J.-C. (2022). New insights into the genetic etiology of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. *Nature Genetics*, 1–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-022-01024-z</u>

⁸⁹ Ren, L., Liang, J., Wan, F., Wang, Y., & Dai, X. (2022). Development of a Clinical Risk Score Prediction Tool for 5-, 9-, and 13-Year Risk of Dementia. *JAMA Network Open*, *5*(11), e2242596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.42596</u>

⁹⁰ Kivimäki, M., Livingston, G., Singh-Manoux, A., Mars, N., Lindbohm, J. V., Pentti, J., Nyberg, S. T., Pirinen, M., Anderson, E. L., Hingorani, A. D., & Sipilä, P. N. (2023). Estimating Dementia Risk Using Multifactorial Prediction Models. *JAMA Network Open*, *6*(6), e2318132.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.18132

⁹¹ Johnson, D., Wilke, M. A. P., Lyle, S. M., Kowalec, K., Jorgensen, A., Wright, G. E. B., & Drögemöller, B. I. (2022). A Systematic Review and Analysis of the Use of Polygenic Scores in Pharmacogenomics. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, *111*(4), 919–930. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.2520

⁹² Vogt, H., Green, S., Ekstrøm, C. T., & Brodersen, J. (2019). How precision medicine and screening with big data could increase overdiagnosis. *BMJ*, *366*, I5270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I5270</u>
 ⁹³ Genomics PLC. (n.d.). Genomics Plc. Retrieved 8 September 2022, from https://www.genomicsplc.com/

⁹⁴ Genomics PLC (2019) Polygenic Risk Scores. March 2019. <u>https://www.genomicsplc.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Genomics-plc-PRS-details_White-Paper-April-2019.pdf</u>

⁹⁵ Genomics PLC (2019) Polygenic Risk Scores. March 2019. <u>https://www.genomicsplc.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Genomics-plc-PRS-details_White-Paper-April-2019.pdf</u>

⁹⁶ Calculated using the equation P=1-x^y, where x is the percentage cut-off (0.97 or 0.95) and y is the number of tests. From: McQueen, M. J. (2002). Screening for the early detection of disease, the need for evidence. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, *315*(1), 5–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-8981(01)00709-4</u>
 ⁹⁷ Memorandum by the Wellcome Trust Centre for Human Genetics. Genomic Medicine. Volume II.

Evidence.

House of Lords Science and Technology Committee 2nd Report of Session 2008–09. https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200809/ldselect/ldsctech/107/107ii.pdf

⁹⁸ Science and Technology Committee inquiry on Commercial Genomics - Written evidence submitted by Genomics plc. April 2019. <u>https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/5871/html/</u>

⁹⁹ New and improved polygenic risk scores for 28 common diseases. (2022, July 16). Genomics Plc. <u>https://www.genomicsplc.com/news/new-and-improved-polygenic-risk-scores-for-28-common-diseases/</u>

¹⁰⁰ Vogt, H., Green, S., Ekstrøm, C. T., & Brodersen, J. (2019). How precision medicine and screening with big data could increase overdiagnosis. *BMJ*, *366*, I5270. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I5270

¹⁰¹ Genomics PLC (2019) Polygenic Risk Scores. March 2019. <u>https://www.genomicsplc.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Genomics-plc-PRS-details_White-Paper-April-2019.pdf</u>

¹⁰² Scott, R. A., Scott, L. J., Mägi, R., Marullo, L., Gaulton, K. J., Kaakinen, M., Pervjakova, N., Pers, T. H., Johnson, A. D., Eicher, J. D., Jackson, A. U., Ferreira, T., Lee, Y., Ma, C., Steinthorsdottir, V., Thorleifsson, G., Qi, L., Van Zuydam, N. R., Mahajan, A., ... Prokopenko, I. (2017). An Expanded Genome-Wide Association Study of Type 2 Diabetes in Europeans. *Diabetes*, *66*(11), 2888–2902. https://doi.org/10.2337/db16-1253 ¹⁰³ Michailidou, K., Hall, P., Gonzalez-Neira, A., Ghoussaini, M., Dennis, J., Milne, R. L., Schmidt, M. K., Chang-Claude, J., Bojesen, S. E., Bolla, M. K., Wang, Q., Dicks, E., Lee, A., Turnbull, C., Rahman, N., Fletcher, O., Peto, J., Gibson, L., dos Santos Silva, I., ... Easton, D. F. (2013). Large-scale genotyping identifies 41 new loci associated with breast cancer risk. *Nature Genetics*, *45*(4), 353–361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2563</u>

¹⁰⁴ Nikpay, M., Goel, A., Won, H.-H., Hall, L. M., Willenborg, C., Kanoni, S., Saleheen, D., Kyriakou, T., Nelson, C. P., Hopewell, J. C., Webb, T. R., Zeng, L., Dehghan, A., Alver, M., Armasu, S. M., Auro, K., Bjonnes, A., Chasman, D. I., Chen, S., ... the CARDIoGRAMplusC4D Consortium. (2015). A comprehensive 1000 Genomes–based genome-wide association meta-analysis of coronary artery disease. *Nature Genetics*, *47*(10), 1121–1130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3396</u>

¹⁰⁵ Schumacher, F. R., Al Olama, A. A., Berndt, S. I., Benlloch, S., Ahmed, M., Saunders, E. J., Dadaev, T., Leongamornlert, D., Anokian, E., Cieza-Borrella, C., Goh, C., Brook, M. N., Sheng, X., Fachal, L., Dennis, J., Tyrer, J., Muir, K., Lophatananon, A., Stevens, V. L., ... Eeles, R. A. (2018). Association analyses of more than 140,000 men identify 63 new prostate cancer susceptibility loci. *Nature Genetics*, *50*(7), 928–936. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0142-8

¹⁰⁶ Khera, A. V., Chaffin, M., Aragam, K. G., Haas, M. E., Roselli, C., Choi, S. H., Natarajan, P., Lander, E. S., Lubitz, S. A., Ellinor, P. T., & Kathiresan, S. (2018). Genome-wide polygenic scores for common diseases identify individuals with risk equivalent to monogenic mutations. *Nature Genetics*, 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0183-z</u>

 ¹⁰⁷ Walker, J. L., Grint, D. J., Strongman, H., Eggo, R. M., Peppa, M., Minassian, C., Mansfield, K. E., Rentsch, C. T., Douglas, I. J., Mathur, R., Wong, A. Y. S., Quint, J. K., Andrews, N., Bernal, J. L., Scott, J. A., Ramsay, M., Smeeth, L., & McDonald, H. I. (2021). UK prevalence of underlying conditions which increase the risk of severe COVID-19 disease: A point prevalence study using electronic health records. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10427-2</u>
 ¹⁰⁸ Mosley, J. D., Gupta, D. K., Tan, J., Yao, J., Wells, Q. S., Shaffer, C. M., Kundu, S., Robinson-Cohen, C., Psaty, B. M., Rich, S. S., Post, W. S., Guo, X., Rotter, J. I., Roden, D. M., Gerszten, R. E., & Wang, T. J. (2020). Predictive Accuracy of a Polygenic Risk Score Compared With a Clinical Risk Score for Incident Coronary Heart Disease. *JAMA*, *323*(7), 627–635. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.21782

¹⁰⁹ Hao, L., Kraft, P., Berriz, G. F., Hynes, E. D., Koch, C., Korategere V Kumar, P., Parpattedar, S. S., Steeves, M., Yu, W., Antwi, A. A., Brunette, C. A., Danowski, M., Gala, M. K., Green, R. C., Jones, N. E., Lewis, A. C. F., Lubitz, S. A., Natarajan, P., Vassy, J. L., & Lebo, M. S. (2022). Development of a clinical polygenic risk score assay and reporting workflow. *Nature Medicine*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-01767-6

¹¹⁰ Hughes, E., Wagner, S., Pruss, D., Bernhisel, R., Probst, B., Abkevich, V., Simmons, T., Hullinger, B., Judkins, T., Rosenthal, E., Roa, B., Domchek, S. M., Eng, C., Garber, J., Gary, M., Klemp, J., Mukherjee, S., Offit, K., Olopade, O. I., ... Lanchbury, J. S. (2022). Development and Validation of a Breast Cancer Polygenic Risk Score on the Basis of Genetic Ancestry Composition. *JCO Precision Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.1200/PO.22.00084

¹¹¹ Wald, N. J., & Old, R. (2019). The illusion of polygenic disease risk prediction. *Genetics in Medicine*, 21(8), 1705–1707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-018-0418-5</u>

¹¹² Bolli, A., Domenico, P. D., & Bottà, G. (2019). *Software as a Service for the Genomic Prediction of Complex Diseases* (p. 763722). bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/763722</u>

¹¹³ van Dam, S., Folkertsma, P., Castela Forte, J., de Vries, D. H., Herrera Cunillera, C., Gannamani, R., & Wolffenbuttel, B. H. R. (2023). The necessity of incorporating non-genetic risk factors into polygenic risk score models. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-</u>27637-w

¹¹⁴ Szatmari, P., & Susser, E. (2022). Being Precise About Precision Mental Health. *JAMA Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.3391

¹¹⁵ Ding, Y., Hou, K., Burch, K. S., Lapinska, S., Privé, F., Vilhjálmsson, B., Sankararaman, S., & Pasaniuc, B. (2021). Large uncertainty in individual polygenic risk score estimation impacts PRSbased risk stratification. *Nature Genetics*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-021-00961-5</u>

¹¹⁶ Pacyna, J. E., Ennis, J. S., Kullo, I. J., & Sharp, R. R. (2023). Examining the Impact of Polygenic Risk Information in Primary Care. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, *14*, 21501319231151770. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21501319231151766</u>

¹¹⁷ Mosley, J. D., Gupta, D. K., Tan, J., Yao, J., Wells, Q. S., Shaffer, C. M., Kundu, S., Robinson-Cohen, C., Psaty, B. M., Rich, S. S., Post, W. S., Guo, X., Rotter, J. I., Roden, D. M., Gerszten, R. E., & Wang, T. J. (2020). Predictive Accuracy of a Polygenic Risk Score Compared With a Clinical Risk Score for Incident Coronary Heart Disease. *JAMA*, *323*(7), 627–635.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.21782

¹¹⁸ Läll, K., Lepamets, M., Palover, M., Esko, T., Metspalu, A., Tõnisson, N., Padrik, P., Mägi, R., & Fischer, K. (2019). Polygenic prediction of breast cancer: Comparison of genetic predictors and implications for risk stratification. *BMC Cancer*, *19*(1), 557. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-019-5783-1</u>
 ¹¹⁹ Clifton, L., Collister, J. A., Liu, X., Littlejohns, T. J., & Hunter, D. J. (2022). Assessing agreement between different polygenic risk scores in the UK Biobank. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 12812. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-17012-6

¹²⁰ Tryggvadottir, L., Sigvaldason, H., Olafsdottir, G. H., Jonasson, J. G., Jonsson, T., Tulinius, H., & Eyfjörd, J. E. (2006). Population-Based Study of Changing Breast Cancer Risk in Icelandic BRCA2 Mutation Carriers, 1920–2000. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *98*(2), 116–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djj012</u>

 ¹²¹ Jiang, X., Holmes, C., & McVean, G. (2021). The impact of age on genetic risk for common diseases. *PLOS Genetics*, *17*(8), e1009723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1009723</u>
 ¹²² Loika, Y., Irincheeva, I., Culminskaya, I., Nazarian, A., & Kulminski, A. M. (2020). Polygenic risk scores: pleiotropy and the effect of environment. *GeroScience*, *42*(6), 1635–1647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-020-00203-2</u>

¹²³ Ding, Y., Hou, K., Burch, K. S., Lapinska, S., Privé, F., Vilhjálmsson, B., Sankararaman, S., & Pasaniuc, B. (2021). Large uncertainty in individual polygenic risk score estimation impacts PRSbased risk stratification. *Nature Genetics*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-021-00961-5</u>

 ¹²⁴ Muslimova, D., Dias Pereira, R., von Hinke, S., van Kippersluis, H., Rietveld, C. A., & Meddens, S. F. W. (2023). Rank concordance of polygenic indices. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01544-6

¹²⁵ Gola, D., Erdmann, J., Aittomäki, K., Mägi, R., Müller-Myhsok, B., Schunkert, H., & König, I. R. (2020). Population Bias in Polygenic Risk Prediction Models for Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation: Genomic and Precision Medicine*, *13*(6), e002932. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.002932</u>

¹²⁶ Peck, L., Borle, K., Folkersen, L., & Austin, J. (2022). Why do people seek out polygenic risk scores for complex disorders, and how do they understand and react to results? *European Journal of Human Genetics*, *30*(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-021-00929-3</u>

¹²⁷ Lowes, K., Borle, K., Folkersen, L., & Austin, J. (2022). A qualitative study exploring the consumer experience of receiving self-initiated polygenic risk scores from a third-party website. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-022-01203-w</u>

¹²⁸ Lewis, A. C. F., Perez, E. F., Prince, A. E. R., Flaxman, H. R., Gomez, L., Brockman, D. G., Chandler, P. D., Kerman, B. J., Lebo, M. S., Smoller, J. W., Weiss, S. T., Blout Zawatksy, C. L., Meigs, J. B., Green, R. C., Vassy, J. L., & Karlson, E. W. (2022). Patient and provider perspectives on polygenic risk scores: Implications for clinical reporting and utilization. *Genome Medicine*, *14*(1), 114. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-022-01117-8

¹²⁹ Williams, S. (2013, March 15). *Absolute versus relative risk – making sense of media stories*. Cancer Research UK - Cancer News. <u>https://news.cancerresearchuk.org/2013/03/15/absolute-versus-relative-risk-making-sense-of-media-stories/</u>

¹³⁰ Lewis, A. C. F., Perez, E. F., Prince, A. E. R., Flaxman, H. R., Gomez, L., Brockman, D. G., Chandler, P. D., Kerman, B. J., Lebo, M. S., Smoller, J. W., Weiss, S. T., Blout Zawatksy, C. L., Meigs, J. B., Green, R. C., Vassy, J. L., & Karlson, E. W. (2022). Patient and provider perspectives on polygenic risk scores: Implications for clinical reporting and utilization. *Genome Medicine*, *14*(1), 114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-022-01117-8</u>

¹³¹ Moll, M., Lutz, S. M., Ghosh, A. J., Sakornsakolpat, P., Hersh, C. P., Beaty, T. H., Dudbridge, F., Tobin, M. D., Mittleman, M. A., Silverman, E. K., Hobbs, B. D., & Cho, M. H. (2020). Relative contributions of family history and a polygenic risk score on COPD and related outcomes: COPDGene and ECLIPSE studies. *BMJ Open Respiratory Research*, *7*(1), e000755. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjresp-2020-000755

¹³² Agerbo, E., Sullivan, P. F., Vilhjálmsson, B. J., Pedersen, C. B., Mors, O., Børglum, A. D.,
 Hougaard, D. M., Hollegaard, M. V., Meier, S., Mattheisen, M., Ripke, S., Wray, N. R., & Mortensen,
 P. B. (2015). Polygenic Risk Score, Parental Socioeconomic Status, Family History of Psychiatric
 Disorders, and the Risk for Schizophrenia: A Danish Population-Based Study and Meta-analysis.
 JAMA Psychiatry, 72(7), 635–641. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0346

¹³³ Tada, H., Melander, O., Louie, J. Z., Catanese, J. J., Rowland, C. M., Devlin, J. J., Kathiresan, S., & Shiffman, D. (2016). Risk prediction by genetic risk scores for coronary heart disease is independent of self-reported family history. *European Heart Journal*, *37*(6), 561–567. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehv462</u>

¹³⁴ Abraham, G., Havulinna, A. S., Bhalala, O. G., Byars, S. G., De Livera, A. M., Yetukuri, L., Tikkanen, E., Perola, M., Schunkert, H., Sijbrands, E. J., Palotie, A., Samani, N. J., Salomaa, V., Ripatti, S., & Inouye, M. (2016). Genomic prediction of coronary heart disease. *European Heart Journal*, 37(43), 3267–3278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw450</u>

¹³⁵ Reid, N. J., Brockman, D. G., Elisabeth Leonard, C., Pelletier, R., & Khera, A. V. (2021). Concordance of a High Polygenic Score Among Relatives. *Circulation: Genomic and Precision Medicine*, *14*(2), e003262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.003262</u>

¹³⁶ Lowes, K., Borle, K., Folkersen, L., & Austin, J. (2022). A qualitative study exploring the consumer experience of receiving self-initiated polygenic risk scores from a third-party website. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-022-01203-w</u>

¹³⁷ van Dam, S., Folkertsma, P., Castela Forte, J., de Vries, D. H., Herrera Cunillera, C., Gannamani, R., & Wolffenbuttel, B. H. R. (2023). The necessity of incorporating non-genetic risk factors into polygenic risk score models. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-27637-w</u>

¹³⁸ Devlin, H., & correspondent, H. D. S. (2022, January 17). NHS pilots genetic testing to predict risk of heart disease. *The Guardian*. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2022/jan/17/nhs-pilots-genetic-testing-to-predict-risk-of-heart-disease</u>

¹³⁹ Genomics plc announces successful world-first pilot using improved genomic risk assessment in cardiovascular disease prevention in the NHS. (2022, November 7). Genomics Plc.

https://www.genomicsplc.com/news/successful-world-first-pilot-using-improved-genomic-risk-assessment-in-cardiovascular-disease-prevention-in-the-nhs/

¹⁴⁰ Janssens, A. C. J. W. (2019). Validity of polygenic risk scores: Are we measuring what we think we are? *Human Molecular Genetics*, *28*(R2), R143–R150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddz205</u>

¹⁴¹ Akimova, E. T., Breen, R., Brazel, D. M., & Mills, M. C. (2021). Gene-environment dependencies lead to collider bias in models with polygenic scores. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 9457. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-89020-x

¹⁴² van Dam, S., Folkertsma, P., Castela Forte, J., de Vries, D. H., Herrera Cunillera, C., Gannamani, R., & Wolffenbuttel, B. H. R. (2023). The necessity of incorporating non-genetic risk factors into polygenic risk score models. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-27637-w</u>

¹⁴³ Simmonds, M. C., & Wald, N. J. (2012). Risk Estimation Versus Screening Performance: A Comparison of Six Risk Algorithms for Cardiovascular Disease. *Journal of Medical Screening*, *19*(4), 201–205. https://doi.org/10.1258/jms.2012.012076

¹⁴⁴ Groenendyk, J. W., Greenland, P., & Khan, S. S. (2022). Incremental Value of Polygenic Risk Scores in Primary Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease: A Review. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.3171</u>

¹⁴⁵ Elliott, J., Bodinier, B., Bond, T. A., Chadeau-Hyam, M., Evangelou, E., Moons, K. G. M., Dehghan, A., Muller, D. C., Elliott, P., & Tzoulaki, I. (2020). Predictive Accuracy of a Polygenic Risk Score–Enhanced Prediction Model vs a Clinical Risk Score for Coronary Artery Disease. *JAMA*, *323*(7), 636–645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.22241</u>

¹⁴⁶ Khan, S. S., Page, C., Wojdyla, D. M., Schwartz, Y. Y., Greenland, P., & Pencina, M. J. (2022). Predictive Utility of a Validated Polygenic Risk Score for Long-Term Risk of Coronary Heart Disease in Young and Middle-Aged Adults. *Circulation*, *146*(8), 587–596.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.121.058426

¹⁴⁷ Khan, S. S., Post, W. S., Guo, X., Tan, J., Zhu, F., Bos, D., Sedaghati-Khayat, B., van Rooij, J., Aday, A., Allen, N. B., Bos, M. M., Uitterlinden, A. G., Budoff, M. J., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Mosley, J. D., Rotter, J. I., Greenland, P., & Kavousi, M. (2023). Coronary Artery Calcium Score and Polygenic Risk Score for the Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease Events. *JAMA*, *329*(20), 1768–1777. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2023.7575</u>

¹⁴⁸ Riveros-Mckay, F., Weale, M. E., Moore, R., Selzam, S., Krapohl, E., Sivley, R. M., Tarran, W. A., Sørensen, P., Lachapelle, A. S., Griffiths, J. A., Saffari, A., Deanfield, J., Spencer, C. C. A., Hippisley-Cox, J., Hunter, D. J., O'Sullivan, J. W., Ashley, E. A., Plagnol, V., & Donnelly, P. (2021). An Integrated Polygenic Tool Substantially Enhances Coronary Artery Disease Prediction. *Circulation. Genomic and Precision Medicine*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.003304</u>

¹⁴⁹ Yang, Q., Zhong, Y., Gillespie, C., Merritt, R., Bowman, B., George, M. G., & Flanders, W. D. (2017). Assessing potential population impact of statin treatment for primary prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases in the USA: Population-based modelling study. *BMJ Open*, *7*(1), e011684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011684</u>

¹⁵⁰ Colantonio, L. D., Rosenson, R. S., Deng, L., Monda, K. L., Dai, Y., Farkouh, M. E., Safford, M. M., Philip, K., Mues, K. E., & Muntner, P. (2019). Adherence to Statin Therapy Among US Adults Between 2007 and 2014. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *8*(1), e010376. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.118.010376 ¹⁵¹ Kypridemos, C., Allen, K., Hickey, G. L., Guzman-Castillo, M., Bandosz, P., Buchan, I., Capewell, S., & O'Flaherty, M. (2016). Cardiovascular screening to reduce the burden from cardiovascular disease: Microsimulation study to quantify policy options. *BMJ*, *353*, i2793. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i2793

¹⁵² Sarkar, U., & Bibbins-Domingo, K. (2022). Achieving Diagnostic Equity in Cardiovascular Disease. *JAMA*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.14424</u>

¹⁵³ Virani, S. S., Alonso, A., Aparicio, H. J., Benjamin, E. J., Bittencourt, M. S., Callaway, C. W., Carson, A. P., Chamberlain, A. M., Cheng, S., Delling, F. N., Elkind, M. S. V., Evenson, K. R., Ferguson, J. F., Gupta, D. K., Khan, S. S., Kissela, B. M., Knutson, K. L., Lee, C. D., Lewis, T. T., ... null, null. (2021). Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2021 Update. *Circulation*, *143*(8), e254–e743. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.000000000000950

¹⁵⁴ Lorenzo, F. D. (2022). Is prevention at the heart of UK health policy? *The Lancet*, *400*(10365), 1763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)02313-3</u>

¹⁵⁵ Kypridemos, C., Allen, K., Hickey, G. L., Guzman-Castillo, M., Bandosz, P., Buchan, I., Capewell, S., & O'Flaherty, M. (2016). Cardiovascular screening to reduce the burden from cardiovascular disease: Microsimulation study to quantify policy options. *BMJ*, *353*, i2793. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i2793</u>

¹⁵⁶ Yebyo, H. G., Zappacosta, S., Aschmann, H. E., Haile, S. R., & Puhan, M. A. (2020). Global variation of risk thresholds for initiating statins for primary prevention of cardiovascular disease: A benefit-harm balance modelling study. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, *20*(1), 418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-020-01697-6</u>

¹⁵⁷ Nedelman, M. (2018, January 1). *Statins: Experts at odds on whether millions should take them*. CNN. <u>https://edition.cnn.com/2017/04/18/health/statins-guidelines-conflict-study/index.html</u>

¹⁵⁸ Byrne, P., Demasi, M., Jones, M., Smith, S. M., O'Brien, K. K., & DuBroff, R. (2022). Evaluating the Association Between Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Reduction and Relative and Absolute Effects of Statin Treatment: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *182*(5), 474–481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.0134</u>

¹⁵⁹ Byrne, P., Demasi, M., Jones, M., Smith, S. M., O'Brien, K. K., & DuBroff, R. (2022). Evaluating the Association Between Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Reduction and Relative and Absolute Effects of Statin Treatment: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *182*(5), 474–481. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.0134

¹⁶⁰ Yusuf, S., & Pinto, F. J. (2022). The polypill: From concept and evidence to implementation. *The Lancet*, *400*(10364), 1661–1663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01847-5</u>

¹⁶¹ Wald, N. J., Simmonds, M., & Morris, J. K. (2011). Screening for Future Cardiovascular Disease Using Age Alone Compared with Multiple Risk Factors and Age. *PLOS ONE*, *6*(5), e18742. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0018742</u>

¹⁶² Simmonds, M. C., & Wald, N. J. (2012). Risk Estimation Versus Screening Performance: A Comparison of Six Risk Algorithms for Cardiovascular Disease. *Journal of Medical Screening*, *19*(4), 201–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1258/jms.2012.012076</u>

¹⁶³ Mufarreh, A., Shah, A. J., Vaccarino, V., & Kulshreshtha, A. (2023). Trends in Provision of Medications and Lifestyle Counseling in Ambulatory Settings by Gender and Race for Patients With Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease, 2006-2016. *JAMA Network Open*, *6*(1), e2251156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.51156</u>

¹⁶⁴ Schwalm, J., Walli-Attaei, M., & Yusuf, S. (2023). New Approaches Needed to Improve Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. *JAMA Network Open*, *6*(1), e2251162. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.51162

¹⁶⁵ Jarmul, J., Pletcher, M. J., Hassmiller Lich, K., Wheeler, S. B., Weinberger, M., Avery, C. L., Jonas, D. E., Earnshaw, S., & Pignone, M. (2018). Cardiovascular Genetic Risk Testing for Targeting Statin Therapy in the Primary Prevention of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*, *11*(4), e004171.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.004171

¹⁶⁶ Pandya, A. (2018). Statins and the Classic Decision Analysis. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*, *11*(4), e004688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.118.004688</u>

¹⁶⁷ Mujwara, D., Henno, G., Vernon, S. T., Peng, S., Di Domenico, P., Schroeder, B., Busby, G. B., Figtree, G. A., & Bottà, G. (2022). Integrating a Polygenic Risk Score for Coronary Artery Disease as a Risk-Enhancing Factor in the Pooled Cohort Equation: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis Study. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *11*(12), e025236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.121.025236</u>
¹⁶⁸ Sun, L., Pennells, L., Kaptoge, S., Nelson, C. P., Ritchie, S. C., Abraham, G., Arnold, M., Bell, S., Bolton, T., Burgess, S., Dudbridge, F., Guo, Q., Sofianopoulou, E., Stevens, D., Thompson, J. R., Butterworth, A. S., Wood, A., Danesh, J., Samani, N. J., ... Angelantonio, E. D. (2021). Polygenic risk GeneWatch UK

September 2023

scores in cardiovascular risk prediction: A cohort study and modelling analyses. *PLOS Medicine*, *18*(1), e1003498. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003498</u>

¹⁶⁹ Marston, N. A., Pirruccello, J. P., Melloni, G. É. M., Koyama, S., Kamanu, F. K., Weng, L.-C., Roselli, C., Kamatani, Y., Komuro, I., Aragam, K. G., Butterworth, A. S., Ito, K., Lubitz, S. A., Ellinor, P. T., Sabatine, M. S., & Ruff, C. T. (2023). Predictive Utility of a Coronary Artery Disease Polygenic Risk Score in Primary Prevention. *JAMA Cardiology*, *8*(2), 130–137. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2022.4466

¹⁷⁰ Ray, F. (2023, March 16). *Australia's Genetic Technologies Seeks Private Payor Coverage to Bring Polygenic Risk Tests to US*. GenomeWeb. <u>https://www.genomeweb.com/business-</u>news/australias-genetic-technologies-seeks-private-payor-coverage-bring-polygenic-risk

¹⁷¹ Hogarth, S., & Martin, P. (2021). The ratio of vision to data: Promoting emergent science and technologies through promissory regulation, the case of the FDA and personalised medicine. *Regulation & Governance*, *15*(3), 969–986. https://doi.org/10.1111/rego.12360

¹⁷² Stergiopoulos K & Brown DL. (2014). Genotype-guided vs clinical dosing of warfarin and its analogues: Meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.2368

¹⁷³ Huang, Q. Q., Sallah, N., Dunca, D., Trivedi, B., Hunt, K. A., Hodgson, S., Lambert, S. A., Arciero, E., Wright, J., Griffiths, C., Trembath, R. C., Hemingway, H., Inouye, M., Finer, S., van Heel, D. A., Lumbers, R. T., Martin, H. C., & Kuchenbaecker, K. (2022). Transferability of genetic loci and polygenic scores for cardiometabolic traits in British Pakistani and Bangladeshi individuals. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-32095-5</u>

¹⁷⁴ Hodgson, S., Huang, Q. Q., Sallah, N., Team, G. & H. R., Griffiths, C. J., Newman, W. G., Trembath, R. C., Wright, J., Lumbers, R. T., Kuchenbaecker, K., Heel, D. A. van, Mathur, R., Martin, H. C., & Finer, S. (2022). Integrating polygenic risk scores in the prediction of type 2 diabetes risk and subtypes in British Pakistanis and Bangladeshis: A population-based cohort study. *PLOS Medicine*, *19*(5), e1003981. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003981</u>

¹⁷⁵ Vassy, J. L., Posner, D. C., Ho, Y.-L., Gagnon, D. R., Galloway, A., Tanukonda, V., Houghton, S. C., Madduri, R. K., McMahon, B. H., Tsao, P. S., Damrauer, S. M., O'Donnell, C. J., Assimes, T. L., Casas, J. P., Gaziano, J. M., Pencina, M. J., Sun, Y. V., Cho, K., & Wilson, P. W. F. (2023).
 Cardiovascular Disease Risk Assessment Using Traditional Risk Factors and Polygenic Risk Scores in the Million Veteran Program. *JAMA Cardiology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2023.0857</u>
 ¹⁷⁶ Cho, S. M. J., Koyama, S., Ruan, Y., Lannery, K., Wong, M., Ajufo, E., Lee, H., Khera, A. V., Honigberg, M. C., & Natarajan, P. (2022). Measured Blood Pressure, Genetically Predicted Blood Pressure, and Cardiovascular Disease Risk in the UK Biobank. JAMA Cardiology.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2022.3191

¹⁷⁷ He, Y., Lakhani, C. M., Rasooly, D., Manrai, A. K., Tzoulaki, I., & Patel, C. J. (2021). Comparisons of Polyexposure, Polygenic, and Clinical Risk Scores in Risk Prediction of Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *44*(4), 935–943. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc20-2049

¹⁷⁸ Giardiello, D., Hooning, M. J., Hauptmann, M., & et al. (2022, June 28). *PredictCBC-2.0: A contralateral breast cancer risk prediction model developed and validated in ~200,000 patients*. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1767532/v1

¹⁷⁹ Evans, D. G. R., Veen, E. M. van, Harkness, E. F., Brentnall, A. R., Astley, S. M., Byers, H., Woodward, E. R., Sampson, S., Southworth, J., Howell, S. J., Maxwell, A. J., Newman, W. G., Cuzick, J., & Howell, A. (2022). Breast cancer risk stratification in women of screening age: Incremental effects of adding mammographic density, polygenic risk, and a gene panel. *Genetics in Medicine*, *0*(0). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gim.2022.03.009</u>

¹⁸⁰ Evans, D. G. R., Veen, E. M. van, Harkness, E. F., Brentnall, A. R., Astley, S. M., Byers, H., Woodward, E. R., Sampson, S., Southworth, J., Howell, S. J., Maxwell, A. J., Newman, W. G., Cuzick, J., & Howell, A. (2022). Breast cancer risk stratification in women of screening age: Incremental effects of adding mammographic density, polygenic risk, and a gene panel. *Genetics in Medicine*, *0*(0). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gim.2022.03.009</u>

¹⁸¹ Welch, H. G. (2022). Cancer Screening—The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly. *JAMA Surgery*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamasurg.2022.0669</u>

¹⁸² Sud, A., Turnbull, C., & Houlston, R. (2021). Will polygenic risk scores for cancer ever be clinically useful? *Npj Precision Oncology*, *5*(1), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41698-021-00176-1</u>

¹⁸³ Dixon, P., Keeney, E., Taylor, J. C., Wordsworth, S., & Martin, R. M. (2022). Can polygenic risk scores contribute to cost-effective cancer screening? A systematic review. *Genetics in Medicine*, 24(8), 1604–1617. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gim.2022.04.020</u>

¹⁸⁴ Sud, A., Horton, R. H., Hingorani, A. D., Tzoulaki, I., Turnbull, C., Houlston, R. S., & Lucassen, A. (2023). Realistic expectations are key to realising the benefits of polygenic scores. *BMJ*, *380*, e073149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-073149</u>

¹⁸⁵ Sud, A., Horton, R. H., Hingorani, A. D., Tzoulaki, I., Turnbull, C., Houlston, R. S., & Lucassen, A. (2023). Realistic expectations are key to realising the benefits of polygenic scores. *BMJ*, *380*, e073149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-073149</u>

¹⁸⁶ Schaffer, K. R., Shi, M., Shelley, J. P., Tosoian, J. J., Kachuri, L., Witte, J. S., & Mosley, J. D. (2023). A Polygenic Risk Score for Prostate Cancer Risk Prediction. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.6795

¹⁸⁷ Dixon, P., Keeney, E., Taylor, J. C., Wordsworth, S., & Martin, R. M. (2022). Can polygenic risk scores contribute to cost-effective cancer screening? A systematic review. *Genetics in Medicine*, 24(8), 1604–1617. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gim.2022.04.020</u>

¹⁸⁸ Schaffer, K. R., Shi, M., Shelley, J. P., Tosoian, J. J., Kachuri, L., Witte, J. S., & Mosley, J. D. (2023). A Polygenic Risk Score for Prostate Cancer Risk Prediction. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.6795

¹⁸⁹ Klein, R. J. (2023). Bringing Prostate Cancer Polygenic Risk Scores to the Clinic. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.6782</u>

¹⁹⁰ Huntley, C., Torr, B., Sud, A., Rowlands, C. F., Way, R., Snape, K., Hanson, H., Swanton, C., Broggio, J., Lucassen, A., McCartney, M., Houlston, R. S., Hingorani, A. D., Jones, M. E., & Turnbull, C. (2023). Utility of polygenic risk scores in UK cancer screening: A modelling analysis. *The Lancet Oncology*, *0*(0). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(23)00156-0</u>

¹⁹¹ Pal Choudhury, P., Brook, M. N., Hurson, A. N., Lee, A., Mulder, C. V., Coulson, P., Schoemaker, M. J., Jones, M. E., Swerdlow, A. J., Chatterjee, N., Antoniou, A. C., & Garcia-Closas, M. (2021). Comparative validation of the BOADICEA and Tyrer-Cuzick breast cancer risk models incorporating classical risk factors and polygenic risk in a population-based prospective cohort of women of European ancestry. *Breast Cancer Research*, *23*(1), 22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-021-01399-7</u>
 ¹⁹² Allman, R., Mu, Y., Dite, G. S., Spaeth, E., Hopper, J. L., & Rosner, B. A. (2023). Validation of a breast cancer risk prediction model based on the key risk factors: Family history, mammographic density and polygenic risk. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *198*(2), 335–347. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-022-06834-7

¹⁹³ Gafni, A., Dite, G. S., Tuff, E. S., Allman, R., & Hopper, J. L. (2021). Ability of known colorectal cancer susceptibility SNPs to predict colorectal cancer risk: A cohort study within the UK Biobank. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(9), e0251469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251469</u>

¹⁹⁴ Brockman, D. G., Petronio, L., Dron, J. S., Kwon, B. C., Vosburg, T., Nip, L., Tang, A., O'Reilly, M., Lennon, N., Wong, B., Ng, K., Huang, K. H., Fahed, A. C., & Khera, A. V. (2021). Design and user experience testing of a polygenic score report: A qualitative study of prospective users. *BMC Medical Genomics*, *14*, 238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12920-021-01056-0</u>

¹⁹⁵ Ray, F. (2022, December 12). *Myriad Genetics Generates More Data on Ability of PRS to Identify Who Will Develop Breast Cancer*. Precision Oncology News.

https://www.precisiononcologynews.com/cancer/myriad-genetics-generates-more-data-ability-prs-identify-who-will-develop-breast-cancer

¹⁹⁶ Hughes, E., Wagner, S., Pruss, D., Bernhisel, R., Probst, B., Abkevich, V., Simmons, T., Hullinger, B., Judkins, T., Rosenthal, E., Roa, B., Domchek, S. M., Eng, C., Garber, J., Gary, M., Klemp, J., Mukherjee, S., Offit, K., Olopade, O. I., ... Lanchbury, J. S. (2022). Development and Validation of a Breast Cancer Polygenic Risk Score on the Basis of Genetic Ancestry Composition. *JCO Precision Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.1200/PO.22.00084

¹⁹⁷ Sud, A., Horton, R. H., Hingorani, A. D., Tzoulaki, I., Turnbull, C., Houlston, R. S., & Lucassen, A. (2023). Realistic expectations are key to realising the benefits of polygenic scores. *BMJ*, *380*, e073149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-073149</u>

¹⁹⁸ Huntley, C., Torr, B., Sud, A., Rowlands, C. F., Way, R., Snape, K., Hanson, H., Swanton, C., Broggio, J., Lucassen, A., McCartney, M., Houlston, R. S., Hingorani, A. D., Jones, M. E., & Turnbull, C. (2023). Utility of polygenic risk scores in UK cancer screening: A modelling analysis. *The Lancet Oncology*, *0*(0). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(23)00156-0</u>

¹⁹⁹ Feldman, M. W., & Lewontin, R. C. (1975). The Heritability Hang-Up. *Science*, *190*(4220), 1163–1168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198102</u>

²⁰⁰ Lewontin, R. C. (1974). Annotation: The analysis of variance and the analysis of causes. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 26(3), 400–411.

²⁰¹ Keller, E. F. (2010). The Mirage of a Space between Nature and Nurture. Duke University Press. <u>https://www.dukeupress.edu/the-mirage-of-a-space-between-nature-and-nurture</u> ²⁰² Patron, J., Serra-Cayuela, A., Han, B., Li, C., & Wishart, D. S. (2019). Assessing the performance of genome-wide association studies for predicting disease risk. PLOS ONE, 14(12), e0220215. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220215

²⁰³ Zaitlen, N., & Kraft, P. (2012). Heritability in the genome-wide association era. Human Genetics, 131(10), 1655–1664, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-012-1199-6

²⁰⁴ Braun, M. M., Caporaso, N. E., Page, W. F., & Hoover, R. N. (1995). A cohort study of twins and cancer. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention: A Publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, Cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology, 4(5), 469–473. ²⁰⁵ Collins, F. S. (1999). Medical and Societal Consequences of the Human Genome Project. New

England Journal of Medicine, 341(1), 28-37. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199907013410106 ²⁰⁶ Wallace, H. M. (2009). Big Tobacco and the human genome: Driving the scientific bandwagon? Genomics, Society, and Policy, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-5354-5-1-1

²⁰⁷ Pettit, R. W., Byun, J., Han, Y., Ostrom, Q. T., Edelson, J., Walsh, K. M., Bondy, M. L., Hung, R. J., McKay, J. D., & Amos, C. I. (2021). The shared genetic architecture between epidemiological and behavioral traits with lung cancer. Scientific Reports, 11(1), 17559. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-96685-x

²⁰⁸ COVID-19 Host Genetics Initiative, & Ganna, A. (2021). *Mapping the human genetic architecture* of COVID-19: An update (p. 2021.11.08.21265944). https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.11.08.21265944 (Heritability calculations are in Supplementary Table 7)

²⁰⁹ Forster, V (2021) Beware of Genetic Tests Evaluating Covid-19 Risk, Says New Study. Forbes. 26th September 2021. https://www.forbes.com/sites/victoriaforster/2021/09/26/beware-of-genetictests-evaluating-covid-19-risk-says-new-study/?sh=abe82b6998eb

²¹⁰ Irizar, P., Pan, D., Kapadia, D., Bécares, L., Sze, S., Taylor, H., Amele, S., Kibuchi, E., Divall, P., Gray, L. J., Nellums, L. B., Katikireddi, S. V., & Pareek, M. (2023). Ethnic inequalities in COVID-19 infection, hospitalisation, intensive care admission, and death: A global systematic review and metaanalysis of over 200 million study participants. EClinicalMedicine. 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2023.101877

²¹¹ Polderman, T. J. C., Benyamin, B., de Leeuw, C. A., Sullivan, P. F., van Bochoven, A., Visscher, P. M., & Posthuma, D. (2015). Meta-analysis of the heritability of human traits based on fifty years of twin studies. Nature Genetics, 47(7), 702-709. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3285

²¹² Patron, J., Serra-Cayuela, A., Han, B., Li, C., & Wishart, D. S. (2019). Assessing the performance of genome-wide association studies for predicting disease risk. PLOS ONE, 14(12), e0220215. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220215

²¹³ UKB SNP-Heritability Browser. Results from the Neale Lab. Last updated 2019-10-19. https://nealelab.github.io/UKBB_ldsc/h2_browser.html

²¹⁴Lu, T., Forgetta, V., Wu, H., Perry, J. R. B., Ong, K. K., Greenwood, C. M. T., Timpson, N. J., Manousaki, D., & Richards, J. B. (2021). A Polygenic Risk Score to Predict Future Adult Short Stature Among Children. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 106(7), 1918–1928. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgab215

²¹⁵ Patron, J., Serra-Cayuela, A., Han, B., Li, C., & Wishart, D. S. (2019). Assessing the performance of genome-wide association studies for predicting disease risk. PLOS ONE, 14(12), e0220215. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220215

²¹⁶Thareia, G., Al-Sarrai, Y., Belkadi, A., Almotawa, M., Suhre, K., & Albagha, O. M. E. (2021). Whole genome sequencing in the Middle Eastern Qatari population identifies genetic associations with 45 clinically relevant traits. Nature Communications, 12(1), 1250. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21381-3

²¹⁷ Gurdasani, D., Carstensen, T., Fatumo, S., Chen, G., Franklin, C. S., Prado-Martinez, J., Bouman, H., Abascal, F., Haber, M., Tachmazidou, I., Mathieson, I., Ekoru, K., DeGorter, M. K., Nsubuga, R. N., Finan, C., Wheeler, E., Chen, L., Cooper, D. N., Schiffels, S., ... Sandhu, M. S. (2019). Uganda Genome Resource Enables Insights into Population History and Genomic Discovery in Africa. Cell, 179(4), 984-1002.e36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.10.004

²¹⁸ Nam, K., Kim, J., & Lee, S. (2022). Genome-wide study on 72,298 individuals in Korean biobank data for 76 traits. Cell Genomics, 2(10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2022.100189

²¹⁹ Zhang, Q., Sidorenko, J., Couvy-Duchesne, B., Marioni, R. E., Wright, M. J., Goate, A. M., Marcora, E., Huang, K., Porter, T., Laws, S. M., Sachdev, P. S., Mather, K. A., Armstrong, N. J., Thalamuthu, A., Brodaty, H., Yengo, L., Yang, J., Wray, N. R., McRae, A. F., & Visscher, P. M. (2020). Risk prediction of late-onset Alzheimer's disease implies an oligogenic architecture. Nature Communications, 11(1), 4799. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18534-1

²²⁰ Trubetskoy, V., Pardiñas, A. F., Qi, T., Panagiotaropoulou, G., Awasthi, S., Bigdeli, T. B., Bryois, J., Chen, C.-Y., Dennison, C. A., Hall, L. S., Lam, M., Watanabe, K., Frei, O., Ge, T., Harwood, J. C., GeneWatch UK

September 2023

Koopmans, F., Magnusson, S., Richards, A. L., Sidorenko, J., ... Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium. (2022). Mapping genomic loci implicates genes and synaptic biology in schizophrenia. *Nature*, *604*(7906), 502–508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-04434-5</u>

²²¹ Chuong, M., Adams, M. J., Kwong, A. S. F., Haley, C. S., Amador, C., & McIntosh, A. M. (2022). Genome-by-Trauma Exposure Interactions in Adults with Depression in the UK Biobank. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *79*(11), 1110–1117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.2983</u>

²²² Thomas, T. R., Koomar, T., Casten, L. G., Tener, A. J., Bahl, E., & Michaelson, J. J. (2022). Clinical autism subscales have common genetic liabilities that are heritable, pleiotropic, and generalizable to the general population. *Translational Psychiatry*, *12*(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-022-01982-2</u>

²²³ Gidziela, A., Ahmadzadeh, Y. I., Michelini, G., Allegrini, A. G., Agnew-Blais, J., Lau, L. Y., Duret, M., Procopio, F., Daly, E., Ronald, A., Rimfeld, K., & Malanchini, M. (2023). A meta-analysis of genetic effects associated with neurodevelopmental disorders and co-occurring conditions. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01530-y</u>

²²⁴ Zhou, W., Kanai, M., Wu, K.-H. H., Rasheed, H., Tsuo, K., Hirbo, J. B., Wang, Y., Bhattacharya, A., Zhao, H., Namba, S., Surakka, I., Wolford, B. N., Faro, V. L., Lopera-Maya, E. A., Läll, K., Favé, M.-J., Partanen, J. J., Chapman, S. B., Karjalainen, J., ... Neale, B. M. (2022). Global Biobank Meta-analysis Initiative: Powering genetic discovery across human disease. *Cell Genomics*, *2*(10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2022.100192

²²⁵ Maher B (2008) The case of the missing heritability. *Nature*, 456 (6), 18-21.

²²⁶ Génin, E. (2020). Missing heritability of complex diseases: Case solved? *Human Genetics*, *139*(1), 103–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-02034-4</u>

²²⁷ Nolte, I. M., van der Most, P. J., Alizadeh, B. Z., de Bakker, P. I., Boezen, H. M., Bruinenberg, M., Franke, L., van der Harst, P., Navis, G., Postma, D. S., Rots, M. G., Stolk, R. P., Swertz, M. A., Wolffenbuttel, B. H., Wijmenga, C., & Snieder, H. (2017). Missing heritability: Is the gap closing? An analysis of 32 complex traits in the Lifelines Cohort Study. *European Journal of Human Genetics: EJHG*, *25*(7), 877–885. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2017.50</u>

²²⁸ López-Cortegano, E., & Caballero, A. (2019). Inferring the Nature of Missing Heritability in Human Traits Using Data from the GWAS Catalog. *Genetics*, *212*(3), 891–904. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.119.302077

²²⁹ López-Cortegano, E., & Caballero, A. (2019). GWEHS: A Genome-Wide Effect Sizes and Heritability Screener. *Genes*, *10*(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10080558</u>

²³⁰ Lello, L., Avery, S. G., Tellier, L., Vazquez, A. I., de los Campos, G., & Hsu, S. D. H. (2018). Accurate Genomic Prediction of Human Height. *Genetics*, *210*(2), 477–497. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.118.301267

²³¹ Kemper, K. E., Yengo, L., Zheng, Z., Abdellaoui, A., Keller, M. C., Goddard, M. E., Wray, N. R., Yang, J., & Visscher, P. M. (2021). Phenotypic covariance across the entire spectrum of relatedness for 86 billion pairs of individuals. Nature Communications, 12(1), 1050. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21283-4</u>

²³² Thareja, G., Al-Sarraj, Y., Belkadi, A., Almotawa, M., Suhre, K., & Albagha, O. M. E. (2021). Whole genome sequencing in the Middle Eastern Qatari population identifies genetic associations with 45 clinically relevant traits. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 1250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21381-3</u>

²³³ Ge, T., Chen, C.-Y., Neale, B. M., Sabuncu, M. R., & Smoller, J. W. (2017). Phenome-wide heritability analysis of the UK Biobank. PLOS Genetics, 13(4), e1006711. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006711</u>

²³⁴ Patron, J., Serra-Cayuela, A., Han, B., Li, C., & Wishart, D. S. (2019). Assessing the performance of genome-wide association studies for predicting disease risk. PLOS ONE, 14(12), e0220215. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220215

²³⁵ Muslimova, D., Pereira, R. D., Hinke, S. von, Kippersluis, H. van, Rietveld, C. A., & Meddens, S. F.
 W. (2022). *Rank concordance of polygenic indices: Implications for personalised intervention and gene-environment interplay* (p. 2022.05.03.490435). bioRxiv.
 https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.05.03.490435

²³⁶ Ding, Y., Hou, K., Burch, K. S., Lapinska, S., Privé, F., Vilhjálmsson, B., Sankararaman, S., & Pasaniuc, B. (2022). Large uncertainty in individual polygenic risk score estimation impacts PRS-based risk stratification. *Nature Genetics*, *54*(1), 30–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-021-00961-5</u>
 ²³⁷ Sud, A., Horton, R. H., Hingorani, A. D., Tzoulaki, I., Turnbull, C., Houlston, R. S., & Lucassen, A. (2023). Realistic expectations are key to realising the benefits of polygenic scores. *BMJ*, *380*, e073149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-073149</u>

²³⁸ Feldman, M. W., & Lewontin, R. C. (1975). The Heritability Hang-Up. *Science*, *190*(4220), 1163–1168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198102</u>

²³⁹ Feldman, M. W., & Lewontin, R. C. (1975). The Heritability Hang-Up. *Science*, *190*(4220), 1163–1168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198102</u>

²⁴⁰ Brandes, N., Weissbrod, O., & Linial, M. (2022). Open problems in human trait genetics. *Genome Biology*, 23(1), 1–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-022-02697-9</u>

²⁴¹ Osterman, M. D., Kinzy, T. G., & Bailey, J. N. C. (2021). Polygenic Risk Scores. *Current Protocols*, *1*(5), e126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cpz1.126</u>

²⁴² Weedon, M., Jackson, L., Harrison, J., Ruth, K. S., Tyrrell, J., Hattersley, A., & Wright, C. (2021). Use of SNP chips to detect rare pathogenic variants: Retrospective, population based diagnostic evaluation. *BMJ*, 372, n214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n214</u>

²⁴³ Shi, S., Yuan, N., Yang, M., Du, Z., Wang, J., Sheng, X., Wu, J., & Xiao, J. (2018). Comprehensive Assessment of Genotype Imputation Performance. *Human Heredity*, *83*(3), 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1159/000489758

²⁴⁴ Hanks, S. C., Forer, L., Schönherr, S., LeFaive, J., Martins, T., Welch, R., Gagliano Taliun, S. A., Braff, D., Johnsen, J. M., Kenny, E. E., Konkle, B. A., Laakso, M., Loos, R. F. J., McCarroll, S., Pato, C., Pato, M. T., Smith, A. V., NHLBI Trans-Omics for Precision Medicine (TOPMed) Consortium, Boehnke, M., ... Fuchsberger, C. (2022). Extent to which array genotyping and imputation with large reference panels approximate deep whole-genome sequencing. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *109*(9), 1653–1666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2022.07.012

²⁴⁵ Zhao, B., & Zou, F. (2019). On PRS for complex polygenic trait prediction. *BioRxiv*, 447797. https://doi.org/10.1101/447797

²⁴⁶ Zhao, B., & Zou, F. (2019). On PRS for complex polygenic trait prediction. *BioRxiv*, 447797. https://doi.org/10.1101/447797

²⁴⁷ Janssens, A. C. J. W. (2019). Validity of polygenic risk scores: Are we measuring what we think we are? *Human Molecular Genetics*, *28*(R2), R143–R150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddz205</u>

²⁴⁸ Zhou, W., Kanai, M., Wu, K.-H. H., Rasheed, H., Tsuo, K., Hirbo, J. B., Wang, Y., Bhattacharya, A., Zhao, H., Namba, S., Surakka, I., Wolford, B. N., Faro, V. L., Lopera-Maya, E. A., Läll, K., Favé, M.-J., Partanen, J. J., Chapman, S. B., Karjalainen, J., ... Neale, B. M. (2022). Global Biobank Metaanalysis Initiative: Powering genetic discovery across human disease. *Cell Genomics*, *2*(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2022.100192</u>

²⁴⁹ Vilhjálmsson, B. J., & Nordborg, M. (2013). The nature of confounding in genome-wide association studies. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *14*(1), 1–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3382</u>

²⁵⁰ Rosenberg, N. A., Edge, M. D., Pritchard, J. K., & Feldman, M. W. (2019). Interpreting polygenic scores, polygenic adaptation, and human phenotypic differences. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health*, 2019(1), 26–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/emph/eoy036</u>

²⁵¹ Clifton, L., Collister, J. A., Liu, X., Littlejohns, T. J., & Hunter, D. J. (2022). Assessing agreement between different polygenic risk scores in the UK Biobank. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 12812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-17012-6</u>

²⁵² Mostafavi, H., Harpak, A., Agarwal, I., Conley, D., Pritchard, J. K., & Przeworski, M. (2020). Variable prediction accuracy of polygenic scores within an ancestry group. *ELife*, 9, e48376. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.48376</u>

²⁵³ Young, A. I., Benonisdottir, S., Przeworski, M., & Kong, A. (2019). Deconstructing the sources of genotype-phenotype associations in humans. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *365*(6460), 1396–1400. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax3710

²⁵⁴ Abdellaoui, A., Verweij, K. J. H., & Nivard, M. G. (2021). Geographic Confounding in Genome-Wide Association Studies. *BioRxiv*, 2021.03.18.435971. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.18.435971</u>
 ²⁵⁵ Vilhjálmsson, B. J., & Nordborg, M. (2013). The nature of confounding in genome-wide association studies. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, *14*(1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3382

²⁵⁶ Browning, S. R., & Browning, B. L. (2011). Population Structure Can Inflate SNP-Based Heritability Estimates. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *89*(1), 191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.05.025

²⁵⁷ Peterson, R. E., Kuchenbaecker, K., Walters, R. K., Chen, C.-Y., Popejoy, A. B., Periyasamy, S., Lam, M., Iyegbe, C., Strawbridge, R. J., Brick, L., Carey, C. E., Martin, A. R., Meyers, J. L., Su, J., Chen, J., Edwards, A. C., Kalungi, A., Koen, N., Majara, L., ... Duncan, L. E. (2019). Genome-wide Association Studies in Ancestrally Diverse Populations: Opportunities, Methods, Pitfalls, and Recommendations. *Cell*, *179*(3), 589–603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.051</u>

²⁵⁸ Constantinescu, A.-E., Mitchell, R. E., Zheng, J., Bull, C. J., Timpson, N. J., Amulic, B., Vincent, E. E., & Hughes, D. A. (2022). A framework for research into continental ancestry groups of the UK Biobank. *Human Genomics*, *16*(1), 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40246-022-00380-5</u>

 ²⁵⁹ Peterson, R. E., Kuchenbaecker, K., Walters, R. K., Chen, C.-Y., Popejoy, A. B., Periyasamy, S., Lam, M., Iyegbe, C., Strawbridge, R. J., Brick, L., Carey, C. E., Martin, A. R., Meyers, J. L., Su, J., Chen, J., Edwards, A. C., Kalungi, A., Koen, N., Majara, L., ... Duncan, L. E. (2019). Genome-wide Association Studies in Ancestrally Diverse Populations: Opportunities, Methods, Pitfalls, and Recommendations. *Cell*, *179*(3), 589–603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.051</u>
 ²⁶⁰ Mathieson, I., & Scally, A. (2020). What is ancestry? *PLoS Genetics*, *16*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008624

²⁶¹ Mathieson, I., & Scally, A. (2020). What is ancestry? *PLoS Genetics*, *16*(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008624

²⁶² Hughes, E., Wagner, S., Pruss, D., Bernhisel, R., Probst, B., Abkevich, V., Simmons, T., Hullinger, B., Judkins, T., Rosenthal, E., Roa, B., Domchek, S. M., Eng, C., Garber, J., Gary, M., Klemp, J., Mukherjee, S., Offit, K., Olopade, O. I., ... Lanchbury, J. S. (2022). Development and Validation of a Breast Cancer Polygenic Risk Score on the Basis of Genetic Ancestry Composition. *JCO Precision Oncology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/PO.22.00084</u>

²⁶³ Martin, A. R., Gignoux, C. R., Walters, R. K., Wojcik, G. L., Neale, B. M., Gravel, S., Daly, M. J., Bustamante, C. D., & Kenny, E. E. (2017). Human Demographic History Impacts Genetic Risk Prediction across Diverse Populations. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *100*(4), 635–649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.03.004</u>

²⁶⁴ Hughes, E., Wagner, S., Pruss, D., Bernhisel, R., Probst, B., Abkevich, V., Simmons, T., Hullinger, B., Judkins, T., Rosenthal, E., Roa, B., Domchek, S. M., Eng, C., Garber, J., Gary, M., Klemp, J., Mukherjee, S., Offit, K., Olopade, O. I., ... Lanchbury, J. S. (2022). Development and Validation of a Breast Cancer Polygenic Risk Score on the Basis of Genetic Ancestry Composition. *JCO Precision Oncology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/PO.22.00084</u>

²⁶⁵ Janssens, A. C. J. W. (2019). Validity of polygenic risk scores: Are we measuring what we think we are? *Human Molecular Genetics*, *28*(R2), R143–R150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddz205</u>
 ²⁶⁶ Norton, H. L., Quillen, E. E., Bigham, A. W., Pearson, L. N., & Dunsworth, H. (2019). Human races are not like dog breeds: Refuting a racist analogy. *Evolution: Education and Outreach*, *12*(1), 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12052-019-0109-y</u>

²⁶⁷ Duncan, L., Shen, H., Gelaye, B., Meijsen, J., Ressler, K., Feldman, M., Peterson, R., & Domingue, B. (2019). Analysis of polygenic risk score usage and performance in diverse human populations. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 3328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11112-0</u>
²⁶⁸ Duncan, L., Shen, H., Gelaye, B., Meijsen, J., Ressler, K., Feldman, M., Peterson, R., & Domingue, B. (2019). Analysis of polygenic risk score usage and performance in diverse human populations. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 3328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11112-0</u>
²⁶⁹ Refoyo-Martínez, A., Liu, S., Jørgensen, A. M., Jin, X., Albrechtsen, A., Martin, A. R., & Racimo, F. (2021). How robust are cross-population signatures of polygenic adaptation in humans? *BioRxiv*, 2020.07.13.200030. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.13.200030

²⁷⁰ Barton, N., Hermisson, J., & Nordborg, M. (2019). Why structure matters. *ELife*, *8*, e45380. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.45380</u>

²⁷¹ Elhaik, E. (2022). Principal Component Analyses (PCA)-based findings in population genetic studies are highly biased and must be reevaluated. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-14395-4</u>

²⁷² Gola, D., Erdmann, J., Aittomäki, K., Mägi, R., Müller-Myhsok, B., Schunkert, H., & König, I. R. (2020). Population Bias in Polygenic Risk Prediction Models for Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation: Genomic and Precision Medicine*, *13*(6), e002932. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.002932</u>
 ²⁷³ Mills, M. C., & Rahal, C. (2019). A scientometric review of genome-wide association studies. *Communications Biology*, *2*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-018-0261-x

²⁷⁴ Mostafavi, H., Harpak, A., Agarwal, I., Conley, D., Pritchard, J. K., & Przeworski, M. (2020). Variable prediction accuracy of polygenic scores within an ancestry group. *ELife*, *9*, e48376. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.48376

²⁷⁵ Duncan, L., Shen, H., Gelaye, B., Meijsen, J., Ressler, K., Feldman, M., Peterson, R., & Domingue, B. (2019). Analysis of polygenic risk score usage and performance in diverse human populations. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 3328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11112-0</u>

²⁷⁶ Bigdeli, T. B., Genovese, G., Georgakopoulos, P., Meyers, J. L., Peterson, R. E., Iyegbe, C. O., Medeiros, H., Valderrama, J., Achtyes, E. D., Kotov, R., Stahl, E. A., Abbott, C., Azevedo, M. H., Belliveau, R. A., Bevilacqua, E., Bromet, E. J., Byerley, W., Carvalho, C. B., Chapman, S. B., ... Pato, C. N. (2020). Contributions of common genetic variants to risk of schizophrenia among individuals of African and Latino ancestry. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *25*(10), 2455–2467. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-019-0517-y ²⁷⁷ De La Vega, F. M., & Bustamante, C. D. (2018). Polygenic risk scores: A biased prediction? *Genome Medicine*, *10*(1), 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-018-0610-x</u>

²⁷⁸Thareja, G., Al-Sarraj, Y., Belkadi, A., Almotawa, M., Suhre, K., & Albagha, O. M. E. (2021). Whole genome sequencing in the Middle Eastern Qatari population identifies genetic associations with 45 clinically relevant traits. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1), 1250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21381-3</u>

²⁷⁹ Mars, N., Kerminen, S., Feng, Y.-C. A., Kanai, M., Läll, K., Thomas, L. F., Skogholt, A. H., Parolo, P. della B., Neale, B. M., Smoller, J. W., Gabrielsen, M. E., Hveem, K., Mägi, R., Matsuda, K., Okada, Y., Pirinen, M., Palotie, A., Ganna, A., Martin, A. R., & Ripatti, S. (2022). Genome-wide risk prediction of common diseases across ancestries in one million people. *Cell Genomics*, *2*(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2022.100118

²⁸⁰ Kim, M. S., Naidoo, D., Hazra, U., Quiver, M. H., Chen, W. C., Simonti, C. N., Kachambwa, P., Harlemon, M., Agalliu, I., Baichoo, S., Fernandez, P., Hsing, A. W., Jalloh, M., Gueye, S. M., Niang, L., Diop, H., Ndoye, M., Snyper, N. Y., Adusei, B., ... Lachance, J. (2022). Testing the generalizability of ancestry-specific polygenic risk scores to predict prostate cancer in sub-Saharan Africa. *Genome Biology*, 23(1), 194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-022-02766-z</u>

²⁸¹ Curtis, D. (2018). Polygenic risk score for schizophrenia is more strongly associated with ancestry than with schizophrenia. *Psychiatric Genetics*, *28*(5), 85–89.

https://doi.org/10.1097/YPG.000000000000206

²⁸² Peterson, R. E., Kuchenbaecker, K., Walters, R. K., Chen, C.-Y., Popejoy, A. B., Periyasamy, S., Lam, M., Iyegbe, C., Strawbridge, R. J., Brick, L., Carey, C. E., Martin, A. R., Meyers, J. L., Su, J., Chen, J., Edwards, A. C., Kalungi, A., Koen, N., Majara, L., ... Duncan, L. E. (2019). Genome-wide Association Studies in Ancestrally Diverse Populations: Opportunities, Methods, Pitfalls, and Recommendations. *Cell*, *179*(3), 589–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.051

²⁸³ Martin, A. R., Gignoux, C. R., Walters, R. K., Wojcik, G. L., Neale, B. M., Gravel, S., Daly, M. J., Bustamante, C. D., & Kenny, E. E. (2017). Human Demographic History Impacts Genetic Risk Prediction across Diverse Populations. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *100*(4), 635–649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.03.004</u>

²⁸⁴ Martin, A. R., Gignoux, C. R., Walters, R. K., Wojcik, G. L., Neale, B. M., Gravel, S., Daly, M. J., Bustamante, C. D., & Kenny, E. E. (2017). Human Demographic History Impacts Genetic Risk Prediction across Diverse Populations. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *100*(4), 635–649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.03.004</u>

²⁸⁵ Duncan, L., Shen, H., Gelaye, B., Meijsen, J., Ressler, K., Feldman, M., Peterson, R., & Domingue, B. (2019). Analysis of polygenic risk score usage and performance in diverse human populations. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 3328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11112-0</u>

²⁸⁶ Peterson, R. E., Kuchenbaecker, K., Walters, R. K., Chen, C.-Y., Popejoy, A. B., Periyasamy, S., Lam, M., Iyegbe, C., Strawbridge, R. J., Brick, L., Carey, C. E., Martin, A. R., Meyers, J. L., Su, J., Chen, J., Edwards, A. C., Kalungi, A., Koen, N., Majara, L., ... Duncan, L. E. (2019). Genome-wide Association Studies in Ancestrally Diverse Populations: Opportunities, Methods, Pitfalls, and Recommendations. *Cell*, *179*(3), 589–603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.051</u>

²⁸⁷ Brown, B. C., Ye, C. J., Price, A. L., & Zaitlen, N. (2016). Transethnic Genetic-Correlation Estimates from Summary Statistics. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, *99*(1), 76–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2016.05.001</u>

²⁸⁸ Uchiyama, R., Spicer, R., & Muthukrishna, M. (2022). Cultural evolution of genetic heritability. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *45*, e152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X21000893</u>
 ²⁸⁹ Bell, A. V., Richerson, P. J., & McElreath, R. (2009). Culture rather than genes provides greater scope for the evolution of large-scale human prosociality. *Proceedings of the National Academy of*

Sciences, 106(42), 17671–17674. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903232106

²⁹⁰ Laland, K. N. (2008). Exploring gene–culture interactions: Insights from handedness, sexual selection and niche-construction case studies. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363(1509), 3577–3589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0132</u>

²⁹¹ Farmaki, A.-E., Garfield, V., Eastwood, S. V., Farmer, R. E., Mathur, R., Giannakopoulou, O., Patalay, P., Kuchenbaecker, K., Sattar, N., Hughes, A., Bhaskaran, K., Smeeth, L., & Chaturvedi, N. (2021). Type 2 diabetes risks and determinants in second-generation migrants and mixed ethnicity people of South Asian and African Caribbean descent in the UK. *Diabetologia*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-021-05580-7</u>

²⁹² Weiss, K. M. (2008). Tilting at quixotic trait loci (QTL): An evolutionary perspective on genetic causation. Genetics, 179(4), 1741–1756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.108.094128</u>
²⁹³ Loika, Y., Irincheeva, I., Culminskaya, I., Nazarian, A., & Kulminski, A. M. (2020). Polygenic risk scores: pleiotropy and the effect of environment. *GeroScience*, *4*2(6), 1635–1647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-020-00203-2</u>

²⁹⁴ Kuchenbaecker, K., Telkar, N., Reiker, T., Walters, R. G., Lin, K., Eriksson, A., Gurdasani, D., Gilly, A., Southam, L., Tsafantakis, E., Karaleftheri, M., Seeley, J., Kamali, A., Asiki, G., Millwood, I. Y., Holmes, M., Du, H., Guo, Y., Kumari, M., ... Zeggini, E. (2019). The transferability of lipid loci across African, Asian and European cohorts. *Nature Communications*, *10*, 4330. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12026-7

²⁹⁵ Gola, D., Erdmann, J., Aittomäki, K., Mägi, R., Müller-Myhsok, B., Schunkert, H., & König, I. R. (2020). Population Bias in Polygenic Risk Prediction Models for Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation: Genomic and Precision Medicine*, *13*(6), e002932. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.002932</u>
 ²⁹⁶ Duncan, L., Shen, H., Gelaye, B., Meijsen, J., Ressler, K., Feldman, M., Peterson, R., & Domingue, B. (2019). Analysis of polygenic risk score usage and performance in diverse human populations. *Nature Communications*, *10*(1), 3328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11112-0</u>
 ²⁹⁷ Coop, G. (2019). *Reading tea leaves? Polygenic scores and differences in traits among groups*

²⁹⁷ Coop, G. (2019). *Reading tea leaves? Polygenic scores and differences in traits among groups* (arXiv:1909.00892). arXiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1909.00892</u>

²⁹⁸ Kamiza, A. B., Toure, S. M., Vujković, M., Machipisa, T., Soremekun, O. S., Kintu, C., Corpas, M., Pirie, F., Young, E., Gill, D., Sandhu, M. S., Kaleebu, P., Nyirenda, M., Motala, A. A., Chikowore, T., & Fatumo, S. (2022). Transferability of genetic risk scores in African populations. *Nature Medicine*, 28(6), 1163–1166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-01835-x</u>

²⁹⁹ Fan, S., Spence, J. P., Feng, Y., Hansen, M. E. B., Terhorst, J., Beltrame, M. H., Ranciaro, A., Hirbo, J., Beggs, W., Thomas, N., Nyambo, T., Mpoloka, S. W., Mokone, G. G., Njamnshi, A., Folkunang, C., Meskel, D. W., Belay, G., Song, Y. S., & Tishkoff, S. A. (2023). Whole-genome sequencing reveals a complex African population demographic history and signatures of local adaptation. *Cell*, *186*(5), 923-939.e14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2023.01.042</u>

³⁰⁰ Mathieson, I. (2021). The omnigenic model and polygenic prediction of complex traits. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *108*(9), 1558–1563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2021.07.003</u>

³⁰¹ Burt, C. H. (2022). Challenging the Utility of Polygenic Scores for Social Science: Environmental Confounding, Downward Causation, and Unknown Biology. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X22001145</u>

³⁰² Tönnies, T., Kahl, S., & Kuss, O. (2022). Collider Bias in Observational Studies. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*, *119*(7), 107–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.m2022.0076</u>

³⁰³ Akimova, E. T., Breen, R., Brazel, D. M., & Mills, M. C. (2021). Gene-environment dependencies lead to collider bias in models with polygenic scores. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 9457. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-89020-x

³⁰⁴ Munafò, M. R., Tilling, K., Taylor, A. E., Evans, D. M., & Davey Smith, G. (2018). Collider scope: When selection bias can substantially influence observed associations. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 47(1), 226–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyx206</u>

³⁰⁵ Abdellaoui, A., Verweij, K. J. H., & Nivard, M. G. (2021). Geographic Confounding in Genome-Wide Association Studies. *BioRxiv*, 2021.03.18.435971. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.18.435971</u>
 ³⁰⁶ Feldman, M. W., & Lewontin, R. C. (1975). The Heritability Hang-Up. *Science*, *190*(4220), 1163–1168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198102</u>

³⁰⁷ Baud, A., Mulligan, M. K., Casale, F. P., Ingels, J. F., Bohl, C. J., Callebert, J., Launay, J.-M., Krohn, J., Legarra, A., Williams, R. W., & Stegle, O. (2017). Genetic Variation in the Social Environment Contributes to Health and Disease. *PLOS Genetics*, *13*(1), e1006498. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006498

³⁰⁸ Tomar, A., & Teperino, R. (2020). Genetic control of non-genetic inheritance in mammals: State-of-the-art and perspectives. *Mammalian Genome*, *31*(5), 146–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00335-020-09841-5</u>

³⁰⁹ Burt, C. H. (2022). Challenging the Utility of Polygenic Scores for Social Science: Environmental Confounding, Downward Causation, and Unknown Biology. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X22001145</u>

³¹⁰ Burt, C. H. (2022). Challenging the Utility of Polygenic Scores for Social Science: Environmental Confounding, Downward Causation, and Unknown Biology. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X22001145

³¹¹ Young, A. I., Benonisdottir, S., Przeworski, M., & Kong, A. (2019). Deconstructing the sources of genotype-phenotype associations in humans. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *365*(6460), 1396–1400. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax3710 ³¹² Border, R., O'Rourke, S., de Candia, T., Goddard, M. E., Visscher, P. M., Yengo, L., Jones, M., & Keller, M. C. (2022). Assortative mating biases marker-based heritability estimators. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-28294-9

³¹³ Jordan, D. M., Verbanck, M., & Do, R. (2019). HOPS: A quantitative score reveals pervasive horizontal pleiotropy in human genetic variation is driven by extreme polygenicity of human traits and diseases. *Genome Biology*, *20*(1), 222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-019-1844-7</u>

³¹⁴ Young, A. I., Benonisdottir, S., Przeworski, M., & Kong, A. (2019). Deconstructing the sources of genotype-phenotype associations in humans. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *365*(6460), 1396–1400. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax3710

³¹⁵ Loika, Y., Irincheeva, I., Culminskaya, I., Nazarian, A., & Kulminski, A. M. (2020). Polygenic risk scores: pleiotropy and the effect of environment. *GeroScience*, *42*(6), 1635–1647. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-020-00203-2

³¹⁶ Border, R., Athanasiadis, G., Buil, A., Schork, A. J., Cai, N., Young, A. I., Werge, T., Flint, J., Kendler, K. S., Sankararaman, S., Dahl, A. W., & Zaitlen, N. A. (2022). Cross-trait assortative mating is widespread and inflates genetic correlation estimates. *Science*, *378*(6621), 754–761. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo2059

³¹⁷ Abdellaoui, A., Verweij, K. J. H., & Nivard, M. G. (2021). Geographic Confounding in Genome-Wide Association Studies. *BioRxiv*, 2021.03.18.435971. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.18.435971</u>
 ³¹⁸ Abdellaoui, A., Hugh-Jones, D., Yengo, L., Kemper, K. E., Nivard, M. G., Veul, L., Holtz, Y.,

Zietsch, B. P., Frayling, T. M., Wray, N. R., Yang, J., Verweij, K. J. H., & Visscher, P. M. (2019). Genetic correlates of social stratification in Great Britain. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *3*(12), 1332–1342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-019-0757-5</u>

³¹⁹ Schoeler, T., Speed, D., Porcu, E., Pirastu, N., Pingault, J.-B., & Kutalik, Z. (2023). Participation bias in the UK Biobank distorts genetic associations and downstream analyses. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-023-01579-9</u>

³²⁰ Kemper, K. E., Yengo, L., Zheng, Z., Abdellaoui, A., Keller, M. C., Goddard, M. E., Wray, N. R., Yang, J., & Visscher, P. M. (2021). Phenotypic covariance across the entire spectrum of relatedness for 86 billion pairs of individuals. Nature Communications, 12(1), 1050. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21283-4

³²¹ Zaitlen, N., & Kraft, P. (2012). Heritability in the genome-wide association era. *Human Genetics*, *131*(10), 1655–1664. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-012-1199-6

³²² Mathieson, I. (2021). The omnigenic model and polygenic prediction of complex traits. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *108*(9), 1558–1563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2021.07.003</u>

³²³ Zaitlen, N., & Kraft, P. (2012). Heritability in the genome-wide association era. *Human Genetics*, *131*(10), 1655–1664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-012-1199-6</u>

³²⁴ Fisher, R. A. (1918). The Correlation Between Relatives on the Supposition of Mendelian Inheritance. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh*, 52, 399–433. https://digital.library.adelaide.edu.au/dspace/handle/2440/15097

³²⁵ Felson, J. (2014). What can we learn from twin studies? A comprehensive evaluation of the equal environments assumption. *Social Science Research*, *43*, 184–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2013.10.004

³²⁶ Kemper, K. E., Yengo, L., Zheng, Z., Abdellaoui, A., Keller, M. C., Goddard, M. E., Wray, N. R., Yang, J., & Visscher, P. M. (2021). Phenotypic covariance across the entire spectrum of relatedness for 86 billion pairs of individuals. Nature Communications, 12(1), 1050. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21283-4

³²⁷ Coventry, W. L., & Keller, M. C. (2005). Estimating the Extent of Parameter Bias in the Classical Twin Design: A Comparison of Parameter Estimates From Extended Twin-Family and Classical Twin Designs. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, *8*(3), 214–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1375/twin.8.3.214</u>
 ³²⁸ Zaitlen, N., & Kraft, P. (2012). Heritability in the genome-wide association era. *Human Genetics*, *131*(10), 1655–1664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-012-1199-6</u>

³²⁹ Zhu, H., & Zhou, X. (2020). Statistical methods for SNP heritability estimation and partition: A review. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, *18*, 1557–1568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.06.011

³³⁰ Kemper, K. E., Yengo, L., Zheng, Z., Abdellaoui, A., Keller, M. C., Goddard, M. E., Wray, N. R., Yang, J., & Visscher, P. M. (2021). Phenotypic covariance across the entire spectrum of relatedness for 86 billion pairs of individuals. Nature Communications, 12(1), 1050. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21283-4

³³¹ Janssens, A. C. J. W., & Joyner, M. J. (2019). Polygenic Risk Scores That Predict Common Diseases Using Millions of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms: Is More, Better? *Clinical Chemistry*, 65(5), 609–611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2018.296103</u> ³³² Nakamura, T., & Takata, A. (2023). The molecular pathology of schizophrenia: An overview of existing knowledge and new directions for future research. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-023-02005-2</u>

³³³ Génin, E. (2020). Missing heritability of complex diseases: Case solved? *Human Genetics*, *139*(1), 103–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-02034-4</u>

³³⁴ Keller, E. F. (2010). The Mirage of a Space between Nature and Nurture. Duke University Press. <u>https://www.dukeupress.edu/the-mirage-of-a-space-between-nature-and-nurture</u>

³³⁵ Génin, E. (2020). Missing heritability of complex diseases: Case solved? *Human Genetics*, *139*(1), 103–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-02034-4</u>

³³⁶ Fisher, R. A. (1918). The Correlation Between Relatives on the Supposition of Mendelian Inheritance. *Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh*, *52*, 399–433. https://digital.library.adelaide.edu.au/dspace/handle/2440/15097

³³⁷ Clayton, D. (2012). Link Functions in Multi-Locus Genetic Models: Implications for Testing, Prediction, and Interpretation. *Genetic Epidemiology*, *36*(4), 409–418. https://doi.org/10.1002/gepi.21635

³³⁸ Elks, C. E., den Hoed, M., Zhao, J. H., Sharp, S. J., Wareham, N. J., Loos, R. J. F., & Ong, K. K. (2012). Variability in the Heritability of Body Mass Index: A Systematic Review and Meta-Regression. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *3*, 29. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2012.00029</u>

³³⁹ Huang, W., & Mackay, T. F. C. (2016). The Genetic Architecture of Quantitative Traits Cannot Be Inferred from Variance Component Analysis. *PLOS Genetics*, *12*(11), e1006421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006421</u>

³⁴⁰ Nelson, R. M., Pettersson, M. E., & Carlborg, Ö. (2013). A century after Fisher: Time for a new paradigm in quantitative genetics. *Trends in Genetics: TIG*, *29*(12), 669–676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2013.09.006</u>

³⁴¹ Keller, M. C., Medland, S. E., & Duncan, L. E. (2010). Are extended twin family designs worth the trouble? A comparison of the bias, precision, and accuracy of parameters estimated in four twin family models. *Behavior Genetics*, *40*(3), 377–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10519-009-9320-x</u>

³⁴² Chen, X., Kuja-Halkola, R., Rahman, I., Arpegård, J., Viktorin, A., Karlsson, R., Hägg, S., Svensson, P., Pedersen, N. L., & Magnusson, P. K. E. (2015). Dominant Genetic Variation and Missing Heritability for Human Complex Traits: Insights from Twin versus Genome-wide Common SNP Models. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *97*(5), 708–714. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.10.004

³⁴³ Keller, M. C., Medland, S. E., & Duncan, L. E. (2010). Are extended twin family designs worth the trouble? A comparison of the bias, precision, and accuracy of parameters estimated in four twin family models. *Behavior Genetics*, *40*(3), 377–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10519-009-9320-x</u>

³⁴⁴ Palmer, D. S., Zhou, W., Abbott, L., Baya, N., Churchhouse, C., Seed, C., Poterba, T., King, D., Kanai, M., Bloemendal, A., & Neale, B. M. (2021). *Analysis of genetic dominance in the UK Biobank* (p. 2021.08.15.456387). bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.08.15.456387</u>

³⁴⁵ Zuk, O., Hechter, E., Sunyaev, S. R., & Lander, E. S. (2012). The mystery of missing heritability: Genetic interactions create phantom heritability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *109*(4), 1193–1198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1119675109</u>

³⁴⁶ Moore, J. H., & Williams, S. M. (2009). Epistasis and Its Implications for Personal Genetics.
 American Journal of Human Genetics, *85*(3), 309–320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.08.006</u>
 ³⁴⁷ Hemani, G., Knott, S., & Haley, C. (2013). An Evolutionary Perspective on Epistasis and the
 Missing Heritability. PLOS Genetics, 9(2), e1003295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003295</u>
 ³⁴⁸ Feldman, M. W., & Lewontin, R. C. (1975). The Heritability Hang-Up. *Science*, *190*(4220), 1163–1168. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198102

 ³⁴⁹ Moore, J. H., & Williams, S. M. (2009). Epistasis and Its Implications for Personal Genetics. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *85*(3), 309–320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.08.006</u>
 ³⁵⁰ Clayton, D. (2012). Link Functions in Multi-Locus Genetic Models: Implications for Testing, Prediction, and Interpretation. *Genetic Epidemiology*, *36*(4), 409–418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/gepi.21635</u>

³⁵¹ Sauce, B., & Matzel, L. D. (2018). The Paradox of Intelligence: Heritability and Malleability Coexist in Hidden Gene-Environment Interplay. *Psychological Bulletin*, *144*(1), 26–47. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000131

³⁵² Feldman, M. W., & Lewontin, R. C. (1975). The Heritability Hang-Up. *Science*, *190*(4220), 1163–1168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198102</u>

³⁵³ Chuong, M., Adams, M. J., Kwong, A. S. F., Haley, C. S., Amador, C., & McIntosh, A. M. (2022). Genome-by-Trauma Exposure Interactions in Adults with Depression in the UK Biobank. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 79(11), 1110–1117. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.2983

GeneWatch UK

September 2023

³⁵⁴ Clayton, D. (2012). Link Functions in Multi-Locus Genetic Models: Implications for Testing, Prediction, and Interpretation. Genetic Epidemiology, 36(4), 409-418. https://doi.org/10.1002/gepi.21635

³⁵⁵ Wallace, H. M. (2006). A model of gene-gene and gene-environment interactions and its implications for targeting environmental interventions by genotype. Theoretical Biology & Medical Modelling, 3, 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4682-3-35

³⁵⁶ Zuk, O., Hechter, E., Sunyaev, S. R., & Lander, E. S. (2012). The mystery of missing heritability: Genetic interactions create phantom heritability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 109(4), 1193–1198. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1119675109

³⁵⁷ Génin, E. (2020). Missing heritability of complex diseases: Case solved? *Human Genetics*, 139(1), 103-113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-02034-4

³⁵⁸ Sauce, B., & Matzel, L. D. (2018). The Paradox of Intelligence: Heritability and Malleability Coexist in Hidden Gene-Environment Interplay. Psychological Bulletin, 144(1), 26-47. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000131

³⁵⁹ Wallace, H. M. (2009). Genetic Screening for Susceptibility to Disease. In ELS. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0021790

³⁶⁰ Morgante, F., Huang, W., Maltecca, C., & Mackay, T. F. C. (2018). Effect of genetic architecture on the prediction accuracy of quantitative traits in samples of unrelated individuals. Heredity, 120(6), 500-514. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41437-017-0043-0

³⁶¹ Mathieson, I. (2021). The omnigenic model and polygenic prediction of complex traits. American Journal of Human Genetics, 108(9), 1558–1563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2021.07.003

³⁶² Mathieson, I. (2021). The omnigenic model and polygenic prediction of complex traits. American Journal of Human Genetics, 108(9), 1558–1563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2021.07.003

³⁶³ Honegger, K., & de Bivort, B. (2018). Stochasticity, individuality and behavior. Current Biology: CB, 28(1), R8-R12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.11.058

³⁶⁴ Giardiello, D., Hooning, M. J., Hauptmann, M., & et al. (2022, June 28). PredictCBC-2.0: A contralateral breast cancer risk prediction model developed and validated in ~200,000 patients. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1767532/v1

³⁶⁵ Bani, -Hani Ahmad H., Leibovich, B. C., Lohse, C. M., Cheville, J. C., Zincke, H., & Blute, M. L. (2005). Associations with contralateral recurrence following nephrectomy for renal cell carcinoma using a cohort of 2,352 patients. Journal of Urology, 173(2), 391-394. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ju.0000148951.71353.8b

³⁶⁶ Peck, D. J., & Samei, E. (2017, March). How to Understand and Communicate Radiation Risk. Image Wisely, https://www.imagewisely.org/Imaging-Modalities/Computed-Tomography/How-to-Understand-and-Communicate-Radiation-Risk

³⁶⁷ Gärtner, K. (1990). A third component causing random variability beside environment and genotype. A reason for the limited success of a 30 year long effort to standardize laboratory animals? Laboratory Animals, 24(1), 71-77. https://doi.org/10.1258/002367790780890347

³⁶⁸ Kan, K.-J., Boomsma, D. I., Dolan, C. V., & van der Maas, H. L. J. (2012). Commentary: The presence of bifurcations as a 'third component of individual differences': implications for quantitative (behaviour) genetics. International Journal of Epidemiology, 41(2), 346-351. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyr222

³⁶⁹ Mitchell, K. J. (2022). Developmental noise is an overlooked contributor to innate variation in psychological traits. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 45, e171.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X21001655

³⁷⁰ Nakamura, T., & Takata, A. (2023). The molecular pathology of schizophrenia: An overview of existing knowledge and new directions for future research. Molecular Psychiatry, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-023-02005-2

³⁷¹ Fitzgerald, T., & Birney, E. (2022). CNest: A novel copy number association discovery method uncovers 862 new associations from 200,629 whole-exome sequence datasets in the UK Biobank. Cell Genomics, 2(8). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2022.100167

³⁷² Auwerx, C., Lepamets, M., Sadler, M. C., Patxot, M., Stojanov, M., Baud, D., Mägi, R., Esko, T., Metspalu, A., Milani, L., Mägi, R., Nelis, M., Porcu, E., Reymond, A., & Kutalik, Z. (2022). The individual and global impact of copy-number variants on complex human traits. The American Journal of Human Genetics, 109(4), 647-668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2022.02.010

³⁷³ Nakamura, T., & Takata, A. (2023). The molecular pathology of schizophrenia: An overview of existing knowledge and new directions for future research. Molecular Psychiatry, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-023-02005-2

³⁷⁴ Speed, D., Holmes, J., & Balding, D. J. (2020). Evaluating and improving heritability models using summary statistics. Nature Genetics, 52(4), 458-462. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-020-0600-y GeneWatch UK

September 2023

³⁷⁵ Abdellaoui, A., Verweij, K. J. H., & Nivard, M. G. (2021). Geographic Confounding in Genome-Wide Association Studies. BioRxiv, 2021.03.18.435971. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.18.435971 ³⁷⁶ Young, A. I. (2019). Solving the missing heritability problem. *PLOS Genetics*, 15(6), e1008222. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1008222

³⁷⁷ Baud, A., Mulligan, M. K., Casale, F. P., Ingels, J. F., Bohl, C. J., Callebert, J., Launay, J.-M., Krohn, J., Legarra, A., Williams, R. W., & Stegle, O. (2017). Genetic Variation in the Social Environment Contributes to Health and Disease. PLOS Genetics, 13(1), e1006498. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006498

³⁷⁸ Tomar, A., & Teperino, R. (2020). Genetic control of non-genetic inheritance in mammals: State-ofthe-art and perspectives. Mammalian Genome, 31(5), 146-156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00335-020-09841-5

³⁷⁹ Rawlik, K., Canela-Xandri, O., Woolliams, J., & Tenesa, A. (2020). SNP heritability: What are we estimating? (p. 2020.09.15.276121). https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.15.276121

³⁸⁰ Dandine-Roulland, C., Bellenguez, C., Debette, S., Amouyel, P., Génin, E., & Perdry, H. (2016). Accuracy of heritability estimations in presence of hidden population stratification. Scientific Reports, 6(1), 26471. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26471

³⁸¹ Howe, L. J., Nivard, M. G., Morris, T. T., Hansen, A. F., Rasheed, H., Cho, Y., Chittoor, G., Ahlskog, R., Lind, P. A., Palviainen, T., van der Zee, M. D., Cheesman, R., Mangino, M., Wang, Y., Li, S., Klaric, L., Ratliff, S. M., Bielak, L. F., Nygaard, M., ... Davies, N. M. (2022). Within-sibship genome-wide association analyses decrease bias in estimates of direct genetic effects. Nature Genetics, 54(5), 581-592. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-022-01062-7

³⁸² Lello, L., Raben, T. G., & Hsu, S. D. H. (2020). Sibling validation of polygenic risk scores and complex trait prediction. Scientific Reports, 10(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69927-7

³⁸³ Kemper, K. E., Yengo, L., Zheng, Z., Abdellaoui, A., Keller, M. C., Goddard, M. E., Wray, N. R., Yang, J., & Visscher, P. M. (2021). Phenotypic covariance across the entire spectrum of relatedness for 86 billion pairs of individuals. Nature Communications, 12(1), 1050. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21283-4

³⁸⁴ Wainschtein, P., Jain, D., Zheng, Z., Group, Topm. A. W., Consortium, N. T.-O. for P. M. (TOPMed), Cupples, L. A., Shadyab, A. H., McKnight, B., Shoemaker, B. M., Mitchell, B. D., Psaty, B. M., Kooperberg, C., Liu, C.-T., Albert, C. M., Roden, D., Chasman, D. I., Darbar, D., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Arnett, D. K., ... Visscher, P. M. (2021). Recovery of trait heritability from whole genome sequence data (p. 588020). BioRXiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/588020

 ³⁸⁵ https://nealelab.github.io/UKBB_ldsc/h2_summary_23104_irnt.html
 ³⁸⁶ https://nealelab.github.io/UKBB_ldsc/h2_summary_50_irnt.html
 ³⁸⁷ Kemper, K. E., Yengo, L., Zheng, Z., Abdellaoui, A., Keller, M. C., Goddard, M. E., Wray, N. R., Yang, J., & Visscher, P. M. (2021). Phenotypic covariance across the entire spectrum of relatedness for 86 billion pairs of individuals. Nature Communications, 12(1), 1050. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21283-4

³⁸⁸ Raymond, B., Bouwman, A. C., Schrooten, C., Houwing-Duistermaat, J., & Veerkamp, R. F. (2018). Utility of whole-genome sequence data for across-breed genomic prediction. Genetics Selection Evolution, 50(1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12711-018-0396-8

³⁸⁹ Kierczak, M., Rafati, N., Höglund, J., Gourlé, H., Lo Faro, V., Schmitz, D., Ek, W. E., Gyllensten, U., Enroth, S., Ekman, D., Nystedt, B., Karlsson, T., & Johansson, Å. (2022), Contribution of rare whole-genome sequencing variants to plasma protein levels and the missing heritability. Nature Communications, 13(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-30208-8

³⁹⁰ Weiner, D. J., Nadig, A., Jagadeesh, K. A., Dey, K. K., Neale, B. M., Robinson, E. B., Karczewski, K. J., & O'Connor, L. J. (2023). Polygenic architecture of rare coding variation across 394,783 exomes. Nature, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05684-z

³⁹¹ Fiziev, P. P., McRae, J., Ulirsch, J. C., Dron, J. S., Hamp, T., Yang, Y., Wainschtein, P., Ni, Z., Schraiber, J. G., Gao, H., Cable, D., Field, Y., Aguet, F., Fasnacht, M., Metwally, A., Rogers, J., Marques-Bonet, T., Rehm, H. L., O'Donnell-Luria, A., ... Farh, K. K.-H. (2023). Rare penetrant mutations confer severe risk of common diseases. Science, 380(6648), eabo1131. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo1131

³⁹² Nakamura, T., & Takata, A. (2023). The molecular pathology of schizophrenia: An overview of existing knowledge and new directions for future research. Molecular Psychiatry, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-023-02005-2

³⁹³ Gazal, S., Loh, P.-R., Finucane, H. K., Ganna, A., Schoech, A., Sunyaev, S., & Price, A. L. (2018). Functional architecture of low-frequency variants highlights strength of negative selection across

coding and noncoding annotations. *Nature Genetics*, *50*(11), 1600–1607. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-018-0231-8</u>

 ³⁹⁴ Hemani, G., Knott, S., & Haley, C. (2013). An Evolutionary Perspective on Epistasis and the Missing Heritability. PLOS Genetics, 9(2), e1003295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003295</u>
 ³⁹⁵ Singh, R. S. (2021). Decoding 'Unnecessary Complexity': A Law of Complexity and a Concept of Hidden Variation Behind "Missing Heritability" in Precision Medicine. Journal of Molecular Evolution, 89(8), 513–526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00239-021-10023-3</u>

³⁹⁶ Strohman, R. (2002). Maneuvering in the complex path from genotype to phenotype. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), 296(5568), 701–703. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1070534</u>

³⁹⁷ Moore, J. H., & Williams, S. M. (2009). Epistasis and Its Implications for Personal Genetics.
 American Journal of Human Genetics, *85*(3), 309–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.08.006
 ³⁹⁸ Kemble, H., Eisenhauer, C., Couce, A., Chapron, A., Magnan, M., Gautier, G., Le Nagard, H., Nghe, P., & Tenaillon, O. (2020). Flux, toxicity, and expression costs generate complex genetic interactions in a metabolic pathway. *Science Advances*, *6*(23), eabb2236.

³⁹⁹ Porteous, J. W. (2004). A rational treatment of Mendelian genetics. *Theoretical Biology & Medical Modelling*, *1*, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4682-1-6</u>

⁴⁰⁰ Weiss, K. M. (2020). The Four Horsemen of the 'Omicsalypse': Ontology, replicability, probability and epistemology. *Human Genetics*, *139*(1), 115–120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-019-02007-7</u>

⁴⁰¹ Baverstock, K. (2019). Polygenic scores: Are they a public health hazard? *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, 149, 4–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2019.08.004</u>

⁴⁰² Arias, A. M. (2023). Cells, Not DNA, Are The Master Architects Of Life.

https://www.noemamag.com/cells-not-dna-are-the-master-architects-of-life

⁴⁰³ Ding, Y., Hou, K., Burch, K. S., Lapinska, S., Privé, F., Vilhjálmsson, B., Sankararaman, S., & Pasaniuc, B. (2022). Large uncertainty in individual polygenic risk score estimation impacts PRS-based risk stratification. *Nature Genetics*, *54*(1), 30–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-021-00961-5</u>
 ⁴⁰⁴ Mathieson, I. (2021). The omnigenic model and polygenic prediction of complex traits. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *108*(9), 1558–1563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2021.07.003</u>

⁴⁰⁵ Terwilliger, J. D., & Weiss, K. M. (2003). Confounding, ascertainment bias, and the blind quest for a genetic 'fountain of youth'. *Annals of Medicine*, *35*(7), 532–544.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07853890310015181

⁴⁰⁶ Weiss, K. M. (2008). Tilting at quixotic trait loci (QTL): An evolutionary perspective on genetic causation. Genetics, 179(4), 1741–1756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.108.094128</u>

⁴⁰⁷ Wald, N. J., & Old, R. (2019). The illusion of polygenic disease risk prediction. *Genetics in Medicine*, 21(8), 1705–1707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-018-0418-5</u>

⁴⁰⁸ Using Population Descriptors in Genetics and Genomics Research: A New Framework for an Evolving Field. (2023). National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/26902</u>

⁴⁰⁹ Vince, R. A., Jr, Jiang, R., Bank, M., Quarles, J., Patel, M., Sun, Y., Hartman, H., Zaorsky, N. G., Jia, A., Shoag, J., Dess, R. T., Mahal, B. A., Stensland, K., Eyrich, N. W., Seymore, M., Takele, R., Morgan, T. M., Schipper, M., & Spratt, D. E. (2023). Evaluation of Social Determinants of Health and Prostate Cancer Outcomes Among Black and White Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open*, *6*(1), e2250416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.50416</u>. ⁴¹⁰ Saini, A. (2020). *Superior: The Return of Race Science*. <u>https://uk.bookshop.org/books/superior-the-return-of-race-science/9780008293864</u>

⁴¹¹ Fullwiley, D. (2014). The "Contemporary Synthesis": When Politically Inclusive Genomic Science Relies on Biological Notions of Race. *Isis*, *105*(4), 803–814. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/679427</u>

⁴¹² Lewis, A. C. F., Molina, S. J., Appelbaum, P. S., Dauda, B., Di Rienzo, A., Fuentes, A., Fullerton, S. M., Garrison, N. A., Ghosh, N., Hammonds, E. M., Jones, D. S., Kenny, E. E., Kraft, P., Lee, S. S.-J., Mauro, M., Novembre, J., Panofsky, A., Sohail, M., Neale, B. M., & Allen, D. S. (2022). Getting genetic ancestry right for science and society. *Science*, *376*(6590), 250–252. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abm7530

⁴¹³ Rosenberg, N. A., & Kang, J. T. L. (2015). Genetic Diversity and Societally Important Disparities. *Genetics*, 201(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.115.176750</u>

⁴¹⁴ Norton, H. L., Quillen, E. E., Bigham, A. W., Pearson, L. N., & Dunsworth, H. (2019). Human races are not like dog breeds: Refuting a racist analogy. *Evolution: Education and Outreach*, *12*(1), 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12052-019-0109-y</u>

⁴¹⁵ Coop, G. (2019). *Reading tea leaves? Polygenic scores and differences in traits among groups* (arXiv:1909.00892). arXiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1909.00892</u>

⁴¹⁶ Bogin, B., Hermanussen, M., & Scheffler, C. (2018). As tall as my peers – similarity in body height between migrants and hosts. *Anthropologischer Anzeiger*, 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1127/anthranz/2018/0828

⁴¹⁷ Gravlee, C. C. (2009). How race becomes biology: Embodiment of social inequality. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 139(1), 47–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.20983</u>

⁴¹⁸ Rosenberg, N. A., Edge, M. D., Pritchard, J. K., & Feldman, M. W. (2019). Interpreting polygenic scores, polygenic adaptation, and human phenotypic differences. *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health*, 2019(1), 26–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/emph/eoy036</u>

⁴¹⁹ Bailey, Z. D., Krieger, N., Agénor, M., Graves, J., Linos, N., & Bassett, M. T. (2017). Structural racism and health inequities in the USA: Evidence and interventions. *The Lancet*, *389*(10077), 1453–1463. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30569-X</u>

⁴²⁰ Peterson, R. E., Kuchenbaecker, K., Walters, R. K., Chen, C.-Y., Popejoy, A. B., Periyasamy, S., Lam, M., Iyegbe, C., Strawbridge, R. J., Brick, L., Carey, C. E., Martin, A. R., Meyers, J. L., Su, J., Chen, J., Edwards, A. C., Kalungi, A., Koen, N., Majara, L., ... Duncan, L. E. (2019). Genome-wide Association Studies in Ancestrally Diverse Populations: Opportunities, Methods, Pitfalls, and Recommendations. *Cell*, *179*(3), 589–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.08.051

⁴²¹ Soh, Y., Whitmer, R. A., Mayeda, E. R., Glymour, M. M., Peterson, R. L., Eng, C. W.,
 Quesenberry, C. P., Manly, J. J., & Gilsanz, P. (2023). State-Level Indicators of Childhood
 Educational Quality and Incident Dementia in Older Black and White Adults. *JAMA Neurology*, *80*(4), 352–359. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2022.5337

⁴²² Reardon, J., & TallBear, K. (2012). "Your DNA Is Our History": Genomics, Anthropology, and the Construction of Whiteness as Property. *Current Anthropology*, *53*(S5), S233–S245. https://doi.org/10.1086/662629

⁴²³ Lipphardt, V., Surdu, M., Ellebrecht, N., Pfaffelhuber, P., Wienroth, M., & Rappold, G. A. (2021). Europe's Roma people are vulnerable to poor practice in genetics. Nature, 599(7885), 368–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-021-03416-3</u>

⁴²⁴ Begay, R. L., Garrison, N. A., Sage, F., Bauer, M., Knoki-Wilson, U., Begay, D. H., Becenti-Pigman, B., & Claw, K. G. (2020). Weaving the Strands of Life (liná Bitł'ool): History of Genetic Research Involving Navajo People. *Human Biology*, *91*(3), 189–208. https://doi.org/10.13110/humanbiology.91.3.04

⁴²⁵ Reardon, J., & TallBear, K. (2012). "Your DNA Is Our History": Genomics, Anthropology, and the Construction of Whiteness as Property. *Current Anthropology*, *53*(S5), S233–S245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/662629</u>

⁴²⁶ Nembaware, V., Johnston, K., Diallo, A., Kotze, M., Matimba, A., Moodley, K., Tangwa, G., Torrorey, R., & Tiffin, N. (2019). A framework for tiered informed consent for health genomic research in Africa. *Nature Genetics*, 51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-019-0520-x</u>

⁴²⁷ Moodley, K., & Kleinsmidt, A. (2020). Allegations of misuse of African DNA in the UK: Will data protection legislation in South Africa be sufficient to prevent a recurrence? *Developing World Bioethics*, *n*/a(n/a). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dewb.12277</u>

⁴²⁸ Gravlee, C. C. (2009). How race becomes biology: Embodiment of social inequality. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 139(1), 47–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.20983</u>

⁴²⁹ Duster, T. (2015). A post-genomic surprise. The molecular reinscription of race in science, law and medicine. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 66(1), 1–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-4446.12118</u>
 ⁴³⁰ Your Diet Tailored to your Genes: Preventing Diseases or Misleading Marketing? GeneWatch UK. 15th May 2006.

http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/Nutrigenomics.pdf

⁴³¹ Tuchman, A. (2022). Diabetes and race in the USA over the past century. *The Lancet*, 399(10326), 712–713. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00274-4</u>

⁴³² Vince, R. A., Jr, Jiang, R., Bank, M., Quarles, J., Patel, M., Sun, Y., Hartman, H., Zaorsky, N. G., Jia, A., Shoag, J., Dess, R. T., Mahal, B. A., Stensland, K., Eyrich, N. W., Seymore, M., Takele, R., Morgan, T. M., Schipper, M., & Spratt, D. E. (2023). Evaluation of Social Determinants of Health and Prostate Cancer Outcomes Among Black and White Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open*, *6*(1), e2250416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.50416</u>.
⁴³³ Lee, S. S.-J., Fullerton, S. M., McMahon, C. E., Bentz, M., Saperstein, A., Jeske, M., Vasquez, E., Foti, N., Saco, L., & Shim, J. K. (2022). Targeting Representation: Interpreting Calls for Diversity in Precision Medicine Research. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, *95*(3), 317–326.
⁴³⁴ Bigdeli, T. B., Fanous, A. H., Li, Y., Rajeevan, N., Sayward, F., Genovese, G., Gupta, R., Radhakrishnan, K., Malhotra, A. K., Sun, N., Lu, Q., Hu, Y., Li, B., Chen, Q., Mane, S., Miller, P., Cheung, K.-H., Gur, R. E., Greenwood, T. A., ... Harvey, P. D. (2020). Genome-Wide Association

GeneWatch UK September 2023 Studies of Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder in a Diverse Cohort of US Veterans. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 47(2), 517–529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbaa133</u>

⁴³⁵ Fang, H., Hui, Q., Lynch, J., Honerlaw, J., Assimes, T. L., Huang, J., Vujkovic, M., Damrauer, S. M., Pyarajan, S., Gaziano, J. M., DuVall, S. L., O'Donnell, C. J., Cho, K., Chang, K.-M., Wilson, P. W.

F., Tsao, P. S., Gaziano, J. M., Ramoni, R., Breeling, J., ... Tang, H. (2019). Harmonizing Genetic Ancestry and Self-identified Race/Ethnicity in Genome-wide Association Studies. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, *105*(4), 763–772. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2019.08.012</u>

⁴³⁶ Bigdeli, T. B., Voloudakis, G., Barr, P. B., Gorman, B. R., Genovese, G., Peterson, R. E., Burstein, D. E., Velicu, V. I., Li, Y., Gupta, R., Mattheisen, M., Tomasi, S., Rajeevan, N., Sayward, F., Radhakrishnan, K., Natarajan, S., Malhotra, A. K., Shi, Y., Zhao, H., ... Cooperative Studies Program (CSP) #572 and Million Veteran Program (MVP). (2022). Penetrance and Pleiotropy of Polygenic Risk Scores for Schizophrenia, Bipolar Disorder, and Depression Among Adults in the US Veterans Affairs Health Care System. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *79*(11), 1092–1101. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.2742

⁴³⁷ Morgan, C., Cohen, A., Esponda, G. M., Roberts, T., John, S., Pow, J. L., Donald, C., Olley, B., Ayinde, O., Lam, J., Poornachandrika, P., Dazzan, P., Gaughran, F., Kannan, P. P., Sudhakar, S., Burns, J., Chiliza, B., Susser, E., Weiss, H. A., ... INTREPID Group. (2022). Epidemiology of Untreated Psychoses in 3 Diverse Settings in the Global South: The International Research Program on Psychotic Disorders in Diverse Settings (INTREPID II). *JAMA Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2022.3781

⁴³⁸ Shiffman, J., & Shawar, Y. R. (2022). Framing and the formation of global health priorities. *The Lancet*, 399(10339), 1977–1990. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00584-0</u>

⁴³⁹ Gray, M. (2022, July 12). *The future of ageing – learning from the West Bromwich African Caribbean Resource Centre*. The Nuffield Council on Bioethics.

https://www.nuffieldbioethics.org/blog/the-future-of-ageing-learning-from-the-west-bromwich-africancaribbean-resource-centre

⁴⁴⁰ Morris, T. T., Davies, N. M., & Davey Smith, G. (2020). Can education be personalised using pupils' genetic data? *ELife*, *9*, e49962. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.49962</u>

⁴⁴¹ Abdellaoui, A., Verweij, K. J. H., & Nivard, M. G. (2021). Geographic Confounding in Genome-Wide Association Studies. *BioRxiv*, 2021.03.18.435971. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.18.435971</u>

⁴⁴² Muslimova, D., Pereira, R. D., Hinke, S. von, Kippersluis, H. van, Rietveld, C. A., & Meddens, S. F. W. (2022). *Rank concordance of polygenic indices: Implications for personalised intervention and gene-environment interplay* (p. 2022.05.03.490435). bioRxiv.

https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.05.03.490435

⁴⁴³ Burt, C. H. (2022). Challenging the Utility of Polygenic Scores for Social Science: Environmental Confounding, Downward Causation, and Unknown Biology. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X22001145

⁴⁴⁴ Meyer, M. N., Appelbaum, P. S., Benjamin, D. J., Callier, S. L., Comfort, N., Conley, D., Freese, J., Garrison, N. A., Hammonds, E. M., Harden, K. P., Lee, S. S.-J., Martin, A. R., Martschenko, D. O., Neale, B. M., Palmer, R. H. C., Tabery, J., Turkheimer, E., Turley, P., & Parens, E. (2023). Wrestling with Social and Behavioral Genomics: Risks, Potential Benefits, and Ethical Responsibility. *Hastings Center Report*, *53*(S1), S2–S49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.1477</u>

⁴⁴⁵ Burt, C. H. (2022). Challenging the Utility of Polygenic Scores for Social Science: Environmental Confounding, Downward Causation, and Unknown Biology. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X22001145

⁴⁴⁶ Holm, S., & Ploug, T. (2019). Genome studies reveal flaws in broad consent. *Science*, 366(6472), 1460–1461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz3797</u>

⁴⁴⁷ Ganna, A., Verweij, K. J. H., Nivard, M. G., Maier, R., Wedow, R., Busch, A. S., Abdellaoui, A., Guo, S., Sathirapongsasuti, J. F., Team16, 23andMe Research, Lichtenstein, P., Lundström, S., Långström, N., Auton, A., Harris, K. M., Beecham, G. W., Martin, E. R., Sanders, A. R., Perry, J. R. B., ... Zietsch, B. P. (2019). Large-scale GWAS reveals insights into the genetic architecture of same-

B., ... Zletsch, B. P. (2019). Large-scale GWAS reveals insights into the genetic architecture of same sex sexual behavior. *Science*, *365*(6456), eaat7693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat7693</u>

⁴⁴⁸ 1000 Genomes Project: Developing a Research Resource for Studies of Human Genetic Variation. CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE.

https://www.internationalgenome.org/sites/1000genomes.org/files/docs/Informed%20Consent%20For m%20Template.pdf

⁴⁴⁹ Homosexuality: The countries where it is illegal to be gay. BBC News. 12th May 2021. https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-43822234

⁴⁵⁰ Natri, H. (2021). Spectrum 10K and The Questionable Past, Present, and Future of Genetic Autism Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.14973.28642</u>

GeneWatch UK

⁴⁵¹ Huggett, B. (2023, January 25). Autism research at the crossroads. Spectrum | Autism Research News. https://www.spectrumnews.org/features/deep-dive/autism-research-at-the-crossroads/

⁴⁵² Natri, H. (2021). Spectrum 10K and The Questionable Past, Present, and Future of Genetic Autism Research. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.14973.28642

⁴⁵³ Sanderson, K. (2021), High-profile autism genetics project paused amid backlash, *Nature*. 598(7879), 17-18. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-021-02602-7

⁴⁵⁴ Huggett, B. (2023, January 25). Autism research at the crossroads. Spectrum | Autism Research News. https://www.spectrumnews.org/features/deep-dive/autism-research-at-the-crossroads/

⁴⁵⁵ Dattaro, L. (2022, May 27). Spectrum 10K gets green light from ethics agency. Spectrum | Autism Research News. https://www.spectrumnews.org/news/spectrum-10k-gets-green-light-from-ethicsagency/

⁴⁵⁶ Sanderson, K. (2021). High-profile autism genetics project paused amid backlash. Nature, 598(7879), 17-18. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-021-02602-7

⁴⁵⁷ Forzano, F., Antonova, O., Clarke, A., de Wert, G., Hentze, S., Jamshidi, Y., Moreau, Y., Perola, M., Prokopenko, I., Read, A., Reymond, A., Stefansdottir, V., van El, C., & Genuardi, M. (2021). The use of polygenic risk scores in pre-implantation genetic testing: An unproven, unethical practice. European Journal of Human Genetics, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-021-01000-x

⁴⁵⁸ Karavani, E., Zuk, O., Zeevi, D., Barzilai, N., Stefanis, N. C., Hatzimanolis, A., Smyrnis, N., Avramopoulos, D., Kruglyak, L., Atzmon, G., Lam, M., Lencz, T., & Carmi, S. (2019). Screening Human Embryos for Polygenic Traits Has Limited Utility. Cell, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.10.033

⁴⁵⁹ Lencz, T., Sabatello, M., Docherty, A., Peterson, R. E., Soda, T., Austin, J., Bierut, L., Crepaz-Keay, D., Curtis, D., Degenhardt, F., Huckins, L., Lazaro-Munoz, G., Mattheisen, M., Meiser, B., Peay, H., Rietschel, M., Walss-Bass, C., & Davis, L. K. (2022). Concerns about the use of polygenic embryo screening for psychiatric and cognitive traits. The Lancet Psychiatry, 9(10), 838-844. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(22)00157-2

⁴⁶⁰ ACMG. (2021). Direct-to-consumer prenatal testing for multigenic or polygenic disorders: A position statement of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG). Genetics in Medicine, 23(11), 2027-2028. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-021-01247-1

⁴⁶¹ Abu-El-Haija, A., Reddi, H. V., Wand, H., Rose, N. C., Mori, M., Qian, E., & Murray, M. F. (2023). The clinical application of polygenic risk scores: A points to consider statement of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG). Genetics in Medicine, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gim.2023.100803

⁴⁶² Polyakov, A., Amor, D. J., Savulescu, J., Gyngell, C., Georgiou, E. X., Ross, V., Mizrachi, Y., & Rozen, G. (2022). Polygenic risk score for embryo selection-Not ready for prime time. Human Reproduction, 37(10), 2229–2236. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deac159

⁴⁶³ Otlowski, M., Taylor, S., & Bombard, Y. (2012). Genetic Discrimination: International Perspectives. Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics, 13(1), 433–454. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevgenom-090711-163800

⁴⁶⁴ Ala-Korpela, M., & Holmes, M. V. (2020). Polygenic risk scores and the prediction of common diseases. International Journal of Epidemiology, 49(1), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz254 ⁴⁶⁵ Wallace, H. M. (2009). Big Tobacco and the human genome: Driving the scientific bandwagon? Genomics, Society, and Policy, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-5354-5-1-1

⁴⁶⁶ Your Diet Tailored to your Genes: Preventing Diseases or Misleading Marketing? GeneWatch UK. 15th May 2006.

http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/Nutrigenomics.pdf

⁴⁶⁷ GeneWatch UK (2010) History of the Human Genome, GeneWatch UK Briefing, June 2010. ⁴⁶⁸ Gilham I, Rowland, T (2001), Predictive Medicine: Potential benefits from the integration of diagnostics and pharmaceuticals, International Journal of Medical Marketing, 2, 18-22. ⁴⁶⁹ Sykes R (2000) New medicines, the practice of medicine, and public policy. Nuffield Trust, 2000.

Lodon, The Stationary Office.

470 https://www.illumina.com/

⁴⁷¹ Han, A. P. (2022, August 12). Illumina Lowers 2022 Guidance, Braces for Fines from European Commission. Genomeweb. https://www.genomeweb.com/business-news/illumina-lowers-2022guidance-braces-fines-european-commission ⁴⁷² *Microarray Analysis—UK*. (n.d.). Retrieved 7 June 2023, from

https://www.thermofisher.com/uk/en/home/life-science/microarray-analysis.html ⁴⁷³ New supplier contracts awarded. (n.d.). Our Future Health. Retrieved 7 June 2023, from https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/news/new-supplier-contracts-awarded/

⁴⁷⁴ Bycroft, C., Freeman, C., Petkova, D., Band, G., Elliott, L. T., Sharp, K., Motyer, A., Vukcevic, D., Delaneau, O., O'Connell, J., Cortes, A., Welsh, S., Young, A., Effingham, M., McVean, G., Leslie, S., Allen, N., Donnelly, P., & Marchini, J. (2018). The UK Biobank resource with deep phenotyping and genomic data. *Nature*, *562*(7726), 203–209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0579-z</u>
 ⁴⁷⁵ https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/partners/

⁴⁷⁶ https://eu.allelica.com/health-systems

⁴⁷⁷ *Illumina Licenses Allelica Polygenic Risk Score Software*. (2022, April 28). Genomeweb. <u>https://www.genomeweb.com/genetic-research/illumina-licenses-allelica-polygenic-risk-score-</u> software

⁴⁷⁸ Fiziev, P. P., McRae, J., Ulirsch, J. C., Dron, J. S., Hamp, T., Yang, Y., Wainschtein, P., Ni, Z., Schraiber, J. G., Gao, H., Cable, D., Field, Y., Aguet, F., Fasnacht, M., Metwally, A., Rogers, J., Marques-Bonet, T., Rehm, H. L., O'Donnell-Luria, A., ... Farh, K. K.-H. (2023). Rare penetrant mutations confer severe risk of common diseases. *Science*, *380*(6648), eabo1131. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo1131

⁴⁷⁹ *Genomics England and Illumina partner to deliver whole genome....* (2020, January 13). Genomics England. <u>https://www.genomicsengland.co.uk/news/genomics-england-and-illumina-sequence-whole-genomes-for-nhs-gms</u>

genomes-for-nhs-gms ⁴⁸⁰ Henderson, M (2009) Genetic mapping of babies by 2019 will transform preventive medicine. The Times. 9th February, 2009. <u>https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/genetic-mapping-of-babies-by-2019-will-transform-preventive-medicine-d593cr6llpx</u>

⁴⁸¹ GeneWatch UK (2009) Is 'early health' good health? 19th April 2009.

http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/Data_mining_brief_fin_3.d

⁴⁸² History of the proposal for data-sharing without consent. GeneWatch UK. 26th January 2009. <u>http://www.genewatch.org/sub-568491</u>

⁴⁸³ Grylls, G., & Greenwood, G. (2021, August 11). Illumina won £123m deal after David Cameron wrote to Matt Hancock. *The Times*. <u>https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/david-cameron-won-illumina-123m-deal-after-sending-matt-hancock-begging-letter-smf8q7nl3</u>

⁴⁸⁴ Cameron-Chileshe, J. (2021, October). Cameron cleared over unregistered lobbying for US biotech group. *Financial Times*. <u>https://www.ft.com/content/bb406d66-2fc0-44ff-835d-1aff68834db4</u>
 ⁴⁸⁵ King, B. (2021, August 11). David Cameron in row over promoting genetics firm Illumina. BBC News. <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/business-58146567</u>

⁴⁸⁶ Hancock, M. (2019, March 20). *My life may have been saved this week*.

https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/matt-hancock-genomics-dna-cancer-test-my-life-may-have-beensaved-this-week-sxfnbsvmw

⁴⁸⁷ Smyth, C. (2019, January 26). *Gene test for sale on NHS*. <u>https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/gene-test-for-sale-on-nhs-rkln85wfp</u>

⁴⁸⁸ Gabbatiss, J. (2019, March 21). *Matt Hancock slammed for 'astonishing ignorance' after revealing genetic test results*. The Independent. <u>https://www.independent.co.uk/news/health/matt-hancock-genetic-test-prostate-cancer-nhs-genomics-a8832081.html</u>

⁴⁸⁹ Sud, A., Horton, R. H., Hingorani, A. D., Tzoulaki, I., Turnbull, C., Houlston, R. S., & Lucassen, A. (2023). Realistic expectations are key to realising the benefits of polygenic scores. *BMJ*, *380*, e073149. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-073149

⁴⁹⁰ Partnerships. (n.d.). Public Policy Projects. Retrieved 6 October 2022, from <u>https://publicpolicyprojects.com/partnerships/</u>

⁴⁹¹ Public Policy Projects. (2021). UK Genomics: Genomics Revolution.

https://publicpolicyprojects.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2021/10/PPP-Genomics-Revolution-Report-FINAL.pdf

⁴⁹² Truong K (2019) 23andMe launches new diabetes risk test, but experts are wary of its benefit. 11th March 2019. <u>https://medcitynews.com/2019/03/23andme-launches-new-diabetes-risk-test-but-experts-are-wary-of-its-benefit/</u>

493 https://medical.23andme.com/dna-kits/#simple-process

⁴⁹⁴ All Those 23andMe Spit Tests Were Part of a Bigger Plan. Bloomberg Business Week. 4th November 2021. <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/features/2021-11-04/23andme-to-use-dna-tests-to-make-cancer-drugs</u>

⁴⁹⁵ Lex. (2023, August 22). 23andMe: DNA testing kit company needs drug discovery. https://www.ft.com/content/eeb86ea6-8398-4381-9534-f6778751dd6a

⁴⁹⁶ Assis, C. (2023). 23andMe stock jumps more than 12% on raised 2023 guidance. MarketWatch. Retrieved 9 March 2023, from <u>https://www.marketwatch.com/story/23andme-stock-jumps-more-than-12-on-raised-2023-guidance-01675893039</u> ⁴⁹⁷ 23andMe intertwines with Branson's Virgin Group to go public in \$3.5B SPAC deal. Fierce Biotech. 4th February 2021. <u>https://www.fiercebiotech.com/medtech/23andme-intertwines-branson-s-virgin-group-to-go-public-3-5b-spac-deal</u>

⁴⁹⁸ Why Richard Branson gave 23andMe billions to go public. Business of Business, 2021.
 <u>https://www.businessofbusiness.com/articles/23andme-dna-testing-richard-branson-merger/</u>
 ⁴⁹⁹ Karow, J. (2019, February 4). *Clinical Utility of Polygenic Risk Scores Questioned in Commentary*.
 GenomeWeb. <u>https://www.genomeweb.com/molecular-diagnostics/clinical-utility-polygenic-risk-scores-questioned-commentary</u>

⁵⁰⁰ Ray, F. (2023, March 16). *Australia's Genetic Technologies Seeks Private Payor Coverage to Bring Polygenic Risk Tests to US*. GenomeWeb. <u>https://www.genomeweb.com/business-</u> news/australias-genetic-technologies-seeks-private-payor-coverage-bring-polygenic-risk

⁵⁰¹ Ray, F. (2023, March 16). *Australia's Genetic Technologies Seeks Private Payor Coverage to Bring Polygenic Risk Tests to US*. GenomeWeb. <u>https://www.genomeweb.com/business-</u> news/australias-genetic-technologies-seeks-private-payor-coverage-bring-polygenic-risk

⁵⁰² Brockman, D. G., Petronio, L., Dron, J. S., Kwon, B. C., Vosburg, T., Nip, L., Tang, A., O'Reilly, M., Lennon, N., Wong, B., Ng, K., Huang, K. H., Fahed, A. C., & Khera, A. V. (2021). Design and user experience testing of a polygenic score report: A qualitative study of prospective users. *BMC Medical Genomics*, *14*, 238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12920-021-01056-0</u>

⁵⁰³ Kütt, A. (2021, November 23). *Estonian HealthTech Antegenes raises 500,000 euros and takes genetic tests for cancer prevention to the UK market*. Invest in Estonia.

https://investinestonia.com/estonian-healthtech-antegenes-raises-500000-euros-and-takes-genetictests-for-cancer-prevention-to-the-uk-market/

⁵⁰⁴ *Find a test.* (n.d.). Everything Genetic Ltd. Retrieved 20 April 2023, from https://everythinggeneticltd.co.uk/our-tests/for-individuals/find-a-test/

⁵⁰⁵ https://genomics.ut.ee/en/content/estonian-biobank

⁵⁰⁶ Fang, H., Chen, L., & Knight, J. C. (2020). From genome-wide association studies to rational drug target prioritisation in inflammatory arthritis. *The Lancet Rheumatology*, 2(1), e50–e62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2665-9913(19)30134-1

⁵⁰⁷ Fahed, A. C., Philippakis, A. A., & Khera, A. V. (2022). The potential of polygenic scores to improve cost and efficiency of clinical trials. *Nature Communications*, *13*, 2922. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-30675-z

⁵⁰⁸ Kovanda, A., Zimani, A. N., & Peterlin, B. (2021). How to design a national genomic project-a systematic review of active projects. *Human Genomics*, *15*(1), 20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40246-021-00315-6</u>

⁵⁰⁹ Mills, M. C., & Rahal, C. (2019). A scientometric review of genome-wide association studies. *Communications Biology*, 2(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-018-0261-x</u>

⁵¹⁰ Lu, X., Liu, Z., Cui, Q., Liu, F., Li, J., Niu, X., Shen, C., Hu, D., Huang, K., Chen, J., Xing, X., Zhao, Y., Lu, F., Liu, X., Cao, J., Chen, S., Ma, H., Yu, L., Wu, X., ... Gu, D. (2022). A polygenic risk score improves risk stratification of coronary artery disease: A large-scale prospective Chinese cohort study. *European Heart Journal*, *43*(18), 1702–1711. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehac093</u>

⁵¹¹ Groenendyk, J. W., Greenland, P., & Khan, S. S. (2022). Incremental Value of Polygenic Risk Scores in Primary Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease: A Review. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.3171</u>

⁵¹² Zhou, W., Kanai, M., Wu, K.-H. H., Rasheed, H., Tsuo, K., Hirbo, J. B., Wang, Y., Bhattacharya, A., Zhao, H., Namba, S., Surakka, I., Wolford, B. N., Faro, V. L., Lopera-Maya, E. A., Läll, K., Favé, M.-J., Partanen, J. J., Chapman, S. B., Karjalainen, J., ... Neale, B. M. (2022). Global Biobank Metaanalysis Initiative: Powering genetic discovery across human disease. *Cell Genomics*, *2*(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2022.100192</u>

⁵¹³ Genomic Medicine Policy—Genomic Medicine Implementation Initiatives. (n.d.). Genomic Medicine Policy. Retrieved 6 October 2022, from <u>https://www.genomicspolicy.org/catalogue-introduction</u>

⁵¹⁴ About – H3Africa. (n.d.). Retrieved 6 October 2022, from <u>https://h3africa.org/index.php/about/</u>
 ⁵¹⁵ Seydel, C. (2022). Baby's first genome. *Nature Biotechnology*, 40(5), 636–640.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-022-01306-1</u>

⁵¹⁶ Marjonen, H., Marttila, M., Paajanen, T., Vornanen, M., Brunfeldt, M., Joensuu, A., Halmesvaara, O., Aro, K., Alanne-Kinnunen, M., Jousilahti, P., Borodulin, K., Koskinen, S., Tuomi, T., Ilanne-Parikka, P., Lindström, J., Laine, M. K., Auro, K., Kääriäinen, H., Perola, M., & Kristiansson, K. (2021). A Web Portal for Communicating Polygenic Risk Score Results for Health Care Use—The P5 Study. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *12*. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fgene.2021.763159</u>

⁵¹⁷ *About eMerge*. (n.d.). Retrieved 16 November 2022, from <u>https://emerge-network.org/about-emerge/</u>

⁵¹⁸ *Published PRS from eMERGE*. (n.d.). Retrieved 16 November 2022, from <u>https://emerge-network.org/published-prs-from-emerge-iv/</u>

⁵¹⁹ Linder, J. E., Allworth, A., Bland, S. T., Caraballo, P. J., Chisholm, R. L., Clayton, E. W., Crosslin, D. R., Dikilitas, O., DiVietro, A., Esplin, E. D., Forman, S., Freimuth, R. R., Gordon, A. S., Green, R., Harden, M. V., Holm, I. A., Jarvik, G. P., Karlson, E. W., Labrecque, S., ... Peterson, J. F. (2023). Returning integrated genomic risk and clinical recommendations: The eMERGE study. Genetics in Medicine, 0(0). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gim.2023.100006</u>

520 https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/

⁵²¹ UK's largest health research programme to open 14 new locations in June. (2023, June 2). Our Future Health. <u>https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/news/uks-largest-health-research-programme-to-open-14-new-locations-in-june/</u>

⁵²² About us – Our Future Health. (n.d.). Retrieved 14 September 2022, from https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/about-us/#htoc-our-funding

⁵²³ Our Future Health Study Protocol Version 3.2. 22nd April 2021. <u>https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Our-Future-Health-protocol-for-website-2022.pdf</u>

⁵²⁴ Ormondroyd, E., Border, P., Hayward, J., & Papanikitas, A. (2021). Genomic health data generation in the UK: A 360 view. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-021-00976-w

⁵²⁵ How Our Future Health will revolutionise the way we deal with heart disease. (2023, June 15). Our Future Health. <u>https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/news/how-our-future-health-will-revolutionise-the-way-we-deal-with-heart-disease/</u>

⁵²⁶ <u>https://www.genomicsplc.com/</u>

⁵²⁷ Genomics plc to generate polygenic risk scores for Our Future Health – Our Future Health. (2022, October 10). Our Future Health. <u>https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/genomics-plc-to-generate-polygenic-risk-scores-for-our-future-health/</u>

⁵²⁸ Genomics plc analysis demonstrates potential for genomic data to identify those at risk for 16 common diseases. <u>https://www.genomicsplc.com/news/genomics-plc-analysis-demonstrates-potential-for-genomic-data-to-identify-those-most-at-risk-for-16-common-diseases/</u>

⁵²⁹ Bell, J. (1998). The new genetics in clinical practice. *BMJ*, **316**(7131), 618–620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.316.7131.618</u>

⁵³⁰ https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/12212468/officers

⁵³¹ https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/12599493/officers

⁵³² https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/08493132/officers

⁵³³ <u>https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/09093331/officers</u>

⁵³⁴ Genomics plc completes oversubscribed \$30m funding round. (2021, March 1). Genomics Plc.
 <u>https://www.genomicsplc.com/news/genomics-plc-completes-oversubscribed-30m-funding-round/</u>
 ⁵³⁵ https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/partners/

 ⁵³⁶ Petrone, J. (2022, March 17). UK Researchers Aim to Discern New Polygenic Risk Scores from 5 Million Genotypes. GenomeWeb. <u>https://www.genomeweb.com/microarrays-multiplexing/uk-researchers-aim-discern-new-polygenic-risk-scores-5-million-genotypes</u>
 ⁵³⁷ <u>https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/partners/</u>

⁵³⁸ Evans, R., Lawrence, F., & Pegg, D. (2022, February 4). Owen Paterson's Randox lobbying texts to Matt Hancock released. *The Guardian*. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2022/feb/04/owen-patersons-randox-lobbying-texts-to-matt-hancock-released</u>

⁵³⁹ Eisenstadt, L. (2018, August 27). *In depth: Polygenic risk scoring*. Broad Institute. <u>https://www.broadinstitute.org/news/depth-polygenic-risk-scoring</u>

⁵⁴⁰ Lewis, A. C. F., Perez, E. F., Prince, A. E. R., Flaxman, H. R., Gomez, L., Brockman, D. G., Chandler, P. D., Kerman, B. J., Lebo, M. S., Smoller, J. W., Weiss, S. T., Blout Zawatksy, C. L., Meigs, J. B., Green, R. C., Vassy, J. L., & Karlson, E. W. (2022). Patient and provider perspectives on polygenic risk scores: Implications for clinical reporting and utilization. *Genome Medicine*, *14*(1), 114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-022-01117-8</u>

⁵⁴¹ Our Future Health Study Protocol Version 3.2. 22nd April 2021. <u>https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Our-Future-Health-protocol-for-website-2022.pdf</u>

⁵⁴² JPM 2022: PacBio lets Google peek under the hood to help boost its long-read DNA sequencing accuracy. Fierce Biotech. 13th January 2022. <u>https://www.fiercebiotech.com/medtech/jpm-2022-pacbio-taps-google-to-boost-long-read-dna-sequencing-accuracy</u>

⁵⁴³ Ungoed-Thomas, J. (2022, November 13). Controversial £360m NHS England data platform 'lined up' for Trump backer's firm. *The Observer*.

GeneWatch UK

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2022/nov/13/controversial-360m-nhs-england-data-platformlined-up-for-trump-backers-firm

⁵⁴⁴ Lucas, A. (n.d.). *NHS ordered to share patient data with US 'spy-tech' firm*. OpenDemocracy. Retrieved 21 March 2023, from <u>https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/palantir-peter-thiel-nhs-england-foundry-faster-data-flows/</u>

⁵⁴⁵ Grealey, J., Lannelongue, L., Saw, W.-Y., Marten, J., Méric, G., Ruiz-Carmona, S., & Inouye, M. (2022). The Carbon Footprint of Bioinformatics. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *39*(3), msac034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msac034</u>

⁵⁴⁶ Samuel, G., & Lucassen, A. M. (2022). The environmental sustainability of data-driven health research: A scoping review. *Digital Health*, 8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20552076221111297</u>

⁵⁴⁷ Segal, J. B., Sen, A. P., Glanzberg-Krainin, E., & Hutfless, S. (2022). Factors Associated With Overuse of Health Care Within US Health Systems: A Cross-sectional Analysis of Medicare Beneficiaries From 2016 to 2018. JAMA Health Forum, 3(1), e214543.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.4543

⁵⁴⁸ New guidelines for genetic tests are welcome but insufficient [Editorial]. *The Lancet*, **376** (9740), 488, 14 August 2010.

⁵⁴⁹ European Society for Human Genetics (2010) Statement of the ESHG on direct-to-consumer genetic testing for health-related purposes. European Journal of Human Genetics (2010), 1–3. https://www.eshg.org/fileadmin/www.eshg.org/documents/PPPC/2010-ejhg2010129a.pdf

⁵⁵⁰ Hogarth, S., Barton, D., & Melzer, D. (2010). The European IVD Directive and Genetic Testing. In U. Kristoffersson, J. Schmidtke, & J. J. Cassiman (Eds.), *Quality Issues in Clinical Genetic Services* (pp. 49–62). Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3919-4_6</u>
 ⁵⁵¹ GeneWatch UK Briefing: The EU's In Vitro Diagnostics (IVD) Regulation: a summary of the

⁵⁵¹ GeneWatch UK Briefing: The EU's In Vitro Diagnostics (IVD) Regulation: a summary of the regulatory requirements for software and genetic tests. 19th December 2017.

http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/IVDReg_GWbrief_fin.pdf ⁵⁵² Waters, R (2010) Personal gene-testing companies need US clearance, FDA says. *Bloomberg*, 14th May 2010. <u>http://www.businessweek.com/news/2010-05-14/personal-gene-testing-companiesneed-u-s-clearance-fda-says.html</u>

⁵⁵³ Truong K (2019) 23andMe launches new diabetes risk test, but experts are wary of its benefit. 11th March 2019. <u>https://medcitynews.com/2019/03/23andme-launches-new-diabetes-risk-test-but-experts-are-wary-of-its-benefit/</u>

 ⁵⁵⁴ FDA (2019) General Wellness: Policy for Low Risk Devices. Guidance for Industry and Food and Drug Administration Staff. September 2019. <u>https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/general-wellness-policy-low-risk-devices</u>
 ⁵⁵⁵ Simon, D. A., Shachar, C., & Cohen, I. G. (2022). At-home Diagnostics and Diagnostic Excellence:

⁵⁵⁵ Simon, D. A., Shachar, C., & Cohen, I. G. (2022). At-home Diagnostics and Diagnostic Excellence: Devices vs General Wellness Products. *JAMA*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.0047</u>

⁵⁵⁶ Sherkow, J. S., Park, J. K., & Lu, C. Y. (2023). Regulating Direct-to-Consumer Polygenic Risk Scores. *JAMA*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2023.12262</u>

⁵⁵⁷ Robinson, S. A., Carter, A. R., & Brindley, D. A. (2021, August 30). The changing regulatory landscape for laboratory developed tests. *Rugulatory Focus*. <u>https://www.raps.org/news-and-articles/2021/8/the-changing-regulatory-landscape-for-laboratory-d</u>

⁵⁵⁸ Janssens ACJW, Gwinn M, Bradley LA, Oostra BA, van Duijn CM, Khoury MJ (2008) A Critical Appraisal of the Scientific Basis of Commercial Genomic Profiles Used to Assess Health Risks and Personalize Health Interventions. The American Journal of Human Genetics **82**, 593–599. http://www.ajhg.org/AJHG/fulltext/S0002-9297(08)00145-6.

⁵⁵⁹ Horton, R., Crawford, G., Freeman, L., Fenwick, A., Wright, C. F., & Lucassen, A. (2019). Direct-toconsumer genetic testing. *BMJ*, *367*, I5688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.I5688</u>

⁵⁶⁰ House of Commons Science and Technology Committee (2021) Direct-to-consumer genomic testing. First Report of Session 2021–22. HC 94. 22 June 2021.

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6347/documents/69832/default/

⁵⁶¹ Royal College of Physicians and British Society for Genetic Medicine (2019) Position Statement on Direct to Consumer Genomic Testing. October 2019. <u>https://www.rcgp.org.uk/policy/rcgp-policy-areas/genomic-position-statement.aspx</u>

⁵⁶² Fiziev, P. P., McRae, J., Ulirsch, J. C., Dron, J. S., Hamp, T., Yang, Y., Wainschtein, P., Ni, Z., Schraiber, J. G., Gao, H., Cable, D., Field, Y., Aguet, F., Fasnacht, M., Metwally, A., Rogers, J., Marques-Bonet, T., Rehm, H. L., O'Donnell-Luria, A., ... Farh, K. K.-H. (2023). Rare penetrant mutations confer severe risk of common diseases. *Science*, *380*(6648), eabo1131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo1131</u> ⁵⁶³ Plana, D., Shung, D. L., Grimshaw, A. A., Saraf, A., Sung, J. J. Y., & Kann, B. H. (2022).
 Randomized Clinical Trials of Machine Learning Interventions in Health Care: A Systematic Review.
 JAMA Network Open, *5*(9), e2233946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.33946</u>
 ⁵⁶⁴ Abu-El-Haija, A., Reddi, H. V., Wand, H., Rose, N. C., Mori, M., Qian, E., & Murray, M. F. (2023).
 The clinical application of polygenic risk scores: A points to consider statement of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG). *Genetics in Medicine*, *0*(0).
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gim.2023.100803</u>

⁵⁶⁵ Bolli, A., Domenico, P. D., & Bottà, G. (2019). Software as a Service for the Genomic Prediction of Complex Diseases (p. 763722). bioRxiv. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/763722</u>

⁵⁶⁶ Ray, F. (2023, March 16). *Australia's Genetic Technologies Seeks Private Payor Coverage to Bring Polygenic Risk Tests to US.* GenomeWeb. <u>https://www.genomeweb.com/business-news/australias-genetic-technologies-seeks-private-payor-coverage-bring-polygenic-risk</u>

⁵⁶⁷ Jarvik, G. P., Amendola, L. M., Berg, J. S., Brothers, K., Clayton, E. W., Chung, W., Evans, B. J., Evans, J. P., Fullerton, S. M., Gallego, C. J., Garrison, N. A., Gray, S. W., Holm, I. A., Kullo, I. J., Lehmann, L. S., McCarty, C., Prows, C. A., Rehm, H. L., Sharp, R. R., ... Burke, W. (2014). Return of Genomic Results to Research Participants: The Floor, the Ceiling, and the Choices In Between. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, *94*(6), 818–826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.04.009
 ⁵⁶⁸ Thorogood, A., Dalpé, G., & Knoppers, B. M. (2019). Return of individual genomic research

results: Are laws and policies keeping step? *European Journal of Human Genetics: EJHG*, 27(4), 535–546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-018-0311-3</u>

⁵⁶⁹ Attia, A., Rowe, I. A., Harrison, E. M., Gordon-Walker, T., & Stutchfield, B. M. (2023). Implausible algorithm output in UK liver transplantation allocation scheme: Importance of transparency. *The Lancet*, *401*(10380), 911–912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00114-9</u>

⁵⁷⁰ Flint, S. W. (2023). Error in NHS England's BMI calculator and daily calorie recommendations. *The Lancet*, *401*(10380), 913–914. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00347-1</u>

⁵⁷¹ Romero D (2009) DNA: the new dotcom? US News. 17th March 2009.

⁵⁷² Sulston J (2008) Oral Evidence. 2nd July 2008. Genomic Medicine. Volume II. Evidence. House of Lords Science and Technology Committee 2nd Report of Session 2008–09. <u>https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200809/ldselect/ldsctech/107/107ii.pdf</u>

⁵⁷³ Henderson, M (2009) Genetic mapping of babies by 2019 will transform preventive medicine. The Times. 9th February, 2009. <u>https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/genetic-mapping-of-babies-by-2019-will-transform-preventive-medicine-d593cr6llpx</u>

⁵⁷⁴ Smyth, J., & Sevastopulo, D. (2023, April 18). Chinese genetics company targets US despite political tensions. *Financial Times*. <u>https://www.ft.com/content/cc905012-f264-4e87-8171-8e7e243c5d51</u>

⁵⁷⁵ Roberts, C. (2022, January 14). *The Privacy Problems of Direct-to-Consumer Genetic Testing*. Consumer Reports. <u>https://www.consumerreports.org/dna-test-kits/privacy-and-direct-to-consumer-genetic-testing-dna-test-kits-a1187212155/</u>

⁵⁷⁶ Gregory, A., & editor, A. G. H. (2022, May 11). Hundreds of organisations breached patient data rules, reveals BMJ. *The Guardian*. <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2022/may/11/hundreds-of-organisations-breached-patient-data-rules-reveals-bmj</u>

⁵⁷⁷ O'Neill, PH (2021) The US is worried that hackers are stealing data today so quantum computers can crack it in a decade. MIT Technology Review. 3 November 2021.

https://www.technologyreview.com/2021/11/03/1039171/hackers-quantum-computers-us-homeland-security-cryptography/

⁵⁷⁸ Tidy, J., & Gerken, T. (2022, August 11). NHS IT supplier held to ransom by hackers. *BBC News*. <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-62506039</u>

⁵⁷⁹ Loukides, G., Denny, J. C., & Malin, B. (2010). The disclosure of diagnosis codes can breach research participants' privacy. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, 17(3), 322–327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jamia.2009.002725</u>

⁵⁸⁰ Erlich, Y., Shor, T., Pe'er, I., & Carmi, S. (2018). Identity inference of genomic data using long-range familial searches. *Science*, *362*(6415), 690–694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau4832</u>
 ⁵⁸¹ Gymrek, M., McGuire, A. L., Golan, D., Halperin, E., & Erlich, Y. (2013). Identifying personal genomes by surname inference. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *339*(6117), 321–324.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1229566

⁵⁸² King, T. E., & Jobling, M. A. (2009). Founders, Drift, and Infidelity: The Relationship between Y Chromosome Diversity and Patrilineal Surnames. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *26*(5), 1093–1102. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msp022 ⁵⁸³ Shi, C.-M., Li, C., Ma, L., Chi, L., Zhao, J., Yuan, W., Zhou, Z., Yan, J.-W., & Chen, H. (2018). Inferring Chinese surnames with Y-STR profiles. *Forensic Science International: Genetics*, 33, 66–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsigen.2017.11.014</u>

⁵⁸⁴ Kaye, J. (2006). Police Collection and Access to DNA Samples. *Genomics, Society and Policy*, 2, 16–27. <u>https://www.lancaster.ac.uk/fss/journals/gsp/vol2no1/kayeabstract.htm</u>

⁵⁸⁵ Dranseika, V., Piasecki, J., & Waligora, M. (2016). Forensic uses of research biobanks: Should donors be informed? *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy*, *19*, 141–146. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-015-9667-0

⁵⁸⁶ Needham, K., & Baldwin, C. (2021). China's gene giant harvests data from millions of pregnant women. *Reuters*. 7 July 2021, from <u>https://www.reuters.com/investigates/special-report/health-china-bgi-dna/</u>

⁵⁸⁷ Smyth, J., & Sevastopulo, D. (2023, April 18). Chinese genetics company targets US despite political tensions. *Financial Times*. <u>https://www.ft.com/content/cc905012-f264-4e87-8171-8e7e243c5d51</u>

⁵⁸⁸ Moreau, Y., & Wang, M. (2021). Risks of genomic surveillance and how to stop it. *Science*, *371*(6529), 568–569.

⁵⁸⁹ GeneWatch UK (2011): DNA databases and human rights. GeneWatch UK briefing. 12th January 2011. Available on: <u>https://dnapolicyinitiative.org/resources/dna-databases-and-human-rights/</u> or to download from:

http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/infopack_fin.pdf

⁵⁹⁰ GeneWatch International (2020): Proposals to include DNA in national biometric identification schemes: human rights implications (July 2020). GeneWatch International briefing. 30th July 2020. Available from:

http://www.genewatch.org/uploads/f03c6d66a9b354535738483c1c3d49e4/dna-and-biometrics-fin.pdf ⁵⁹¹ https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/

⁵⁹² Our Future Health Study Protocol Version 3.2. 22nd April 2021. <u>https://ourfuturehealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Our-Future-Health-protocol-for-website-2022.pdf</u>

⁵⁹³ Seydel, C. (2022). Baby's first genome. *Nature Biotechnology*, *40*(5), 636–640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-022-01306-1</u>

⁵⁹⁴ Lancet, T. (2023). Genomic newborn screening: Current concerns and challenges. *The Lancet*, 402(10398), 265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)01513-1</u>

⁵⁹⁵ Ungoed-Thomas, J. (2022, November 13). Controversial £360m NHS England data platform 'lined up' for Trump backer's firm. *The Observer*.

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2022/nov/13/controversial-360m-nhs-england-data-platformlined-up-for-trump-backers-firm

⁵⁹⁶ Lucas, A. (n.d.). *NHS ordered to share patient data with US 'spy-tech' firm*. OpenDemocracy. Retrieved 21 March 2023, from <u>https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/palantir-peter-thiel-nhs-england-foundry-faster-data-flows/</u>

⁵⁹⁷ Wetzling, T., & Dietrich, C. (2022, November 16). Disproportionate use of commercially and publicly available data: Europe's next frontier for intelligence reform? <u>https://www.stiftung-nv.de/de/publikation/disproportionate-use-commercially-and-publicly-available-data</u>

⁵⁹⁸ NHS England Unveils Five-Year Genomic Healthcare Strategy. (2022, October 14). GenomeWeb. https://www.genomeweb.com/sequencing/nhs-england-unveils-five-year-genomic-healthcare-strategy

⁵⁹⁹ Pearce, N. (1996). Traditional epidemiology, modern epidemiology, and public health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *86*(5), 678–683.